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BOC GASES LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directors present the strategic report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Review of the company's business, principal activities and future developments

The company is a member of the Linde plc group and its ultimate parent company is Linde plc.

The company's principal activity has been throughout the current and preceding year an investment helding
company for the Linde plc group. It is envisaged that this will continue to be the principal activity of the company
far the foreseeable future.

Performance of the company's business during the financial year

The results for the year are centained in the accompanying profit and loss account on page 9 which shows a
loss for the financial year of £ 1.148.000 (2021: profit £ 124 000 ).

Net interest payable for the year was £13.000 (2021, receivable £124 .000).

Key performance indicators

The company is an investment holding company. ls income is derived from dividends recewved from its
subsidiaries and interest receivable. The directors refer to the company's level of income, its operating and
retained profits. the value of its investments and net and current asset values in evaluating the company's
performance.

Position of the company’s business at the year ended 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2022 the company held net current liabilities of £ 388.000 (2021: £ 815.000) and net assets
of £ 28,892,000 (2021 £ 30 040,000).

Objectives and strategies

The company’s primary objective and strategy is to continue as a holding company for investments in entities
that form part of the Linde plc group.

Markets

BOC Gases Limited is part of the Linde plc group. a glebal arganisation. The company's investments are held in
three jurisdictions. as provided by nete 13 to these financial statements.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Risks and uncertainties

Tha prnncipal ask and uncertainty facong the company includes but s nat limited to investment risk. As 3
Polding company BOC Gases Limidad 15 exposed to the risk of imparrment through poor performing
subsidianes  Imparment reviews are carned out to effectively manage and mitigate this nisk.

Going Concern

The principal achvity of the company s that of an investment helding company whereby income 1s derived from
interest receivable and dividends from group undertakings and tnese potential income sources are expected to
continue for the foreseeable future.

The financial statements have been prepared on the gong corcern basis which the directors believe 1o be
appropriate for the following reasons. The company 1s dependent for its working capital on funds provided to it
by the company’'s ulimate underdaking. Linde Plc. Linde Plc. has agreed that 1t will provide loan finance or
procure that satisfactory alternative funding 15 made available to the company over the next 12 months_ from the
date of approval of the company's financial statements made up to 31 December 2022 to the extent that the
company is able to operate as a going concern and settle its hahilities as they fall due.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial support the directors acknowledge
that there can be no ceftainty that this support will continue although. at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so.

Ceonsequently. the directors have reasonable expectations that tne company will have sufficient funds to
continue to meet its hadilites as they fadl due over the next 12 months from the date of approval of the
company's financial statements made up to 31 December 2022 and therefore. have prepared the financial
statements on a going concarn basis.

The directors acknowledge the current conflict in Ukraine and #s potentiat impact to the economy and r2gions in
which the company operates. Whilst the company wilt continue to monitor th's risk. at the date of these financial
statements there 1s no adverse matenal impact on the company s activites and the financial positton of the
company remains positive.

This report was approved by the board of directars on 11 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by -

DocuSigned by:
[Saui? il iams
A Wiiams "
Director
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BOC GASES LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Directors

The directors who held office during and after the year under review were’

J M Bland (alternate director to $ A Wilhams)

C J Cossins

B Patterson

S A Williams

The directors are not subject to retirement by rotation.

Dividends

No mtenm dividends were paid on the company's £1 ordinary shares during the year (2021. £nil) and the
directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 £nil).

Political contributions

The company made no pelitical donations and did not incur any political expenditure during the year.
Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the company include but are not limited to

{a) interest rate nisk - all loans are with subsidiaries of the Linde plc group. As such interest rates are set and
managed within the Linde plc group, and

b) Investment risk - as a halding company, BOC Gases Limited is exposed o the nsk of impairment through
poor performing subsidiaries. Impairment reviews are carried out to effectively manage and mitigate this risk.

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The company indemnifies the directors to the extent ailowed under section 234 of the Companies Act 2006.
Such qualifying indemnity third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of the company's directors remain in
force at the date of this report.

Disclosure of information to auditors

The directors holding office at the date of approval of this directors report confirm that. so far as they are aware.
there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are unaware and each director has taken
all steps that ought to have been taken as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors

Pursuant 1o section 487 of the Companies Act 2006. the auditors will be deemed to be re-appointed and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore continue in office.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

This report was approvad by the board of diractors on 11 September 2023 and signed on 115 penalf by -

OccuSigned by.
[Sw, blly

B LLAYGE AF- - Afa
S K Kelly
secreiary

Forge

43 Church Street West
Woking

Surray

GU21 8HT

England
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BOC GASES LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES iN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT,
DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report. directors’ report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors ta prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the campany and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period. In preparing these financial statements. the directors are required to

« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

* state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards. comprising FRS 101 have been followed.
subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the financial stalements,

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent, and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inapproprate to presume that the
cempany will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safequarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of BOC Gases Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, BOC Gases Limited's financial statements:

s give a frue and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its loss for the year then
ended;

s+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdem Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 *Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

+« have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual Report”),
which comprise: the balance sheet as at 31 December 2022; the profit and loss account and the statement of changes in
equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (*ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 18As (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a gotng concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises ail of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon The directors are responsible for the other information. Cur opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. if we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstaternent of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to repert that fact. We have nothing to report based
an these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and the Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic report and the Directors’ report

in our apinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and the
Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did
not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and the Directors' report

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained mare fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in Respect of the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report
and the Financial Statements, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with
the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liguidate the company or to cease operations, cr have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from rmaterial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individ ually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Irregularities, inciuding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with

our responsibilities, autlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent
to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.
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Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and reguiations refated to Companies Act 2006 and tax legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financial statements. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements {including the risk of override of gontrols), and determined that the principal
risks were related to the manipulation of financial reporting through the posting of journals. Audit procedures performed by
the engagement team included:

+ Engquiring of management and those charged with governance around actual or potential litigations, claims, instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations;

+ identfying and testing journal entries using a risk-based targeted approach:

e Reading minutes of board of director meetings and internal audit committee meetings: and

+ Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation

There are inherent imitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of Instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also. the nisk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting cne
resuiting from error. as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example. forgery or intenticnal misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is lecated on the FRC's website at:
www frcorg.uk/auditorsresponsibilities  This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this repoart

This repert, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpcse. We do not. in giving these opinicns, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report ts shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

« we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneraticn specified by law are not made; or

¢ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions te report arising from this responsibility.

Yeckoron G

Victona Cee (Senicr Statutery Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhcuseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutery Auditors
Watford

11 September 2023
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BOC GASES LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Amaunts written off investments (1,576) -
Interest receivable and similar income 5 441 125
Interest payable and similar expenses 5 (13} {1}
(Loss)/profit before taxation {(1,148) 124
Tax on (loss)/profit 8 - -
(Loss)iprofit for the financial year (1,148) 124

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
All of the above relates to continuing operations.

The company has no other comprehensive income in the year cther than that included in the profit and foss
account above and therefore no separate statement of other comprehensive income has been prepared.
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BOC GASES LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 025886929

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note
Fixed assets
Investmrents 7
Current assets
Debtors amounts falling duz within one year 8
Creditors amounts failing due within one year 9
Net current liabilities
Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 10

Profit and loss account

Total equity

The accompany:ng notes form an integral part of the financial stataments.

2022 2021
£000 £600
29,280 30,856
29,280 3U 856
1,588 1184
1,588 1184
(1,976) (2 000,
(388) (816)
28,892 30.040
1 1
28,891 30 039
28,892 30 040

The financizl sta‘ements were approved by the board of directors on 11 September 2323 and were signad on its

behalf by -

DocuSigrned by
l SAU»{ (Dl iams
JA36C%5150DBE4EF
S A Williams
Director




. Decusign Envaloge ID BEG2425C0-833F-407C-AAED-550513E2F2EB

BOC GASES LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Calied up Profit and

share capital loss account Total equity

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2022 1 30,039 30,040
Loss for the year - {1,148} (1,148)
Total comprehensive expense for the year - {1,148} (1,148)
Balance at 31 December 2022 1 28,891 28,892

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
Called up Profit and

share capital loss account Total equity

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2021 1 29,915 29,916
Profit for the year - 124 124
Total comprehensive income for the year - 124 124
Balance at 31 December 2021 1 30,039 30,040

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies

BOC Gases Limited 1s a private company limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in
England in the UK, registered number 02586929 and with its registered address at Forge, 43 Church
Street West Woking, Surrey, GU21 8HT. England.

The company is exempt by virtue of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present informaticn about the company as an
individual undertaking and not about its group.

The financial statements of BOC Gases Limited have been prepared in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101. 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’ {(FRS 101) and in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006,

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These poiicies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise
stated.

The financial statements apply the recognition, measurement and disclosure reguirements of
International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008
make amendments where necessary in order to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and sets out
pelow where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions have been taken.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking. Linde plc, includes the cempany in its consolidated
financial statements. The consclidated financial statements of Linde plc are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained
from its principal trading address, at Forge, 43 Church Street West Woking, Surrey, GU21 6HT,
England.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions avallable under FRS 101 in
respect of the following disclosures:

- comparative information in respect of paragraph 73(2) of IAS 16 'property. plant and equipment’:

- comparative information 1n respect of paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible assets,

- paragraph 10d and 111 Cash Flow Statement and related notes:

- the requirements in IAS 24. 'Related party disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions
entered intc between two or more members of a group;

+ paragraph 17 of IAS 24 'Related party disclosures’ in respect of the compensation of Key
Management Personnel.

As the consolidated financial statements of Linde plc includes the equivalent disclosures, the
company has also applied the exempticn under FRS 101 in respect of the disclosures required by
IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosures:
- certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by
IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosures.

The accounting policies set out in this note have been applied consistently in prepanng the financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

t Accounting policies {continued)

1.1 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets
and liabilities are stated at their fair value: financial instruments classified as fair value through the
profit or Inss.

1.2 Going concern

The principal activity of the company is that of an investment holding company whereby income is
derived from interest receivable and dividends from group undertakings and these potential income
sources are expected to continue for the foreseeable future.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which the directors believe
to be appropriate for the following reasons. The company is dependent for its working capital on
funds provided to it by the company's ultimate undertaking. Linde Plc. Linde Plc, has agreed that it
will provide loan finance or procure that satisfactory aiternative funding 1s made available to the
company over the next 12 months. from the date of approval of the company's financial statements
made up to 31 December 2022, to the extent that the company s able to operate as a going concern
and settle its liabilities as they fall due.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial support, the directors
acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although. at the date of
approval of these financial statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so.

Consequently, the directors have reasonable expectations that the company will have sufficient
funds fo continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due over the next 12 months from the date of
approval of the company's financial statements made up to 31 Becember 2022 and therefore have
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

1.3 Functional currency

The functional currency of BOC Gases Limited is sterling and the financial statements are prepared
using its functional currency which is the currency cf the primary economic environment in which it
operates,

1.4 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the company’s functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate rulng at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the
fair value was determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recegnised in the
profit and loss account.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1.

Accounting policies (continued)

1.5

1.6

1.7

Classification of financial instruments issued by the company

Following the adoption of 1AS 32. financial instruments 1ssued by the company are treated as equity
only to the extent that they meet the foillowing two conditions:

(a) they include no contractual cbligations upon the company to deliver cash or other financial assets
or to exchange financial assets or financial liabililes with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the company: and

{b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company’s own eguity instruments it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company’'s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that wilt be settled by the company exchanging a fixed amount of cash
or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the company's own shares, the amounts
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account
exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Financial risks
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the company include but are not limited to

(a) interest rate risk - all loans are with subsidiaries of the Linde plc group. As such interest rates are
set and managed within the Linde plc group: and

b) Investment risk - as a holding company. BOC Gases Limited is exposed to the risk of impairment
through poar performing subsidiaries Impairment reviews are carried cut to effectively manage and
mitigate this risk.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt secunties, other
debtors, cash and cash equivalents. loans and borrowings. and other creditors.

Other debtars
Other debtors are recogrised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Other creditors
Other creditors are recognised initially at far value. Subsequent to imitial recognition they are
measurad at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less aftributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to nitial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less any impairment losses.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies {continued)

1.8 Income
Interest income i1s recorded in accordance with the effective interest rate method.

Inceme from shares in group undertakings is recognised when dividends become a legally binding
hiability of the company. In the case of interim dividends declared by the board, this is on payment of
the dividend. In the case of dividends approved by the company's members, this is recognised once
passed by the members.

in addition to its principal activity as an investment holding company. the company also provides
loan finance to othér Linde plc group entities. The company's interest income from the provision of
loan finance s shown within operating profit.

Interest income and interest payable are recognised using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. Other interest receivable and similar income
include interest recaivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange gains.

1.8 Impairment excluding stocks, investment properties and deferred tax assets

Financial assels (including trade and other debtors)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if
cbjective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset.
and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that
can be estmated rehably.

An impairment 1085 in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. For financial insiruments measured at cost
less impairment an impairment is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the
best estimate of the amount that the company would receive for the asset If it were to be sold at the
reporting date. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of
the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of imparment loss to decrease, the
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

1.10 Expenses

Interest payabile

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable, finance charges on shares classified
as labilities. unwinding of the discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are
recognised in the profit and loss account (see foreign currency accounting policy).

interest payable are recognised using the effective interest rate method. Foreiwgn currency gains and
losses are reported on a net bass.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.1

112

113

1.14

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Provided below are the key assumptions concerning the future and key scurces of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date that may cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets or liabilities within the next financial year.

Investment {impairment)
In accordance with the company's accounting policy an impairment review s carried out if a
triggering event occurs during the year. See note 7 for further details.

Management do not assess there to be any significant estimate or judgement in relation te the
recoverability of intercompany debtors.

Taxation

Tax an the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
profit and loss account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or
cther comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised drectly in equity or other
compreheansive Income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year.
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. and any adjustment to
tax payable n respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purpeses and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following
temporary differences are not provided for differences relating to investments in subsidianes to the
extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax
provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities. using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. A
deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable

Adoption of new and revised standards

There are no amendments to accounting standards that are effective for the year ended 31
December 2022 that have a material :mpact on the company's financial statements.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are held at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

2. Directors’ emoluments

The directors did not receive any remuneration during the year for their services to the company (2021

£nil}.

Page 16



BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3. Auditors' remuneration

The remuneration payable in relation to audit services of £10 000 (2021: £10.000) 1s barne by The BOC
Group Limited and is included in the aggregated fees disclosed in the financial statements of The BOC

Group Limited,

4, Employee information

The company had no employees in the current or prior year. The company is not charged for the services

provided to the company by employees of other Linde plc group companies.

5, Interest

Interest receivable and similar income

On loans to group undertakings

Interest payable and similar expenses

Total interest expense on financial liabilities

2022 2021
£000 £000
441 125
441 125
2022 2021
£000 £000

13 1

13 1
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Tax on {loss)/profit

2022 2021
£000 £000

Analysis of charge in year

Current tax on profits for the year

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2021 - fower than)} the standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK of 18% (2021 - 18%). The differences are explained below:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Profit/(loss) befare tax (1,148) 124
Profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK of 18% (2021 - 19%) {218) 24
Effects of:
Effects of group relief without consideration/other reliefs (81} (24)
Non-taxable income less expenses not deductibie for tax purposes 299 -

Total tax charge for the year (as above) - -

Factors that may affect future tax charges

In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that from 1 Aprit 2023 the corporation tax rate
would increase to 25% (rather than remaining at 19%. as previgusly enacted). This new law was
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. Deferred taxes at the balance sheet date have been measured
using these enacted tax rates and reflected in these financial statements.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Investments

Shares in
group
undertakings
£000
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2022 30,856
At 31 December 2022 30,856
Impairment
Charge for the periced 1,576
At 31 December 2022 1,576
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 29,280

At 31 December 2021 30.856

The participating interests. direct and indirect. are shown within the accompanying notes of these
financial statements.

The key estimates and judgements applied in relation to investments are as detailed below;

There are current market multiples of the Linde Industrnial Gases peer group as of the valuation date 31
December 2022. The relevant capital market data is sourced from Bloomberg. We have applied the
relevant EBITDA Multiple for 2022,

For the investment impairment test we apply country specific multiples adjusting for country specific risks
similar to the cost of capital. We have compared the WACC of Linde Industrial Gases with UK specific
Industrial Gases WACC and applied this on the multiple. The UK country specific 2022 EBITDA multiple
ts 14.3 (vs. 14.3 of the Industrial Gases peer group meadian). The above judgement only apphes to those
investments not covered by the net assets of the investee.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

10.

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

2022 2021

£000 £000

Amounts owed by group undertakings 1,588 1.184
1,588 1.184

Amounts owed by group undertakings of £1,185,600 (2021: £1,184,000) are unsecured and repayable on
demand.

intercompany loans are unsecured cn an arm's length basis and attract interest at a rate eguivalent to

market rate. Those which are non interest bearing, or bear interest at a lower than market rate have been
measured at fair value.

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2022 2021

£000 £000
Amounts owed to group undertakings 1,282 2.000
Corporation tax 694 -

1,976 2000

Amounts owed by group undertakings of £1,320,000 {202 1: £2,000.000) are unsecured and repayable on
demand.

Intercompany loans are unsecured on an arm's length basis and attract interest at a rate equivalent to

market rate, Those which are non interest bearing, or bear interest at a lower than market rate have been
measured at fair value.

Called up share capital

2022 2021
£ £

Allotted and fully paid
763 (2021 - 763} Ordinary shares of £1each 763 763

The helders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time tc time and s
entitled to one vote per share al meetings of the company.
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BOC GASES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

11. Post balance sheet events

No interim dividends were pad on the company's cordinary shares following the end of the year and
before the signing date of these financial statements.

12.  Ultimate parent undertaking
The immediate parent undertakings are The BOC Group Limited (99.86%) and BOC Holdings (0.13%).

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party as of 31 December 2022 was Linde plc
{registered in Ireland. number 802527). On 1 March 2023, Linde plc changed its name to Rounderway
plc and merged with Linde plc (registered in lreland, number. 606357). with its registered office address
in Ireland at Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin, D02 T380. Ireland.

Linde plc is the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements. Copies of Linde

pic's cansolidated financial statements can be obtained from that company at its pnncipal trading
address, Forge. 43 Church Street West, Woking. Surrey, GU21 6HT, England.

13. Participating interests

subsidiary and associated undertakings

g of nominal o of nominal
Country of value held as value held as  Nature of
incorparation Name at31 12 2022 at31 12,2021 interest Registered Office

P
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Financial Highlights

Year ended Decernber 31 2022 2021
Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data o o s 5
Reported

Sales 33,364 30,793
Operating Profit 5,369 4,984
Incame from Continuing Operations 4,147 3,821
Diluted Earnings Per Share from Continuing Qperations 8.23 7.32
Adjusted’

Sales 33,364 30,793
Operating Profit 7,904 7176
Income from Continuing Operations 6,195 5,579
Diluted Earnings Per Share from Continuing Operations 12.29 10.69
After-Tax Return on Capitai? 22.9% 17.7%
Other Information

Cash Flow from Qperations 8,864 9,725
Capital Expenditures 3,173 3,086

2022 Sales

End Markets?

mChemicals & Energy Food & Beverage
= Manufacturing Electranics
Healthcare m Other

W Metals & Mining

25%

- 45,

19%

S

10%

16%

14%

Business Segments

APAC (Asia, Pacific)
m Linde Engineering
m Global Other

WmAMEricas
mEMEA (Europe,
Middle East & Africa)

42 %

5%

B%‘

Distribution Mode?

Merchant
| Other

mPackaged
m 0n-Site

6%

7%.

29%

28%

' Adjusted amounts are noa-GAAP measures and are reconciled to “eported amoaunts in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” Sectianin item 7.
2 Adjusted after-tax return on capital is a non-GAAP measure_For definition and reconcitiation, please see Appendix to the Investor Teleconference Presentation

Fourth Quarter 2022.
*Total sales excludmg Linde Engineering.



Letter to Shareholders

Dear Linde
Shareholders,

2022 was a year of unprecedented challenges, including the
wai in Ukraine, a global energy crisis, record cast inflation
and an ecanamic slowdown. Despite all these headwinds, I'm
proud of what our company and employees have achieved,
demonstrating why Linde is the best performing global
industrial gases and enginearing company 1n the world.

In Russia, we ceased project activities and commenced

the process to divest our local businesses For Ukraine,

Linde employees across the world stepped up, supporting
humanitarian relief work and it many cases opening therr
homes to host Ukraimian colleagues and famdies. All this,
while doing what we do best: focusing on safety, continupus
improvement, prahtable growth, active pricing and cost
management, and strong capital discipline.

Renrn o on Coonol
e OT OU S

GoInts Lo & record ’? OLJ
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On the financial front, earnings per share grew 20%, exctuding
the effects of currency. Return on capital {ROC), the truth
serum of cur industry, grew 520 basis points to a record
772.9%. we delivered a record 23 79% operating margin, up

40 basis points compared to the previous year - or 160 basis
points when you excude the impact of cost pass-through.
This is the fourth consccutive year where Linde dehvered the
highest operating margin and ROC in the industry, and | see
no reason why this should change We continued tg generate
strong cash flow which has allowed us to return $7.5 billian te
ouf shareholders thiough dividends and share buybacks while
maintaining a very strong balance sheet.

wWe also made significant stides
i sustainabi \’?Eddﬁﬂujabaohﬂa

L
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volumes

During 2022, we aiso made significant strides in sustainability,
reducing absoiute Scepe 1 and Scope 2 emissions by more
than 1 million tons of CO,e compared to 2021, despite growing
volumes. This positions us well to achieve our goal of 35%
greenhouse gas emissions reduction by 2035, which was
recently validated by the Science Based Targets initiative.

Our safety pertormance continues to be best-in-class, as
defined by a double-digit improvement versus 2021 in lost
workday cases and commeicial vehicle incaidents. That said,
one acctdent is one too many, and we will not rest until we're
able to reach zero accidents globally. As a local business,

we continue to femain actively engaged in the communities
in which we operate. In 2022, Linde teams cempleted close

to 500 community projects, pesitively impacting more

than 300,000 people acrass the world Sustainability is a
fundamental part of what we do cvery day, and we are proud
of our unparalleled track record of inclusion in the DS World
for 20 consecutive years. Linde was also awarded a double

'A' by COP for its approach to tackling both water security and
chimate change.
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Letter to Shareholders

The basis of our success 1s our people - 65,000 employees
who serve our customers and communities, win new projects,
cxecute our strategy, drive innovation and deliver results
Having a dedicated team of pecople who demaonstrate business
owner mentahty, gnt and passion is what ensures our suceess,
now and in the futute, Maintaining a diverse and inclustive
warkplace where employees can achieve their full potential

1s therefore a prionty fur me At the end of 2022, our
workforce comprised 28% women, and | fully expect us to
exceed our target of 30% gender balance before 2030

Looking forward, we will continue to execute our strategy
and deliver growth in 2023 and beyond. Firstly, by optimizing
our base business - through ongoing productivity initiatves,
active price management and contimuously working to
mcrease network density. A good example of that 15 the
recently completed acquisition of nexAir, one of the largest
independent packaged gases businesses in the United States.

secandly, by capitalizing on growth This means deliverning
our 59 2 bilthon backlog of contracted projects for blue-chip
compantes, which have secured returns. it also means
developing and commercializing innovative technologies
and gas applications, and continuing to puisue growth
opportunities in secular end markets.

Finally. we ate prioritizing clean energy The industiv is
urdergoing a transformative change at a scale we have

not previously seer Large decarbonization projects have
started to gather pace, supported by incentives such as the
U.S. (nflation Reduction Act. Qur existing hydrogen busingss,
technological advantage and asset foatprint put us 19 the front
seat to win high quality clean energy projects around the
world. Qur strategy 15 to support decarbonization by working
with off-takers to supply low-carbon-intensity industsial gases,
safely, reliably and at scale - ltke our $1 8 billion Investment
to support 0CI's worid-scale blue ammonia facility in the U'S
Gult Coast. In addition to supporting our customers” emissions

02

reduction goals through our traditional on-site model, we are
also actively investing in our own projects for clean energy.
For exaniple, we are bullding a 35 MW electrolyzer at Niagaia
Falls that will effectively double Linde’s green hydrogen
production in the U.S while estimates on the scale of the
opportunity vary, there is no douht that clean energy will be 4
significant growth drewver for our business in the years ahead.

Qur results 1n 2022 are a culmination of a well-ingrained
performance culture bullt upon a strong foundation of
values. We are lasei-focused on ensuring that we are a safe
and reliable partner for our customers, mesting our own
high standards for performance and finding new ways to
nmprove our business, whether supplying ultra-high purity
gases to semiconductor fabs in Asia, offering gas application
technologies for aquaculture 1n Europe or producing clean
hydrogen for ammonia production in the Americas

while we expect to see continued geopolitical, social and

economic uncertainty in 2023, i am confident that Linde will
continue to deliver in the years to come

sincerely,

Sanjiv Lamba
Chuef Executive Officer



2022 Highlights

Clean Energy

2022 saw significant mementum around
clean energy projects boosted by

the Inflation Reduction Actiin the U.S.
Linde's technology advantage, asset
footprint and operational expertise
position it well for such developments.
Linde anncunced its $1.8 billicn
investment for supply of nitrogen and
clean hydrogen to OCI’s world-scale
blue ammonia facility in Texas. This is
the first of many such projects that are
under development. These oppartunities
follow Linde's industrial gas model,
working with high-quality customers
and partners who are leaders in their
fields.

Linde is also increasing its own clean
hydrogen production capacities in

the U.5. and Europe to help meet the
growing demand for clean hydrogen
across several end markets, like
mobility. After praviding the world's
first hydrogen refueling station for
passenger trains in Germany, we are
proud to have begun the supply of liquid
hydrogen to the world’s first gperational
hydrogen-powered ferry for cars and
passengers in Norway.

Electronics

Across the world, Linde is at the

heart of the semiconductor industry.

A few years ago, we stated how we
would leverage the secular driver of
electronics capacity expansion and win
more than our fair share of high-quality
projects. Our current project backlog of
tier one electronics customers validates
that strategy as we continue to lead
the industry. Linde secured electronics
projects in Asia and the U.S. during
2022, which are now under execution.
Linde will soon commence supplies to
TSMC’s rapidly expanding multi-billion-
dollar wafer fabrication plant in Arizona.

Small On-site Projects

Linde signed 52 new small on-site
projects, which use our proprietary
technology to supply nitrogen

and oxygen. The 21% increase in
projects versus 2021 was largely driven
by qrowing demand for next-generation
energy storage, such as lithium-ion
batteries, Linde also saw continued
strong demand from traditional

end markets including electroanics,
manufacturing, metals and mining.
These long-term agreements meet
Linde’s strict investment criteria, will
deliver steady revenue and contribute
to Linde's underlying growth.

Diversity & Inclusion

Creating a diverse and inclusive
environment where employees can
achieve their full potential is a priarity

for Linde. Having implemented several
development programs, Linde closed
2022 with 28% women in professional
roles — on track to exceed the company’s
30 by 30" gender diversity target.
Linde's commitment to diversity was once
again recognized through inclusien in the
2022 Bloomberg Gender-Equality Index
and being named a 2022 DiversityInc
Noteworthy Company for the seventh
consecutive year. In 2022, the campany’s
first all-women-operated packaged gases
filling plant started up in Tamil Nadu,
tndia.

03



Sustainable Development

Every day, Linde team members around the world are helping to make a positive socal and envitonmental impact in our
communities. for gur customers and within our ewn operations.

Achievements

N .
Z A

Diverted more than On track to achieve 30%

)
)

Saved approximately 400 Helped customers

200 million pounds
of waste from landfii{s

,n
22

=

Provided philanthropic
support to more than 1,000
organizations globally

representatian of women
globally by 2030

|, )
e
fa) (a @)
Benefited 300,000

people through
employee cammunity

million gallons of water
through sustainability
initiatives

Sourced more than 1/3 of
electricity from low-carbon
and renewable sources

avoid approximately
90 million metric tons of
equivalent carbon dioxide

Best-in-class
safety performance

engagement projects

Recognitions & Awards

- CDP. Linde named to "A hst’ for both
chimate change and water security

- Suence-based target approval.
Linde's 2035 chimate change goal Companies by Ethisphere Institute
vatidated by SBT Bloomberg 2022 Gender-Equality

- Holder of the Sustainable Markets Index
Initiative Terra Carta Sesl

- FTSE4Good Index constituent for
seventh consccutive yeal
One of World's Mast Ethical

Dow Jonres Sustainability World Index
(D)SI World) and DjS) North America:
mcludedin DJSHWaorld tor twenty
consecutive years

- S&P Global Corporate Sustainability
Assessment. industry-leading score in
the 997 percentile in chemicals, #1.1n
industrial gases

- SgP sustainability Yearbook 2022
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2028

35% Reduction
of GHG
Intensity’

Status:
Ahead of Goal

Achievements include:

- Realized steady GHG
intensity reduction since
2018

- Increased active
procurement of
renewable and low-
carbon energy

- Commenced discussions
for several blue and
green hydrogen projects

2035

35% Reduction
of Absolute
GHG Emissions

Status:
Reduction Underway

Activities include:

> Developing several (S
projects

- lInvestigating renewable
feedstocks

= Achieved reduction
toward goal in first year

2035 goal approved by:

SCIENCE
BASED
TARGETS

ORIVING AMBITIOUS CGRPORATE CLIMATE ACTION

2050

Climate Neutral®

Status:
Roadmap in Place

Activities include:

- Deploy widespread use
of CCS and renewable
feedstocks

- Transition fleet to zero
emissions

- Target sourcing of ~100%
renewable /low-carbon
power

- Address remainder
through negative
emissions projects

* Aligned with the Paris Accords. Targets relate to all of Linde's Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions.
1 Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions/Ad). EBITDA

2 ¢arbon capture and sequestration

? Requires strong policy and regulatory support
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Leadership

Executive Leadership

Sanjiv Lamba
Chief Executive Officer &
Member of the Board of Directors

Sean Durbin
Executive Vice President
EMEA

Guillermo Bichara
Executive Vice President&

Chief Legal Officer

Ben Glazer
Senior Vice President Americas

Business Leadership

Matt White
Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer

Juergen Nowicki
Executive Vice President
Linde Engineering

David Strauss
Executive Vice President &
Chief Human Resources Officer

Crispin Teufel
Senior Vice President Lincare

John Panikar
Executive Vice President
APAC

Dan Yankowski
Senior Vice President Americas

Joe Abdoo
President Canada

Josue Lee

President North Latin America

Binod Patwari
President South Pacific

Susan Stevenson
President NuC02
Dominic Cianchetti

senior Vice President
Engineering Americas

Functional Leadership

Moloy Banerjee
President ASEAN & South Asia

Zhengmin Li
President Greater China

Qliver Pfann
President Region Europe East

BS Sung
General Manager South Korea

Robert Eichelmann
Senior Vice President
Engineering APA(

Desiree Bacher
Vice President Financial Planning &
performance Management

Karin Griggel

chief Compliance Officer

Luiz Oliveira
Vice President Operations
Excellence & Productivity

Sandeep Sen
Chief Information Officer

06

Gilney Bastos
President South Latin America

Cdessa Mann
Genperal Manager Helium &
Rare Gas

Todd skare
President Praxair Surface
Technologies

John van der velden
Senior Vice President
Engineering 5ales & Technelogy

Armando Botello
President Region Europe North

Jim Mercer

Presiden! Region UK & Ireland

Veerle Slenders
President Region Eurcpe West

Neil Beup
Vice President Gtobal Public
Affairs

Amitabh Gupta
Vice President Technology

Nicolas Pattera
Vice President Executive Staff

Vipin Sher
Vice President Mergers &
Acquisitions & Capex

Arne Boyd
Vice President Tax & Treasury

Kelcey Hoyt
Vice President &
Chief Accounting Officer

Juan Pelaez

Vice President Investor Relations

Tony Wallace
Vice President SHEG

Tamara Brown
Vice President Sustainability

Michelle oo
Chief Diversity Officer

Bjoern Schneider
Vice President tnternal Audit




Board of Directors

Ed
Steve Ange! Sanjiv Lamba Ann-Kristin Achleitner Thomas Enders
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Human Capital Committee Sustainability Committee
Exccutive Committee Executive Commttee (Chair), Sustainability (Chair), Executive
(Chairman) Committee Committee, Audit
Committee

Hugh Grant joe Kaesey Victoria Ossadnik Martin Richenhagen
Nomination and Nomination and Audit Committee, Audit Committee {(Chair),
Governance Committee, Governance Committee Namination and Human Capital Committee
Human Capital Committee (Chair), Human Capital Governance Committee

Committee

Alberto Weisser Robert wood
Audit Committee, Lead Independent Director,
sustainability Committee Human Capital Committee,

Sustainability Committee,
Executive Committee

For more information about Linde’s corporate governance, please visit our website at www.linde.com/about-linde/corporate-governance
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Mission, Vision and Values

Our Vision

We are committed to fulfilling our
vision to be the best performing globat
industrial gases and engineering
company, where our people deliver
innovative and sustainable solutions for
our customers in a connected world.

Integrity

Safety

Our Mission

We live our mission of making our world
more productive every day. Through our
high-quality solutions, technologies and
services we are making our customers
more successful and helping to sustain
and protect our planet.

Our Values

.

..‘...o -

. g . °
[ ..’..

Inclusion

Accountability

Community
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
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EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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OR
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “lorw ard-looking statements™ within the meaning of the Private Securites Litigation Reform
Act of 1995, These forward-looking statements are identitied by terms and phrases such as: anticipate. believe. intend.
estimate, expeet, continue, should. could, may. plan. project. predict, will, potential, torecast, and similar expressions. They
are based on management’s reasonable expectations and assumptions as of the date the statements are made but involve rishs
and uncertaintics. These rishs and uncertainties include, without limitation: the performance of stock markets generally;
developments in worldwide and national economies and other mternational events and circumstances, including trade
conflicts and tariffs: changes in foreign currencies and in interest rates: the cost and availability of electric power. natural gas
and other raw materials; the ability to achieve price increases to offset cost Increases; catastrophic events including natural
disasters, epidemics, pandemics such as COVID-19, and acts of war and terrorism: the ability to atract. hire, and retain
qualified personnel; the impact of changes in financial accounting standards; the impact of changes in pension plan
Liabilities; the impact of tax, environmental, healtheare and other legislation and gevernment regulation in jurisdictions in
which the company operates: the cost and outcomes of investigations, litigation and regulatory proceedings: the impact of
potenual unusual or non-recurring items: continued timely development and market aceeptance of new products and
applications: the impact of competitive products and pricing: future financial and operating perfermance of major customers
and industries served; the impact of information technology svstem failures, network disruptions and breaches in data
sccunity: and the ¢ffectivencss and speed of integrating new acquisitions into the business. Lhese risks and uncertainties may
cause actual future results or circumstances to differ materially from accounting principtes generally acceptred in the United
States of America, International Financial Reporting Standards or adjusted projections. estimates or other forward-looking
staterents.

Linde ple assumes ne obligation to update or provide revisions to any forward-looking statement in response to
changing circumstances. The above listed risks and unecrtainties are further described in [tem [A (Risk Factors) in this
report, which should be reviewed carctully. Please consider Linde ple’s forward-looking statements in fight of these risks.



Linde ple and Subsidiaries
PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Lindc plc 1s a public limited company fonmed under the Taws of {reland with its principal offices in the United
Kingdom and United States. Linde is the largest industrial gas company worldw ide and 15 a major echnological innovator 1n
the industrial gases industry. Its primary products in its industrial gases business are atmospheric gases {oxygen. nitrogen.
argon, and rare gasces) and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen. electronic gases. specialty gases, and aceiylene
cte). The company also designs and builds cquipment that produces industrial gases and offers customers a wide range of gas
production and processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and svnthesis gas
plants and other types of plants,

Linde serves a diverse group of industrics including healtheare, chemicals and encergy, manulacturing, metals and
mining, food and beverage, and clectronics.

Finde™s sales were $33,364 million, $30.793 million, and $27.243 million tor 2022, 2021, and 2020. respectively,
Refer to {tem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analvsis, for a discussion of consolidated sales and Note 18 to the
consolidated tinancial statcments for additional information related to Linde's reportable segments.

Industrial Gases Products and Manufacturing Processes

Atmaospheric gases are the highest volume products produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material. Linde produces
oxvgen, nitrogen and argon through several air separation processes of which cryogenic air separation is the most presalent
Rare gases, such as krypton. neon and xenon, are also produced through cryogenic air separation. As a pioneer in the
industrial gases mdustry, Linde 1s a leader in developing a wide range of proprictary and patented applications and supply
systems teehnology. Linde also led the development and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies for
the production of industrial gases. These wechnologies open important new markets and optimize production capacity for the
company by lowering the cost of supplying industrial gases. These echnologies include proprictary vacuum pressure swing
adsorption {"VPSAT)y and membrane separation 10 produce gaseous oxygen and nitrogen, respectively.

Process gases, including carbon diexide, hydrogen. helium, specialty gases and acetviene are produced by methods
other than air separation.

Hydrogen is produced from a range of feedstocks using an array of difterent technologies, Despite hydrogen being an
invisible molecule, colors are often used to designate and differentiate between the production processes used to produce the
molecule. The majority of hydrogen currently produced by Linde 15 what 15 termed gray hydrogen and 1s dervved from
natural gas or methane. using steam methane reformation technelogy. Linde has multiple technologies to produce blue and
green hydrogen, which are both considered tvpes of clean energy. Blue hydrogen is produced by capturing the carbon
emissions from the hvdrogen plant and cither utitizing them in a way that stops them from being emitted or sequestering
them in the subsurface for the long rerm. Green hvdrogen is produced by electrolysis using renewable energy or from the
steam methane reforming of biomethane, Low carbon intensity, high-purity hvdrogen is also produced by purifying and
recoy ering by-product hydrogen sources from the chemical and petrochemical industries.

Helium is sourced from certain helium-rich natural gas streams in the United States. with additional supplies being
acquired from outside the United Staies. Carbon monoxide can be produced by either steam methane reforming or auto-
thermal reforming of natural gas or ether feed streams such as naphtha. Acetvlene 1s primartly sourced as a chemical
by-product. but may also be produced from caleium carbide and water. Most carbon dioxide is purchased from by-product
sources. including chemical plants, refineries and industrial processes or 1s recovered from carbon dioxide wells. Carbon
dioxide s processed in Linde’s plants to produce commercial and food-grade carbon dioxide.

Industrial GGases Distribution

There are three basic distribution methods tor industrial gases: (1) on-site or tonnage; (i) merchant or bulk liquid; and
(11i) packaged or eyvlinder gases. These distribution methods are often integrated. with products from all three supply modes
coming from the same plant. The method of supply is generally determined by the loswest cost means of meeting the
customer’s needs, depending upon factors such as volume reguirements. purity. patiern of usage, and the form in which the
product is used (as a gas or as a crvogenic liquid).

On-site. Customers that reguire the largest volumes of product (typically oxvgen, nitrogen and hvdrogen) and that have
a relatively constant demand pattern are supplicd by crvogenic and process gas on-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or
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adjacent to these custemers” sites and supplics the product direetly to customers by pipeline. On-site product supply contracts
generally are total requirement contracts with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years and containing minimum purcluase
requircments and price escalation provisions. Many of the eryogenic on-site plants also preduce liquid products for the
merchant market Therefore plants are typically not dedicated to a single customer. Advanced air separation processes allow
on-site delivery to customers with smaller volume requirements.

Merchani. The merchant business is generalty associated with distributable liquid oxygen, nitrogen, argon. carbon
dioxide, hvdrogen and helium, The deliveries generally arc made from Linde’s plants by tanker trucks to storage coniainers
at the customer’s site which are usually vwned and maintained by Linde and leased to the customer. Due to distribution cost,
merchant oxvgen and nitrogen generally have a relatively small distribution radius from the plants at which they are
praduced. Merchant argon. hydrogen and helium can be shipped much longer distunces, The customer agreements used 1n the
metchant business are usually three to seven-year requirenient contracts,

Packaged Gases. Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in metal containers called ¢y linders, under
medium to high pressure, Packaged gases include atmospheric gases, carbon dioxide. hydrogen. helium, acetviene and
related products, Linde also produces and distributes in evlinders a wide range of specialty gases and mixtures, Cylinders
may be delivered to the customer’s site or picked up by the customer at a4 packaging facility or retail store. Packaged gascs
are generally sold under onc o three-year supply contracts and through purchase orders.

Engineering

Lindes Engincering business has a global presence, with its focus on market segiments such as air separation,
hydrogen, synthesis, olefin and natural gas plants. The company utilizes its extensive process engineering know-how in the
planning, design and construction of highly efficient turnkey plants for the preduction and processing of gases. With its
state-of-the-art sustainable technologies Engincering also helps customers avoid, capture and utilize CO2 emissions. [ts
technology portfolio covers the entire value chain for production, hquefacuon. storage, distribution and application of
hydrogen which supports the transition to clean encrgy. Its digital services and solutions increase plant efficiency and
performance.

Linde’s plants arc used in a wide variety of ficlds: in the petrochemical and chemical indastries. in refinerics and
fertilizer plants, to recover air gases, 1o produce synthesis gases, to treat natural gas and to produce noble gases. The
Engineering business either supplies plant components dircctly to the customer or to the industrial gas business of Linde
which operates the plants under a long-term gascs supply contract.

Inventories Linde carrics inventorics of metchant and eylinder gases and hardgoods to supply products to its customers on
a rcasenable delivery schedule. On-site plants and pipeline complexes have limited inventory. Inventory obsolescence is not
material to Linde's business.

Customers - Linde 1s not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers,

International Linde is a global enterprise with approximately 68% of its 2022 sales outside of the United States. The
company also has majority or wholly owned subsidiarics that operate in approximately 43 European, Middle Eastern and
African countries (including Germany. the United Kingdom (U.K.), France. Sweden. and the Republic of South Africa);
approximately 20+ Asian and South Pacific countries (including China. Australia, India, South Korea and Thailand): and
approaimately 20 countries in North and South America (including Canada, Mexico and Brazil).

The company also has equity method investments operating in Europe. Asia. Africa, the Middle East. and North America.

Linde's non-U.S. business is subject 1o risks customarily erncountercd in non-U.S. operations. including fluctuations in
fureign currency exchange rates, import and export controls, and other economic. political and regulatory policies ot local
governments. Also. sec ltem 1A, “Risk Factors™ and Item 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk.”

Seasonality — Linde’s business is generally not subject to seasonal fuctuations 1o any significant extent.

Research and Development - Linde’s rescarch and development is directed toward development of gas processing,
separation and liquefaction technelogies. and clean energy technologies; improving distribution of industriai gases and the
devclopment of new markets and applications for these gases. This results in the development of new advanced air
separation. hydrogen. svnthesis gas, natural gas, adsorption and chemtceal process technologics: novel clean energy and
carbon manugement solutions: as well as the frequent intreduction of new industrial gas applications. Research and
development is primarily conducted at Munich, Genmany, Tonawanda, New York. Burr Ridge, llinois and Shanghai. China,

Patents and Trademarks - Lindc owns or licenses a large number of patents that relate to a wide variety of products and
processes. Linde’s patents expire at various times ever the next 20 years. While these patents and hicenses are considered
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important to its individual businesses, Linde does not consider its business as 2 whole w be materially dependent upon any
one particular patent. or patent leense. or family of patents. Linde also owns a large number ot trademarks, of which the
“Linde™ rademark is the most significant.

Raw Materials and Energy Costs - Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial
gases. Most of Linde’s energy requirements are in the form ot electricity, natural gas and dicsel fuel for distribution. The
company mitigates eieetricity, natural gas, and hydrocarbon price fluctuations contractually through pricing formulas,
surcharges. and cost pass through and tolling arrangements.

The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic arcas where the company conducts business.
as
g

However, energy availability and price is unpredictable and may pose unforeseen future risks.

For carbon dioxide. carbon monoxide, helium. hvdrogen and speciabty gases. raw materials are largely purchased from
outside sources. Linde has contracts or commitments for. or readily available sources of. most of these raw materials;
however, their long-term as ailability and prices are sebject to market conditions.

Competition  Lindc participates in highly competitive markets in industrial gases and engineering. which are charactenzed
by a mixture of local, regional and global players, all of which exert competitive pressure on the parties. In locations where
Linde has pipeline networks, which enable the company to proside reliable and cconomic supply of products to larger
customers. Linde derives a competitive advantage.

Competitors in the industrial gases industry include global and regional companies such as L™ Air Liquide 8. A.. Air Products
and Chemicals. Inc., Messer Group GmbH. Mitsubishi Chemical Holdings Corporation (through Taiyo Nippon Sanse
Corporation) as well as an extensive number of small to medium size independent industrial gas companies which compete
locally as producers or distributors. In addition. a significant portion of the international gases market relates to customer-
owned plants.

Employees - The company sources talent from an ever-changing and competitive environment. The ahility to source and
retain qualified and committed employecs is a prerequisite for the company”™s success, and represents a general risk for
Linde.

The Board of Ihrectors (7 Board ™) has established a strategic business objective to maintain world-¢lass standards in talent
management. Exccutive varable compensation is assessed annually based on performance in financial measures as well as in
several strategic non-financial arcas. including talent maragement. The Human Capital Committee assists the Board m its
oversight of Linde’s compensation policies and programs. particularly in regard to reviewing executive compensation tor
Linde’s exceutive officers. The Human Capita Commutiee also pertodically reviews the company’s management
development and succession programs. diversity polictes and objectives, and the associated programs to achicve those
objectives. The global head of Human Resources reports to the Chief Excecutive Officer ("CEO™). A global leader of
Diversity and Inclusion reports to the head of Human Resources

Linde has abigned diversity and inclusion with its business strategies and implemented diversity action planning into busmess
process and performance management. Diversity and inclusion are line management responsibilities and Linde secks
competitive advaniage through proactive management of its talent pipeline and recruiting processes. Linde provides cqual
cmployment oppertunity. and recruits, hires, promotes and compensates people based solely on their performance and abilicy.

Employces receive a competitive salary and variable compensation components based on performance and job level. Linde
has collective bargaining agreements with unions at numerous locations throughout the world. Additionat benefits are offered
such as accupational pensions and contributions towards health insurance or medical sereening, reflecting regional conditions
and local competition. Sentor managers pasticipate direetly in the company’™s growth in value through the Long Term
Incentive Plan of Linde plc. From time to time. Linde may introduce special compensation schemes to recognize or reward
specific individuals such as the one implemented 1n 2020 for global front-line cmployees. Linde also insests in professional
development of its employees through formal and on-the-job training.

As of December 31,2022, Linde had 63,010 employees worldwide comprised of approximately 28 percent women and

72 percent men.

Environment - [nformation required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the seetion captioned
“Management s Discussion and Analysis - Environmental Matters™ in ltem 7 of this 10-K.

Available Infoermation — The company makes its periodic and current reports available, free of charge. on or through its
website, www linde.com. as soon as practicable after such material is clectronically filed with. or turnished to. the Securitis

and Exchange Commission ("SECT). [nyvestors may also access from the company website other investor intormation such as
press releases and presentations. Information on the company s webstte is not incorporated by reference herein. In addition,
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the public may read and copy any materials filed with the SEC free of charge at the SECs website, www sec.gov, that
cuntlains sepuonts, proay mfurnation stutements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

Executive Officers  The totlowing Exccutive Otficers have been elected by the Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure
of the Board. It is expected that the Board will elect otficers unnually following cach annuad meetng ot sharcholders.

Sanjiv Lamba, 38, was appointed Chiel Executive Officer of Linde effective March 1, 2022, Prior to being appointed CEO,
he was Chief Operating Officer starting in January 2021 and after serving as Executive Vice President, APAC, beginning in
October 2018, Previously, Mr. Lamba was appointed a Member of the Executive Board of Linde AG in 2011, responsible for
the Asia. Pacific segment of the Gases Division, for Globat Gases Businesses Helium & Rare Guses. Eleetronics as well as
Axiu Joint Venture Management. Mr. Lamba started his carcer 1989 with BOC India in Finance where he progressed to
beecome Directer of Finance before being appeinted as Managing Director for BOC™s india’s business in 2001, Throughout
his years with BOC Linde, he worked in various roles across a number of ditterent geographics including Germany, the

U .K.. Singaporc and India.

Guitlermo Bichara, 48, is Exccutive Viee President and Chiet Legal Officer. He previousty served as Praxair™s Viee
President and General Counsel. Mr. Bichara joined the company in 2006, first as Dircector of Legal Affairs at Praxair Moexivo
before being promoted to Viee President and General Counscl of Praxair Asia. He subscequently had responsibitity for
Europe, Mexico and corporate transactions before being promoted to Associate General Counsel and Assistant Secretary.
Mr. Bichara previously held roles at Cemex and various global law firms.

Scan Durbin, 32, became Executive Vice President, EMEA in April 2021, Previously, he served as Sentor Vice President,
Global Funetions beginning in July 2020. Durbin joined Praxair. Inc. in 1993 and served in various roles across operations,
cngineering. project management. business development and sales. In recent years, he has held leadership positions including
Business President, Region Europe South from 2019 to 2020, and President, Praxair Canada Inc. from 2013 to 2019,

Keleey E. Hoyt, 33, became the Chicet Accounting Officer of Linde in October 2018, Prior to this. she served as Vice
President and Controller of Praxair, Inc. beginning in August 2016. Prior to becoming Controller, she served as Praxair’s
Director of Imvestor Relations since 201(, She joined Praxair in 2002 and served as Director of Corporate Accounting and
SEC Reporting through 2008. and later served as Controller for various divisions within Fraxair's North American Industrial
Guas business. Previously, she was in audit at KPMG, LLP.

Juergen Nowicki. 39, was appointed Exccutive Vice President and CEOL Linde Engincering in April 2020 Prior to this, he
was Senior Viee President, Commercial, Linde Engineering. Mr. Nowicki joined Linde in 1991 as an Internal Auditor and
held various positions in Finance and Controtling. In 2002, he was appointed CFO Linde Gas North America, USA, and was
named Head of Finance and Control for The Linde Group in 2006, Nowicki assumed the role of Managing Director, Linde
Engineering in 201 1.

John Panikar, 55, was appointed Exceutive Viee President, APAC of Linde effective in January 2021. Previously, he served
as President UK & Africa of Linde since October 2018, From 2014 1o 2018, Mr. Panikar was President of Praxair Asis. He
began his carcer with Praxair in 1991 as an Applications Enginger. Over the vears, Mr. Panikar held increasingly responsible
positions including Manager of Site Services and Equipment, Business Development Director for Praxair Asia. Managing
Director ot Praxair India. VP, South Region. North American Industrial Gases and President, Praxair Distribution, Inc.

David P. Strauss. 64, is Exccutive Vice President and Chicl Human Resources Officer. He previously served as Praxair’s
Chiet Human Resources Otficer. Mr. Strauss joined Linde in 1990 as an Applications Engineer before being promoted to
lead the clectronics materials business. He subsequently served as Vice President of Safety. Health and Environment,

Matthew J. White, 50, became Exccutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Linde in October 2018, He
previously served as the Scenior Viee President and Chief Financial Officer of Praxair. Inc. since January 1. 2014, Prior to
this, Mr. White was President of Praxair Canada from 2011 to 2014, He joined Praxair in 2004 as finance divector for the
company’s largest business unit. Nerth American Industmal Gases. In 2008, he became Vice President and Controller of
Praxair, Inc.. then was named Vice President and Treasurer in 2010, Betore joining Praxair, White was vice president,
finance. at Fisher Scientific and before that he held various financial positions. including group controller. at GenTek, a
manufacturing and performance chemicals company.



[TEMTA. RISK FACTORS

13ue to the sizc and geegraphic reach of the company’s operations. a wide range of tactors, many of which are outside
of the company 's control. could materially atfect the company’s future operations and tinancial performance. Management
believes the following risks may significantly impact the company:

Weakening economiv conditions in markets in which Linde does business may adversely impact its financial results und/
or cuash flows,

Linde serves a diverse group of industries across more than 30 countrigs, which generally leads to financial stability
through various business cyceles. However. a broad decline in general cconomic ot business conditions in the industrics
served by its customers could adversely atfect the demand for Linde’s products and impair the ability of its custoniers to
satisfy their ohligations to Linde, resulting in uncollected receis ables and: or unanticipated contract terminations or project
delays. For example, global political and econemic uncertainty could reduce investment activities of Linde’s customers.
which could adversely atfect Linde’s business,

In addition, many of Linde’s customers are in businesses that are cyelical in nature, such as the chemicals, metals and
energy industries, Downturns in these industries may adversely impact Linde during these eyveles. Additionally, such
conditions could impact the utilization of Tinde’s manutfacturing capacity which may require it to recognize impairment
losscs on tangible assets such as property, plant and equipment, as well as intangible asscts such as goodwill. customer
relationships or inteliectual property.

Increases in the cost of energy and raw materialy and/or disruption in the supply of these materialy could result in lost
sales or reduced profitability.

Energy s the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial gases, Most of Linde’s energy
requirements are in the form of electricity. natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution. Linde attempts to minimize the
financial itmpact of variability in these costs through the management of customer contracts and reducing demand through
operational productivity and energy efficiency. Large customer contracts typically have escalation and pass-through clauses
to recover energy and feedstock costs. Such attempts may not successfully mitigate cost variability, which could negatively
impact Linde’s financial condition or results of operations. The supply of energy has not been a significant issuc in the
gcographic arcas where Linde conducts business. However. regional encrgy conditions are unpredictable and may pose
future risk.

For carbon dioxide. carben monoxide, helium. hydrogen and specialty gases. raw materials are largely purchased trom
outside sources. Where feasible, Linde sources several of these raw materials, including carbon diexide, hydrogen and
calcrum carbide. as chenucal or industrial byproducts. In addition. Linde has contracts or commitments for. or readily
available sources of, most of these raw materials: howeser, their long-term availability and prices are subject to market
conditions. A disruption in supply of such raw materials could impact Linde's ability to meet contractual supply
conmmitments.

Linde’s international operations are subject to the risks of doing business abrouad and international events and
circumstances may adversely impact its business, financial condition or results of operations.

Lindc has substantial international operations which are subject to risks including devaluations in currency cxchange
rates. trunsportation delays and interruptions. political and economic instability and disruptions, restrictions on the transfer of
tunds. trade conflicts and the imposition of dutics and tariffs, import and export controls, changes in governmental policics.
labor unrest. possible nationalization and’or expropriation of asscts. changes in LS. and non-U.S. tax policics and
compliance with governmental regulations. These events could have an adverse effect on the international operations of
Linde in the future by reducing the demand for its products. decreasing the prices at which it can sell its products, reducing
the revenwe from internativnal operations or othenwise having an adverse effeet on its business.

Currency exchange rate fluctuarions and other related visks may adversely affect Linde's results.

Because a significant portion of Linde’™s revenue is denominated in currencies other than its reporting currency. the
L.S. dollar. changes in exchange rates will produce fluctuiations in revenue. costs and carnings and may also affect the book
value of asscts and Habilities and related equity. Although the company from time 1o time utilizes foreign eachange forward
contracts to hedge these exposures, s offorts to minimmize curreney exposure through such hedging transactions may not be
suceessful depending on market and business conditions. As a result. fluctuations in forcign currency exchange rates could
adversely affect Linde’s financial ¢condition, results of operations or cash flows.



Macroeconomic factors may impact Linde’s abifity to obtain finuncing or increase the cost of obtaining financing which
may udversely impact Linde's financial resulty and/or cash flows.

Volatility and disruption m the LS., kuropean and global credit and equity markets, from time to time, could make it
more difficult for Linde to obtain financing for its operations and ‘ar could increase the cost of obtaining financing. In
addition, Linde’s borrowing costs can be affected by short- and long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating
agencies which are based, in significant part, on its performance as measured by certain criteria such as interest coverage and
leverage rativs. A deerease in these debt ratings could increase the cost of borrowing or make it more difticult to obtain
financing,

An impairment of goodwill or intangible assets could negatively impact the company’s financial results.

As of December 31, 2022, the net carrving value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible asscts was
$26 billion and $2 billion. respectively. primarily as a result of the business combination and the related acquisivon method
of accounting applied to Linde AG. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the company periodically
assesses these assets to determiine it they are impaired. Significant negative industry or economic trends. disruptions to
business. unexpected significant changes or planned changes tn use of the assets, divestitures and sustained market
capitaiization declines may result in recognition of impairments to goodwill or other indefinite-lived assets. Any charges
relating to such impairments could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s results of operations in the periods recognived

Catastrophic events could disrupt the operations of Linde and/or its customers and suppliers und may have a significant
adverse impuct on the results of operations.

The occurrence of catastrophic events or natural disasters such as extreme weather, including hurricanes and floods;
health epidemics: pandemics, such as COVID-19; and acts of war or terrorism. could disrupt or delay Linde”s ability te
produce and distribute its products 10 customers and could potentially cxpose Linde to third-party liability claims, In
addition, such events could impact Lindc’s customers and suppliers resulting in temporary or long-term outages and.or the
limitation of supply of cnergy and other raw materials used in normal business operations. Linde evaluates the direct and
indircct business risks. consults with vendors. insurance providers and industry experts, makes investments in suitably
resilient design and technology, and conducts regular reviews of the business risks with management. Despite these steps,
however, these situztions are outside Linde’s control and may have a signiticant adverse impact on its financial results.

The inability to attract and retain qualified personnel may adversely impact Linde’s business.

It Linde fails to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel. it may not be able to develop, market or sell its products or
successfully manage its business. Linde is dependent upon a highly skilled. experienced and efficient workforce to be
successlul, Much of Linde’s competitive advantage s based on the expertise and experience of key personnel regarding
marketing, technelogy. manufacturing and distribution infrastructure, systerns and products. The inability to attract and hire
qualified individuals or the loss of key emplovees in very skilled arcas could have a negative effect on Linde’s financial
results.

If Linde fails to keep pace with technological advances in the industry or if new technology initiatives do not become
commercially accepted, customers mdy not continue to biy Linde’s products and results of operations could be adversely
affecred.

Lindc's rescarch and develepment is directed toward developing new and improved methods for the production and
distribution of industrial gases, the design and construction of plants and toward devcloping new markets and applications for
the use of industrial and process gases. This results in the introduction of new applications and the development of new
advanced process technologics. As a result of these efforts, Linde develops new and proprietary technologies and employs
necessary measurcs to protect such technologics within the global geographies in which Linde operates. These technologics
help Linde to create a competitive advantage and 1o provide a platform to grow its business. If Linde’s research and
development activities do not keep pace with competitors or it Linde does not create new technologies that benefit
customers. [uture results of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks related to pension benefit plans may adversely impact Linde’s results of operations and cash flows.
P P ) ) Lmp )\ op

Pension benefits represent significant financial obligations that will be ultimately settled in the future with employces
who meet eligibility requirements. Because of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and amount of future
payments and asset returns, significant estimates are required to caleulate pension expense and liabilitics related to Linde’s
plans. Linde utilizes the services of independent actuaries. whose models are used to facilitate these caleulations. Several key
assumplions are used in the actuarial models w caleulate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the consolidated
financial statcments. In particular, significant changes in actual investment returns on pension assets, discount rates, or
legislative or regulatory changes could impact future results of operations and required pension contributions.
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Operational risks muay adversely impacte Linde’s business or results of operations.

Linde’s operating resules are dependent on the continued operation of its production tacilities and its ability to meet
customer contract requirements and other needs. Insutticient or excess capacity threatens Linde’s ability to generate
competitive profit margins and may expose Linde to liabilities related to contract commitments. Operating results are also
dependent on Linde™s abtlity to complete new construction projects on time, on budget and in accordance with pertormance
requirements. Failure to do so may expose Linde's business o loss of rey cnue. potential litigation and toss of business
reputation.

Also inherent in the management of Linde’s production facilities and delivery systems, including storage, vehicle
wansportation and pipelines, are operational risks that require continuous training. oversight and control. Material operating
failures at production. storage facilities or pipelines. including fire. toxic release and explosions, or the vecurrence of v chicle
transpartation accidents could result in loss of lite. damage to the envronment, loss of production andror extensive property
damage. all of which may negatisely impact Linde™s financial results.

Linde may be subject to information technology system faifures, network diseuptions and breaches in data securiny.

Lindc relies on information technology systems and netwaorks for business and operational activities. and also stores
and processes sensitive business and proprietary information in these systems and networks. These systeims are susceptible w
outages due to fire, flood. power tess, welecommunications failures, viruses, break-ins and similar events, or breaches of
sCCurity.

Linde has taken steps to address these risks and concerns by implementing ady anced security technologies. internal
cantrols, network and data center resiliency and recovery process. Despite these steps. however. our information technology
systems have in the past been and in the future will likely be subject to increasingly sophisticated eyber attacks. Operational
failures and breaches of security from such attenipts could lead to the loss or disclosure of confidential information or
personal data belonging to Linde or our employees and customers or suppliers. Thesc failures and breaches could result in
business interruption or malfunction and lead to legal or regulatory actions that could result in a material ads erse impact on
Linde’s operations, reputation and financial results. To date, such attempts have not had any significant impact on Linde's
operations or financial results.

The inability to effectively integrate acquisitions or collaborate with joint venture partners could adversely impact Linde's
Sinancial position and results of operations.

Linde has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate. a wide array of potential strategic acquisitions and joint
ventures. Many of these transactions, it consummatad. could be material w its financial condition and results of operations.
In addition. the process of integrating an acquired company, business or group of asscts may create unforeseen operating
difficulties and expenditures. Although historically Linde has been successtul with its acquisition strategy and execution. the
arcas where Linde may face risks include:

= the need to wnplement or remediate controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a larger public company at

companivcs that prior to the acquisition lacked these controls, procedures and policies:

»  diversion of management time and focus trom operating existing business to acquisition integration challenges:

«  cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into the ¢xisting

organization:

»  the need to integrate cach company’s accounting, management iformation, human resources and other

administrative systems to permit effective management;

» difficulty with the assimtlation of acquired operations and products,

. failurc to achieve targeted synergies and cost reductions: and

= inability to retain key employecs and business relationships of acquired companics.

Foreign acquisitions and joint ventures involve unigue nisks in addition to those mentioned herein. including those

related to integration of operations across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic,
political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.

Also. the anticipated benefit of potential future acquisitions mayv not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions
could result in the incurrence ol debt. contingent labilities or amortization expenses. or impairments of goodwill, any of
which could adyersely impact Linde™s financial vesults,
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Linde is subject to a variety of internarional livws and government regufations and changes in, or fuilure to comply with,
these laws or regulations condd have an adverse impact on the company s business, financial position and results of
operations,

I inde 1s subject to regulations in the following arcas, among others:

< environmental protection. including climate change and energy etficiency laws and policies:

«  U.S. and non-U.S. tax laws and currency controls:

»  safery:

= securities laws applicable in the United States, the European Union. Germany, Ireland. and other jurisdictions:
«  trade and imporvexport restrictions. as well as economic sanctions laws:

«  antitrust matters:

+  darta protection:

»  global anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; and

»  hcalthcare regulations.

Changes in these or other regulatory areas may impact Linde's profitability and may give rise to new or increased
compliance risks: it may become more compicx and costly to ensure compliance, and the level of sanctions in the event of
non-compliance may risc. Noncompliance with such laws and regulations could result in penalties or sanctions, cancellation
of marketing rights or restrictions on participation in. or ¢ven exclusion from, public tender preccedings. all of which could
have a material adverse impact on Linde’s financial results and or reputation.

Such changes may also restrict Linde’s ability to compete effectively in the marketplace. Changes to regulations in the
areas of environmental protection and climate change, for example, may impact customer and competitor behavior driving
structural changes in key end markets. While Linde will work to mitigate these risks through the pursuit of strategic alliances
and investment in applications technologies to capture new growth arcas. given the uncertainty about the type and scope of
new regulations, it is difficult to predict how such changes and their impact on market behavior will ultimately impact
Linde’s business. However, such changes could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s results of operations.

Doing business globally requires Linde 1o comply with anti-corruption, trade. compliance and cconomic sanctions and
simitar laws. and 10 implement policies and procedures designed to ensure that its employees and other intermediaries
comply with the applicable restrictions. These restrictions include prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain products,
services and any other economic resources to embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments. persons and entities,
Compliance with these restrictions requires, among other things. sereening of business partners. Despite its commitment to
legal compliance and corporate ethics. the company cannot cnsure that its policies and procedures will alwiays protect it from
intentional, reckless or negligent acts committed by cmiployees or agents under the applicable laws. If Linde Fails to comply
with laws governing the conduct of international operations, Linde may be subjeet to criminal and civil penaltics and other
remedial measures. which could materially adversely affecr its reputation, business and results of operations.

The outcome of litigation or governmental investigations may adversely impact the company’s business or results of
operations.

Linde's subsidiaries are party to various fawsuits and governmemtal investigations arising in the ordinary course of
business. Adverse outcomes in some or all of the claims pending may result in significant monetary damages or injunctive
rcliet that could adversely affect Linde’s ability to conduct business. Linde and its subsidiarics may in the future become
subject to further claims and litigauon, which is impossible to predict. The litigation and other claims Linde faces are subject
to inherent uncertainties. Legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements might give rise to expenses which are not
covered. or are not fully covered, by insurance benefits and may also Iead to negative publicity and reputational damage. An
unfaverable outcome or determination could cause a material adverse impact on the company s yesults of operations,

Potential product defects or inadequate customer care may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Risks associated with products and services may result in potential liability claims, the loss of customers or damage to
Linde’s reputation. Principal possible causes of risks associated with products and senvices are product defects or an
inadequate level of customer care when Linde 1s providing serviees.

Linde is exposed to legal risks relating to product liability in the countries where 1t operates. including countries such
as the Untted States, where legal risks (in particular through class actions) hay e historically been more significant than in
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other countries. The outcome of any pending ar future products and services proceedings or insestigations cannot he
predicted and legal or regulatory judgments or agreed sctdements may give rise to significant losses. costs and expenses.

The manufacturing and sale of products as well as the construction and sale of plants by Linde may give rise to risks
associated with the production. filling, storage. handling and transport of raw materials, goods or waste, Industrial gases are
potentially hazardous substances and medical gases and the related healtheare services must comply with the relevant
specitications in order to not adversely affect the health of patients treated with them.

Linde™s products and services, i defective or not handled or performed appropriately. may lead to personal injurics.
business interruptions. environmental danmages or other signiticant damages, which may result. among other consequences,
in liabtlity. losses, monetary penalties or compensation payments. environmental clean-up costs or other costs and expenses.
exclusion from certain market sectors deemed important for future des elopiment of the business and loss of reputation. All
these consequences could have a material adyverse effect on Linde’s business and resutts of operations.

LS. civil Habilities may not be enforceable against Linde.

Linde is organized under the laws of Treland and substantial portions of its assets are located outside of the United
States, In addition, certain directors and officers of Linde and its subsidiaries reside outside the United States, As a result. it
may be difficult for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon Linde or such persons. or to enforce
owside the United States judgments obtained against such persons in U.S. courts in any action, including actions predicated
upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws. [n addition, it may be difticult for investors to enforee,
in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located outside the United States, rights predicated upon the LS. federal
securities laws.

A judgment for the payment of moncy rendered by a court in the United States based on civil liability would not be
automatically enforceable in Ireland. There is no treaty between Ireland and the United States providing for the reciprocal
enforcement of foreign judgments. The following requirements must be met before the foreign judgment will be deemed to
be enforceable in Ireland (i) the judgment must be for a definite sum, (ii) the judgment must be final and conclusive; and
(11i) the judgment must be provided by @ court of competent jurisdiction.

An drish court will alse excreise its right to refuse judgment if the foreign judgment (i) was obtained by fraud:
(1) violated Irish public policy: (ii1) is in breach of natural justice: or (iv) 1f the judgment s irreconcilable with an carlier
forctgn judgment.

In addition. there is doubt as to whether an Irish court would aceept jurisdiction and impose civil hability on Linde or
such persons in an original action predicated solely upon the U S, tederal securities faws brought in a court of competent
Jurisdiction in Ireland against Linde or such member. officer or expert. respectively.

Changes in tax laws or pelicy could adversely impact the company’s financial position or results of operations,

Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to the tax rules and regulatdons in the U.S.. Germany, lreland. the UK. and other
countrics in which they operate. Thosce tax rules and regulations are subject to change on a prospective or retroactive basis.
Under current cconomice and pelitical conditions tax rates and policies in any jurisdiction, including the U.S., the U K. and
the EU, are subject to signiticant changes which could result in a significant change to Linde’s current and deferred income
tax. In particular. since Linde is currently treated as UK. tax resident. any potential changes in the tax rules applying to LK.
tax-resident companics would directly atfect Linde,

A change in Linde™s tax residency could have a negative effect on the company’s future profitability and may trigger
taxes on dividends or exit charges. If Linde ceases to be resident in the UK, and becomes resident in another jurisdiction. it
may be subject to UK. exit charges. and or could become liable for additional tax charges in the other jurisdiction. If Linde
wore t be treated as resident in more than one jurisdiction. it could be subject to duplicative taxation. Furthermore. although
Linde is incorporated in Ireland and s net expected to be treated as a domestic corporation tor U.S. tederal income tax
purposes, it 1s possible that the IRS could chatlenge this result or that changes in U.S. federal income tax law could alter this
result. [f the IRS successtully asserted such a position or the Taw were to change. significant ady erse tax consequences may
result for Linde, the company and Linde’s sharcholders.

Changes in tax laws may result in higher tax expense and tax payments. In addition. changes in tax legislaton and
uncertainty about the tax environment in some regions may restrict Linde’s opportunity to enforce its respective rights under
the law. Linde also operates in countrics with complex tax regulations which could be interpreted in ditferent ways. Linde
and its subsidiaries are subject to audits by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions or other review actions by the relevant
financial or tax authorities, The ultimate tax outcome may duffer from the amounts recorded in Linde™s or its subsidiaries’
financial statements and may matertally affect their respective financial results for the period when such determination is
made.




Following the Reorganization, New Linde will seek Irislt High Court approval for the creation of distributable reserves.
New Linde expects this will be forthcoming, but cannot guarantee this, and until distributable reserves of New Linde are
created, New Linde will be unable to make distributions by way of dividends, shiare repurchases or otherwise under Irish
faw.

LUnder frish law. dividends may only be paid and share repurchases and redemptions must generally be funded only ow
of “distributable reserves.” which New Linde wili not have immediately following the Reorganization. The creation of
distributable reserves of New Linde involves a reduction in New Linde's undenominated share capital which requires the
approval ef the Irish High Court. The approval of the Trish High Court 1s expected within eight weeks fellowing the
Reorganization becoming effective, This approval is the same process successiully followed by Linde immediately after the
Linde AG Praxair, Inc. merger in 2018, New Linde is not aware of any reason why the Irish High Court would not approve
the creation of distributable reserves in this manner; however, the issuance of the required order is a matter tor the discretion
of the Irish High Court. In the event that distributable reserves of New Linde are not ereated. no distributions by way of
dividends. share repurchases or otherwise will be permitied under [rish law until such time as New Linde has created
sufficient distributable reserves from its business actis ities, except that dew [inde will be able 1o pay any dividends declared
by the campany prior to the Reorganization becoming effective.



ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Linde has received no written SEC staft comments regarding any of its Exchange Act reports which remain
unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Linde’s principal exccutive offices are located in leased office space in Woking., United Kingdom and owned oftice
space in Danbury. Connecticut. Linde also owns principal administratiy ¢ office space in Tonawanda, New York, United
States and Pullach. Germany.

Due 1o the nature of Linde™s industrial gas products. it 1s generally uncconomical te transport them distances greater
than a few hundred mtles from the production tacility. As a result, Linde operates a significant number of production
facihities spread globally throughout a number of geographic regions.

The following is a description of production facilities for Linde by sepment. No significant portion of these assets was
leased at December 31, 2022, Generally, these facilities are utilized and are sufficient o meet the company s manufactuging
needs. ‘
Americas

The Americas segment operates production facilities primarily in the U.S., Canada, Mexico and Brasil, approximately
330 of which are mainly eryogenic air separation plants. hydrogen plants and carbon dioxide plants. There are tive major
pipeline complexes in North America located it northern [ndiana. Houston, along the Gulf Coast of Texas. Detroit and
Louisiana. Also located throughout the Americas are noncrvogenic air separation plants, packaged gas facilities and other
smaller plant tucthinies.
EMEA

The EMEA scgment has production tacilities primarily in Germany., Franee, Sweden. the Republic of South Africa.
and the U.K. which include approximately 275 cryogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located
throughout Europe are nonervogenic air separation pants. pipelines, hydrogen, packaged gas facihties and other smaller
plam facilities.

HAPAC

The APAC segment has production facilities located primarily in China, Austraha, India, South Korca and Thailand,
approximasely 230 of which are crvogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located throughout Asia are
noneryogenic air separation plants. pipelines. hydrogen, packaged gas and other production facilitics.

Inginecring

The Engineering business designs and constructs turnkey process plants for third-party customers as well as for the
gases businesses in many locations worldwide. such as alr separation, hydrogen. synthesis. olefin and natural gas plants.
Plant components are produced in owned tactorics in Tacherting, Germany: Hesinque, France: New York and Oklahoma.
United States; and Dalian. China.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

{nformation required by this item 1s incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Notes to Consplidated
Financial Statements - 17. Commitments and Contingencies™ in Item 8 of this 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable,



PART I
I'TEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Linde ple shares trade on the New York Steck Exchange ("NYSE™) and the Frankfurt Swcek Exchange ("FSE™) under
the ticker svinbol "LINT. At December 31, 2022 there were 7.319 sharcholders of record.

On fanuary 18, 2023, sharcholders approved the company’s proposal for an intercompuany reorganization that will
result in the delisting of its ordinary shares from the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Following the completion of legal and
regulatory approvals, Linde anticipates that the intercompany reorganization and delisting process will be compieted. and its
ordinary shares will be delisted from the Frank furt Stock Exchange. on or about March 1, 2023,

Purchases of Equine Seeurities Certain information regarding purchases made by or on behalt of the company or any
affiliated purchaser {as defined in Rule 105-181a)(3) under the Sceuritics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of its ordinary
shares during the three months ended December 31, 2022 is provided below:

Total “Zumber of

Total Shares Purchased as Approzimate Dollar
Number of Part of Publicly Value of Shares that
Shares Average Announced May Yet be Purchased
Purchased Price Paid Program (1) Under the Program (2)
Perind {Thousands) Per Share (Thonsandy (Millions)
Octoher 2022 677 S 287.57 677 S 5,832
November 2022 1.323 S 316.05 1.523 S 5.414
December 2022 138 S 333 8% 138 S 5.368
Fourth Quarter 2022 2,138 S 30KR.18 2,138 5,368
h On February 28, 2022 the company’s board of directors approved the repurchase of $10.0 billion of its ordinary

shares (72022 program™) which could take place from time to time on the open market (and could include the use of
L0b35-1 trading plans), subject to market and business conditions. The 2022 program has a maximum repurchase
amount of 13% of outstanding shares, beginning on March 1. 2022 and expires on July 31, 2024.

(2) As of December 31, 2022, the company repurchased $4.6 billion of its ordinary shares pursuant to the 20227
program. As of December 31, 20220 5.4 billion of share repurchases remain authorized under the 2022 program.

n



Peer Performuance Tuble
stock of Praxair. the company s predecessor. through October 31, 2018 and Linde™s ordinary shares for periods subsequent to
October 31, 2018 with those of the Standurd & Poor’s 300 Index ("SPX7) and the S5 Materiads Index (*S3MATR™) which
covers 29 companies, including Linde. The figures assume an inttial investment of S100 on December 31, 2017 and that all

divtdends have been reimeested.,

The graph below compares the most recent Rve-year cumulativ e returns of the commeon

5250 A
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Z 5150 - /I/ =
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e o
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530 T T T f T T
2017 RIVIE 2019 2020 2021 2022
—l— SPX S5MATR
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LIN S100 5103 S143 S180 S240 S230
SPX S100 S96 S126 S149 S192 S157
SSMATR S100 S5 5106 S128 5163 S143
ITEM 6. RESERVED

Not applicable.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDHTION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the company s financial condition and results of operations should be read together with

its consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements included i Item § of this Form 10-K.

Business Overview

Exccutive Summary  Financial Results & Outlook
Conselidated Results and Osher Intormation

Scgment Discussion

Liquidity. Capital Resources and Other Financial Data
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Critical Accounting Estimates

New Accounting Standards

Fair Value Measurements

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Supplemental Guarantee Information

Page



BUSINESS OVERVIEW

L'he company’'s primary products in its industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (0xXygen, nitrogen, argon, rarg
gases) and process gascs {carbon dioxide, helium, hyvdrogen. clectronic gases, specialty gases. acetylene). The company also
designs, engineers, and builds equipment that produces industrial gases and offers its customers a wide range of gas
production amd processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants. air separation plants. hydrogen and synthesis gas
plants and other types ot plants.

Linde’s industrial gas operations are managed on a geographical basis and in 2022 86% of sales were generated by
Linde’s three geographic segments (Americas. EMEA and APAC} and the remaining 14%, are related largely to the
“ngineering segment, a 0 a lesser exten er {see Note o the consolidated financial statements (¢ Crating seymet
Engincering segment. and to a lesser extent Oth Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for operating seament
details),

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healtheare, chemicals and energy, manutacturing. metals and
mining, tood and beverage. and electronics, The diversity of end-markets supports financial stability for Linde in varied
business eycles.

Linde generates most of its revenues and carnings in the following geographics where the company has its strongest
market postions and where distribution and production eperations allow the company to deliver the highest level of service
to its customers at the lowest cost.

North and South America (“-Americas™) Furope, Middle Fast and Africa ("EMENT) Asia and Pacific (AP ACT)
United States Giermany China
Brazil United Kingdom Australia
Mexico fzastern Europe South Korca
Canada India

The company manufactures and distributes its industoial gas products through networks of thousands of production
planis, pipeline complexes, distribution centers and delivery vehicles. Major pipeline complexes are primarily located in the
United States and China. These networks are a competitiy ¢ advantage, providing the foundation of rehable product supply to
the company’s customer base. The magjority of Linde™s business is conducted through long-term contracts which provide
stability in cash flow and the ability o pass through changes in energy and feedstock costs o customers. The company has
growth opportunitics in all major geographies and in diverse end-markets such as healtheare, chemieals and energy,
manufacturing. metals and mining. foed and beverage, and electronics.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY — FINANCIAL RESULTS & OUTLOOK
2022 Year in review

«  Sales of $33.364 mitlion were 8% above 2021 sales of $30,793 million. Higher pricing across all geographic
segments contributed 7% to sales. Cost pass-through increased sales by 6% with minimal impact on operating
profit, Volume increased sales by 1%, Currency translation decreased sales by 5%. largely in EMEA and APAC.
Divestitures decreased sales by 1%

+  Reported operating profit of $3.369 million was 8% above 2021, Adjusted operating profit of $7,904 million was
10%5 above 2021, The increase in the reported operating profit was primarily due o higher pricing, productivity
nitiatives and lower depreciation and ameortization driven by merger related assers. which more than offset
Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges and the adverse impacets of inflation and currency in the year. The
increase in adjusted operating profit increase was primarily due to higher pricing and productivity initiatives,
which more than oftsct the adverse impacts of inflation and currency in the vear.*

+ Income from continuing operations of 4,147 mullion and diluted carnings per share from continuing operations
of S8.23 increased from $3.821 million and $7.32. respectively in 2021, Adjusted income from continuing
aperations of $6.193 million and adjusted diluted carnings per share from continuing operations of S12.29 were
11% and 15%. respectively above 2021 adjusted amounts. ™

»  (Cash flow from operations of $8.864 million was $861 million below 2021, The decrease was driven by higher
working capital requirements. including lower inflows from contract liabilities from engineering customer
advanced payments, partially oftset by higher net income adjusted for non cash charges. Capital expenditures
were $3.173 million; dividends paid were $2,344 million: net purchases of ordinary shares of $5,132 million; and
debt borrowings, net were $4.4735 million.

*A reconciliation of the adjusted amounts can be found in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ section in this
MD&A.
2023 Ouilook

Linde provides quarterly updates on operating results, material trends that may affect finaneial performance, and
financial guidance via carnings releases and investor teleconferences. These materials are available on the company s
website, www linde.com. but are not incorporated herein.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The discussion that follows includes a comparison of our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources for
the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, For the discussion comparing the vears ended December 31, 2021 and 20240,
refer to Part 11, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. of our

Form HI-K for the yecar ended December 310 2021,

The following table provides summary information tor 2022 and 2021, The reported amounts are GAAP amounts from
the Consolidated Statements of Income. The adjusted amounts are intended to supplement investors’ understanding of the

company’s Hnancial information and are not a substinute for GAAP measures.

(Millions of dallars, except per share data)

Y car Ended December 31, 2022 2021 Variance

Reported Amounts

Sales S 333648 30,793 8%

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization S 19450 S 17.543 L%
As g pereent of sales 58.3% 57.0%

Selling. general and administrative S 3107 S 31R8Y (3%
As a pereent of sales 9.3% 10.4%,

Depreciation and amortization S 4204 S 4635 (Y%

Russia-Ukraine contlict and other charges (a) S 1.029 S 273

Operating Profit § 3369 S 4984 K2
Opcrating margin 16. 1% 16.2%

Interest expense - net S 63 S 77 (18)%

Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost S (2371 S (192) 23 %4

Etfective tax rate 239 23 7%

Income from equity investments 5 172§ 119 35 %

Noncontrolling interests from continuing eperations 5 (134 5 (135) (1%

Ineome trom continuing operations 5 4147 8 3821 995

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations S 823 S 732 [2%

Diluted shares outstanding 504038 521.875 (3%

Number of employees 65.010 72.327 (10

Adjusted Amounts (b)

Operating profit S 7o04 S 776 10 %
Operating margin 2370 23.3%

Income from continuing operations S 6195 5 5579 1Y%

Difuted carnings per share from continuing eperations S 1229 S 10.69 15 %

Other Financial Dara ()

LEBITDA tfrom continuing opcerations S 974 S 9.73% Yo
As pereent of sales 29.2%, 31.6%

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations S 10873 S 10179 70
As perecent of sales 32.6% ERN RN

(a) See Note 3w the consolidated fingneral statements.

{b) Adjusted amounts and Other Financial Data are non-GAAP performance measures. A reconciliation of reported

amounts to adjusted amounts can be found in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ section of this MD& A
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Results of Operations

The following table provides a summary of chanves in conselidated sales:

2022 vs, 2021
% Change

Factors Contributing te Changes - Sales

Volume | o
Price/Mix 70,
Cost pass-through 6 "
Currency {5)
Acquisittons divestitures (1%
Engincering S0

8 %

2022 Compured With 2021
Sales

Linde sales increased $2.571 million, or 8%, for the 2022 year versus 2021, Higher pricing across all geographic
seginents contributed 7% 10 sales. Cost pass-through. representing the contractual billing of energy cost variances primarily
to onsite customers, increased sales by 6%, with minimal impact on operating profit. Volume growth in all end markets,
except healtheare, and startups increased sales by 1%. Currencey translation decreased sales by 3%, largely in EMEA and
APAC. driven by the weakening of the Euro, Chinese yuan. British pound and Australian dollar against the U.S. dollar. The
impact of divestitures decreased sales by 1%.

Cost ef sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, mercased $1.947 million, or 11%. for the year primarily due
to inflation and higher volumes. partially otfset by productivity gains and currency effects. Cost of sales, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization, was 58.3% and 37.0% ot sales. respectively, in 2022 compared to 2021, The increase as a
percentage of sales was due primarily to higher cost pass-through to customers.

Selling, general and udministrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expense ("SG&AT) decreased S82 million, from $3,189 in 2021 to 83,107 million
in 2022 SG&A was 9.3% of sales in 2022 versus 10.4% in 2021, Curreney impacts decreased SG&A by approximately
S127 million in 2022, Excluding currency impacts. underlying SG&A increased primarily due to higher costs.

Depreciation and amortization

Reported depreciation and amortization cxpense decrcased $43 1 million, or 924 versus 2021, The decrcase is primarily
duc to lower depreciation and amortization of assets acquired in the merger and currency impacts.

= -

On an adjusted basis. depreciation and amortization expense deercased 549 million, or 2% versus 2021, Currency
impacts decreased depreciation and amortization by $123 million in 2022, Excluding curreney impacts, underiving
deprectation and amortization increased including new project start ups.

Russiu-Uhraine conflict and vther churges

Russia-Ukrame conflict and other charges were $1.029 million and 5273 mithon for 2022 and 2021, respectively. The
charge for 2022 relates primarily to the deconsolidation and impairment of Russian subsidiaries resuliing from the ongoing
war 1 Ukraine and related sanetions recorded as of June 30, 2022 2021 charges relate to cost reduction program and other
charges, primarily scverance (see Note 3 1o the condensed consolidated financial statements),

On an adjusted basis, these benefits and costs have been excluded in both periods.

Operating profit

Reported operating profit increased S385 million in 2022, or 8%. On an adjusted basis, operating profit increased
$728 million. or 10%, for 2022 versus 2021,

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 5383 million. or 8% in 2022, The increase was primarily due to higher
pricing, volumes, savings from productivity initatives, and lower depreciation and amortization driven by merger related
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assets. These increases more than offset the adserse impacts of inflation and currency in the vear as well as the Russia-
Ukraine contlict and other charges of $1.0249 million. Cost reduction programs and other charges was $273 million in 2021
On an adjusted basis. which excludes the impacts of purchase accounting as well as Russia-Ukraine contlict and other
charges, operating profit increased $728 mithon, or 10%,. Operating profit growth was driven by higher pricing, volumes and
productivity initiatives, which more than oftset the effects of inflation and currency during the period. A discussion of
operating profit by scament is inctuded in the segment discussion that follows.
Interest expense - net
Reported interest expense net in 2022 deereased S14 million. or 18%, versus 2021, On an adjusted basis interest
cxpense decreased $32 million. or 23% in 2022 as compared to 2021,
On both a reported and adjusted basis, the decrease year over year was driven pnimarily by higher interest income on
cash deposits. partially oftset by higher borrowing costs on short-term debt. '
Net pension and OPER cost (benefit), excluding service cost
Reported net pension and OPEB cost (henefit), exeluding service cost were benefits of $237 million and $192 million
in 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase in benefit primarily refates to lower amortization of deferred losses, partially
offset by higher interest cost reflective of the higher discount rate ey ironment vear-over-year (see Note 16 1o the
consolidated financial statements).
Effective tax rate
The reported effective tax rate (CETR7) for 2022 was 25.9% versus 24.7% in 2021, The increase in the rate 1s primarily
related to the net tax expense resulting {rom the deconsolidation and impairment of the company s business in Russia in i
2022. 2021 included g deferred income tax charge related to the revaluation of net deferred tax habilities for a tax rate ‘
increase in the United Kingdom (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).
On an adjusted basis, the ETR for 2022 was 24.2% versus 24.1% i 2021,
Income from equity investments

Reported income from cquity investments for 2022 was S172 milhion as compared to $119 milhon in 2021. On an
adjusted basis, income [Tfom equity inyvesuments for 2022 was 247 million versus $231 million in 2021,

On a reported basis, the vear-over-year inercase in income trom cquity investments was due o a S35 million
impairment charge taken in the third quarer of 2021 related o a jomt venture in the APAC seament.

O an adjusted hasis, the year-over-vear increase inincome frony equity investments was primarily driven by the
overall performance of invesunents in APAC,
Nowncontrofling interests from continuing operations

At December 31, 2022 noncontralling interests from continumg operations consisted primartly of nancontrolling
sharcholders™ investments in APAC (primarily in China).

Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing opetations deereased S million, from 5135 millien in 2021 to
S134 mitlion in 2022,

Adjusted noncontrolling interests from continuing operations increased S6 million in 2022 as compared to 2021,
Income from continuing operations

Reported income from continuing operations increased $326 million. or 9%, On an adjusted basis, which excludes the
impacts of purchase accounting and Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges, income from continuing operations increased
S616 mitlion, or 11" in 2022 versus 2021, On both a reported and adjusted basis. the increase was dris en by higher
operating profit.
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

Reported diluted carnings per share from continuing operations increased $0.91, or 12%. in 2022 us compared o 2021,
On an adjusted basis. diluted EPS o $12.29 in 2022 increased 13% sersus 2021, The increase on both reported and adjusted
basis was primaritly duc to higher income from continuing operations and lower diluted shares outstanding.
Employees

The number of emplovees at December 31, 2022 was 65,010, a decrease of 10%0, or 7.317 employees from 2021,
primarily driven by the sale of GIST business. cost reduction initiatin s and the deconsolidation of Russian subsidiaries in the
EMEA and Engineering segments.
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Other Financial Data

EBITDA [ront continuing operations increased 1o 59,745 million in 2022 from 59,738 millwon in 202 1. Adjusted
EBITDA from continuing operations ingreased to $10.873 million tor 2022 as compared to S10.179 mtllion in 2021,
primarily due to higher adjusted income trom continuing operations plus depreciation and amortization versus the prior
pettod.

See the “"Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ seetion for definitions and recongiliations of these non-GAAP measures to
reported GAAP amounts.

Othrer Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2022 was a foss of $778 miflion resulied
primarily from curreney transtation adjustments ot S1,835 million. partialiy offset by an increasce in the funded status of the
company’s retirement obligations of 1,070 million driven by @ higher discount rate emvironment. The translation
adjustments retlect the impact of translating local currency foreign subsidiary financial statements to U.S. dollars, ard are
largely driven by the movement of the LS, dollar against major currencies including the kuro, the Chinese yuan and the
British pound. See the "Currency™ scction of the MD&A for exchange rates used for translation purposes and Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements for a summary of the currencey translation adjustment component of accumulated other
comprehensive income by segment.

Related Party Transactions

The company s related partics are primarily unconsolidated equity affiliates. The company did not engage in any
material transactions involving related parties that included terms or other aspects that differ from those which would be
negottated with independent parties.

Environmental Matters

Linde's principal operations relate to the production and distribution of atmospheric and other industrial gasces, which
for the most part are used 1o help customers reduce their emissions. Worldwide costs relating to ensiranmental protection
may continue to grow due te increasingly siringent laws and regulations. In addition, Linde may face phyvsical risks from
climate change and extreme weather.

Climate Chunge

Linde operates in jurisdictions that have, or are developing, laws and’or regulations to reduce or mitigate the adverse
effects of greenhouse gas ("GHG™) emissions and therefore fuces a highly uncertain regutatory environment in this area. For
exampie, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA™)Y has promulgated rules requiring reporting of GHG emissions
to which Linde. its suppliers and customers are subject to. EPA has also promulgated regulations to restrict GHG emissions,
including final rules regulating GHG emissions from light-duty v chicles and certain large manutacturing facilities, many of
which are Linde supplicrs or customers. [n addition to these developments in the United States, several other countries
worldwide have already implemented carbon taxation or trading systems which impact the company and its customers.
including regulations in China. Singapore and the European Union. Among other impacts, such regulations are expected to
raise the cost of encrgy, which is a significant cost for Linde. Nevertheless, Linde's long-term customer contracts routinely
provide rights to recover mereased electricity. natural gas, and other costs that are incurred by the company as a result of
climate change regulation.

Linde anticipates continued growth in hydrogen sales due to inercased focus on decarbonization projects. Traditionally,
hydrogen production plants and a large number of other manufacturing and clectricity-gencrating plants have been identified
in California and the European Union ax a source of carbon dioxide emissions and these plants are subject to cap-and-trade
regulations in those jurisdictions. Linde belicves it will be able 1o mitigate the costs of these regulations through the terms of
its product supply contracts. However, legislation that limits GG emissions may impact growth by increasing capital.
campliance, operating and maintenance costs and or decrcasing demand.

To manage business risks from current and potenual GHG emission regulation as well as physical consequences of
chmate change, Linde actively monitors current develepments. evaluates the dircet and indirect business risks, and takes
appropriate actions. Among others, actions include: increasing reles ant resources and training: maintaining contingency
plans: obtaining advice and counsel {rom expert vendors, insurance providers and industry experts; incorporating GHG
provisions in commercial agreements; and conducting regular reviews of the business risks with management. Although
there are considerable uncertainties. Linde belies es that the business risk from potential regulations can be effectively
managed through its commercial contracts. Additionally. Linde does not anticipate any material effects regarding its plant
operations or business arising from potential physical risks of ¢limate change.
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Linde continuously secks opportunitics o optimize energy use and (tHG emissions through research and development
in customer applications and rigorous operational energy efficiency. sourcing low-carbon source energy. and purchasing
hiydrogen as a chemical by product where feasible. Linde tracks GHG emission performanee versus targets and reports
regularly to business management and annually to Linde’s Board of Directors. [n 2021, a new Sustainability Committee was
created. The Committee is responsible for oversight of the Company s programs. palicies and strategics related to
envirenmental matters, including climate change. greenhouse gas reduction goals and decarbonization solutions. such as
clean energy and carbon management.

At the same time. external factors may provide Linde with future business opportunitics. For example, in 2022, several
picces of legislation were enacted. including the Inflation Reduction Actin the U.S., which provides for investments in
decarbonization opportunitics including hydrogen projects. Other factors include governmental regulation of GHG and other
cmissions; uncertain costs of energy and certain natural resources: the deselopment of renewable energy alternatives: and
new technologies that help extract natural gas, improve air quality. increase energy cfficiency and mitigate the impacts of
climate change. Linde continues ta develop new applications that can help customers lower emissions by reducing encrgy
consumption and increasing product throughput. Stricter regalation of water quality i emerging cconomies such as China
provide a growing market for a number of gases. ¢.g.. oxygen for wastew ater treatment. Increased concern about drought in
arcas such as California and Australia may create additional markets for carbon dioxide for desalination. Renewable fucl
standards in the European Union and LS. can create a market for second-generation biofuels which use industrial gases such
as oxygen, carbon dioxide, and hydrogen.

Costs Relating to the Protection of the Lovironment

Ly ironmental protection costs in 2022 were not signiticant. Linde anticipates that future annual environmental
protection expenditures will be similar to 2022, subject to any signiticant changes in existing laws and regulations. Based on
historical results ane current estimates, management does not belicve that environmental expenditures will have a materiat
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position. the consolidaied results of aperations or cash flows in any given vear.

Legal Proceedings

Sce Note 17 to the consolidated financial stalements for information concernig legal proceedings.
Retirement Benefits
Pensions

The net periodic benefit cost (benefit) for the U.S. and non-U S, pension plans wis a benefitof STIHO milleon,
S35 million and 825 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectinely.

The funded status (pension benefit obligation ("PBO7) less the tair value of plan assets) for the US. plans wis a deficit
of $23% million and $271 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectivelv. The funded status for non-ULS. plans was a
surplus of S208 million and deficit of S1.430 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Both the U.S. and
non-t,.S. plans derived the benefit from a lower PBO due to an increase in discount rates.

Global pension contributions were $31 million in 2022, 842 million in 2021, and 891 million in 2020, Ata minimum.
Linde contribuies to its pension plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (e.g., ERISA in the U.S.}. Discretionary
contributions in cxcess of the local minimum requirements ate made based on many factors. including long-term projections
of the plans’ tunded status, the cconomic environment. potential risk of overfunding, pension insurance costs and alternative
uscs of cash. Changes to these factors can impact the timing of discretionary contributions from year to year. Estimated
required contributions for 2023 are currently expected to be in the range of S30 million to $30 million.

Linde assumes expected returns on plan assets for 2023 of 7.00% and 5,600 for the U8 and non-L.S. plans.
respectively. which are consistent with the long-term expected returns on its investment portfolios,

Excluding the impact of any scttlements. 2023 consolidated pension expense 1s expected to be a benefit of
approximatcly S118 million. The benefit derived from the expeeted return on assets assumption for Linde™s most significant
plans is anticipated to more than offset the expense from service and interest cost accruals and the higher amortization of
deferred losses.

Refer to the Critical Accoeunting Estimates section and Note 16 o the consolidated financial statements for @ more
detatled discussion of the company”s retirement benetits, including a description of the various retirement plans and the
assumptions used in the calculation of net periodic benefit cost tbenefit) and funded status.




Insurance

Linde purchases insurance to limit a varicty of property and casualty risks. including those related to praperty, business
interruption, third-party liability and workers” compensation. Currently, the company self retamns up to S10 million per
oceurrence for vehicle lability in the United States, $3 million per oceurrence for workers™ compensation and general
fability. In addition. the company self retains risk up to €5 miltion at its various propertics worldwide tor property damage
resulting from fire, flood and ather perils atfecting its propertics along with a separate €5 million deductible on all business
nterruption resulting from a major peril foss. To mitigate its aggregate loss potential above these retentions. the company
purchases catastrophic insurance coverage from highly rated insurance companies. The company does not currently operate
OF purtictpate in any captive insurance companics or other non-traditional risk transfer alternatives.

At December 31, 2022 and 2621, the company had recorded a total of $71 miltion and $73 million. respectively.,
representing an cstimate of the retained lability for the ultimate cost of claims incurred and unpaid as of'the balance sheet
dates. The estimated liability is established using statistical analysis and 1s based upon historical experience. actuarial
assumptions and professional judgment. These estimates are subject o the effects of trends n loss severity and freguency and
are subject to a significant degree of inherent variability. 1f actual elaims differ from the company’s estimates. they will be
adjusted at that time and financial results could be impacted.

Linde recognizes estimated insurance proceeds relating to damages at the time of toss only to the extent of incurred
fosses. Any insurance recoverics for business interruption and for property damages in exeess of the net book value of the
property are recognized only when realized or pending payments confirmed by its insurance companies.
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SEGMENT DISCUSSION

Linde’s operations constst of two major product lines: industrial gases and engineering. As further described i the
tollowing paragraph. Linde’s industrial gases operations are managed on a gevgraphic hasis. which represents three of the
company s reportable scgments - Americas. EMEA (Europe Middle East: Africa), and APAC (AswuSouth Pacitic); a tourth
reportable scgment. which represents the company™s Engincening business, designs and manufactures equipment for air
separation and other industrial gas applications specitically for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating,
in all geographic scgments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually do not meet the
quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

The industrial gases product line conters on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases (oxyvgen, nitrogen,
argon. rare gases) and process gascs (carbon dioxide. heliunm. hvdrogen. clectronic gases. specialty gases. acetvlene). Many
of these products are co-products of the same manufacturing process. Linde manufactures and distiibutes nearly all of i
products and manages its customer relationships on a regional basis. Linde’s industrial gases are distributed to various
end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage: merchant or bulk:
and packaged or cyviinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s necds
and very few of its products can be cconomically transported outside of a region. Therefore, the distribution economics are
specific to the various geographies in which the company operates and are consistent with how nmanagement asscsses
performance.

The company 's measure of profit‘loss for segment reporting purposes is segment operating profit. Scgment operating
profit is defined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger. mtercompany royaltics.
and items not indicative of ungoing business trends. This is the manner in which the company™s Chief Operating Decision
Maker (CODNMT) assesses performance and allocates resources.

The table below presents sales and vperating profit information about reportable segments and Other for the years
ended December 31,2022 and 202E,

(Mitlicns af dellars)

Y ear Ended December 31, 2022 2021 Variance
Sales
Americas S 13.874 5 12103 15%
EMEA 8.443 7.643 10%
APAC 6.480 6,133 6%
Engincering 2762 2867 (42
Other 1.805 2047 (12)%
Total sales S 33364 S 30.793 B

Operating Profit

Amerieas S 37328 3368 1%
EMEA 2013 1. 889 7%
APAC [.670 1502 1 1%
Engincering 553 473 17%
Other (66) (36) (18
Segiment operating profit 7.904 7176 10”6
Reconciiiation to reported operating profit :
Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges {Note 3) (L0229 (273)
Purchase accounting tmpacts — Linde AG (1.53006) (1919
Total operating profit S 53698 4,984




Americas

(Ballar arerits & ieitlionsy

Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Operating profit

As a percent of sales

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume

Price/Mix

Cost pass-through

Curreney

AcquisitionsDivestitures

Variance
2022 2021 2022 vs, 2021
13874 8 12.103 15%
3.732 S 3.368 1%

26.9% 27 8%

2022 s, 2021

% Change

The Americas segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 20 countries including the United

States, Canada, Mexico and Brazil.

Sales

Sales for the Americas segment increased 51,771 million, or 15%. in 2022 versus 2021, Higher pricing contributed 6%
to sales. Higher volumes increased sales by 4%, driven by higher demand across all end markets except healtheare, led by
chemicals and energy. Cost past-through increased sales by 5% with minimal impact on operating profit,

Operating Profir

Operating profit in the Americas segment increased $364 million, or 11%, in 2022 versus 2021 driven primarily by
higher pricing, volumes and continued productivity initiatives which mere than offset inflation.

EMWEA

{Dollar amounis in miflions}

Y ear Ended December 31,

Sales
Operating profit
As apereent of sales

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume

Price/Mix

Cost pass-through

Currency

Acquisitions/Divestitures

Variance

2022 2021 2022 vs. 2021

S K443 S 7.643 10%

S 2013 5 1.889 %0
23.8% 24.7%

2022 vs, 2021

% Change

(3
13 %
13 %
(1Yo
(2)%

10 %



The EMEA scgment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 435 Furopean. Middle Eastern and
African countries including Gernmany. the UK. France, Sweden and the Republic of South Africa
Sales

EMEA segment sales inercased S800 miltion, or 10%. m 2022 versus 2021 Higher price attainment increased sales by
13%. Cost pass-through. representing the contractual billing of cnergy cost variances primarily 1o onsite customers. ereased
sales by 13%0 with minimal impact on operating profit. Currency transkation decreased sales by 1% due largely to the
weakening of the Eure and Briush pound against the U.S, Dollar. Volume decreased sales by 3%, The impact of net
divestitures decreased sales by 296 primarily duc to the deconsolidation of Russian substdiaries as of June 30, 2022,
Opcrating Profit

Operating Profit for the EMEA segment increased $124 million, or 7%, in 2022 versus 2021 The increase was driven
largely by higher pricing and continued productivity initatiy es which more than offset currency. inflation and divestitures.

APAC

tDollar amonnrs in miflions) Variance

Year Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2022 35,2021

Sales S 0.480 S 6.133 6%

Operating protit S 1.670 S 1.502 1%
As apereent of sales 25.8% 24.3%

202215, 2021
% Change

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales

Volume/bquipment 3 %
Price Mix 5%
Cost pass-through 2 %
Currency (5%
Acquisitions Divestitures %

6 “ )]

The APAC segment includes Linde™s industrial gases operations in approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries
and regions including China. Australia. India and South Korca.

Sales

Sales for the APAC segment increased S347 million. or 6%, 1n 2022 sersus 2021, Volume increased 3% including
project start-ups in the electronics and chemtcals and energy end markets. Higher price mercased sales by 5%, Cost pass-
through increased sales by 2% with minimal impact on operating profit. Currencey transladon decreased sales by 6%o driven

g - p= - -
pomarily by the weakening of the Australian dollar. Korcan won and Chinese Yuan against the U.S. Dollar.

Operating Profit

Operating profit in the APAC segment increased $168 million. or [1%.1n 2022 versus 2021 The increiase was
= =]
primarily driven by higher volumes and pricing and continued productiv ity initiatives which more than offset the impact of
currency and inflaton,




Enginecring

(Pollar amonnis in mitlions)

Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Operating profit

As a pereent of sales

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume

Curreney

Sales

Variance

2022 2021 2022 vs. 2021

S 2762 S 2.867 (4)"o

5 535 % 473 17%
20.1% 16.5%

2022 vy, 2021
Yo Change

3%
(9
()

Engineering scgment sales deereased S103 million, or 4%, in 2022 versus 2021 . The decrease was driven by project
timing and negative currency translation, partially oftset by a $321 million project progress recognition during the third

quarter.

Projects tor Russia that were sanctioned and have been wound down represented approximately S894 million of the

Cngineering segment sales during 2022,

Operating profit

Engincering scgment operating profit increased S82 miltion. or 1

%o, 11 2022 versus 2021 driven by the

aforcmentioned third gquarter project and a fourth guarter project settlement, partially oftset by other project timing and

curreney impacts.
Other

(Dollar amaonnis in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Opcrating profit

As a percent of sales

Factors Caontributing to Changes - Sales
Volume Price

Cost pass-through

Curreney

Acquisitions. Divestitures

Variance

2022 2021 2022 vs. 2021

S 1,805 S 2047 (12)%%
S 66y S {56) (182
(3.7 (2.7)%

2022 vs. 2021

% Change

3 %
%
(400
(12)%
( 1 2 )q,;]

Other consists of corporate costs and a tew smaller businesses including: Surface Technologies, GIST and global
helium whelesale; which individually do not mect the quantitaiive thresholds for separate presentation.



Sales

Sales tor Other decreased $242 million, or 1296, in 2022 versus 2021, Divestitures decreased sales by 12%0 due
primarily to the sale ot the GIST business as of September 30, 2022, Currency translation decreased sales by 4% Underlying
sales increased 395 in the year driven primarily by price and higher volumes of aviation and electronic sales in the coatings
business. Cost pass-through inercased sales by 1% i 2022,

Sales of the GIST business which was divested as of Sepiember 30, 2022 represented approximatety $630 million of
Other sales during the nine months ended September 30, 2022,

Operating profit

Opcrating profit in Other deercased $10 million, or 18%, in 2022 versus 2021 duc primarily to higher sourcing costs i
the global helium business and the impact of divestitures. partiatly oftset by lower corporate costs .

Currency

Fhe results of Linde’™s non-U.S. operations are translated to the company s reporting currency, the U8, dollar, from the
functional currencies used in the countries in which the company operates, For most foreign operations, Linde uses the local
currency as its functional currency. There is inherent variability and unpredictability in the relationship of these funcrional
currencies 1o the U.S. dollar and such currency movements may materially impact Linde's results of operations in any given
period.

To help understand the reperted results, the following is a swmmary of the significant currencics underlying Linde’s
consolidated results and the exchange rates used to transtate the financial statements (rates of exchange expressed 1n units of
local currency per U.S. dollar):

Percent of Statements of lncome Balanee Sheets
('nnfrl:lzifiated Aserape Year Ended December 34 December 31,
Currency Sales 2022 2021 2012 2021
Euro 219 0.95 0.85% 0.93 ()88
Chingse yuan &% 6.72 6.45 690 6.36
British pound 6% 1.8t .73 (.83 0.74
Australian dollar 4% 1.44 1.33 1.47 1.38
RBrazitian real 4% 516 5.39 528 5.58
Korean won 3% 1.286 1.144 1.266 1189
Canadian dollar 3y 36 1.25 1.36 1.26
Mexican peso 200 2010 20.2% 19.30 2053
Indian rupee 2% 78.49 73.91 82.73 74.34
Republic of South African rand 1%% 16.30 14.77 £7.04 15.94
Swedish krona 194 10.08 8.5% 10.43 9.03
Thailand bhat 1%% 3496 31.93 3461 3340
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

(Mitiions of doliars)
Y car Ended December 31, 2022 2021

Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities

Income trom continuming vperations (including noncontrolling interests) S 4281 5 3936
Non-cash charges {credits 1
Add: Russia-Ukraine and other charges, net of payments (a) 902 98
Add: Depreciation and amortization 4204 4.635
Add (Less)y: Deferred income taxes (383) 1234
Add (Less): Non-cash charges and other 38 109
Income from continuing operations adjusted lor non-cash charges and other 9,002 8,544
Less: Pension contributions (51) {42)
Add (Less): Working capital (310) 1. 148
Add (Less)y: Other 163 73
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activitics S 8864 S 9725

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures S (3,173) § (3,086)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (E10) (88)
Drivestitures and asset sales, net of cash divested 195 167
Net cash provided by (uscd for) investing activities S (3.088) § (3,007)
Financing Activities
Debr increases (decreases) — net S 4475 S (Al
[ssuances {purchases) of ordinary shares - net (5,132} (4,562)
Cash dividends - Linde ple sharcholders (2.344) (2.189)
Noncontrolling interest transuctions and other (88} (323)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activitics S (3.,089) S (7,388)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash Y (74§ (6
Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period S 5436 S 2823
(a) See Note 3 1o the consolidated financial statements.

Cash increased §2,613 million in 2022 versus 2021, The primary sources of cash in 2022 were cash tflows from
aperations of $8.864 million and debt borrowings, net of 4,475 nullion. The primary uses of cash included capital
expenditures of $3.173 mitlion, nct purchases of ordinary shares of $5.132 million, cash dividends to sharcholders of
52,344 milhon.

2022 compared with 2021
Cash Flows From Operations

Cash flows from aperations was $8.864 million. a decrease of $8a1 million from 2021 The decrease was driven
primarily by higher working capital requirements, including lower inflows from contract liabilities from engineering
customer advanced payments, partiatly offset by higher net income adjusted for non cash charges. Russia-Ukraine conflict
and vther charges. net of payiments, were $902 mitlion and S98 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, representing charges of $1.029 miilion and $273 million act of related cash outflows of $127 million and
S173 million, respectively, in cach period.

As of December 31, 2022, Linde has approximately $1.7 billion recorded in contract fiabilities within the consolidated
balance sheet related to engineering projects in Russia. Any obligation to satisfy the related residual contract liabilitics may
have anadverse effect on Linde’s cash flows.



Investing

Net cash used for investing activities was S3.088 million in 2022 compared 10 $3.007 million in 202 1. The increase
was primarify driven by higher capital expenditures and acquisitions, partially offset by proceeds from divestitures. net of
cash divested and asset sales.

Capital expenditures in 2022 were 83,173 million. an inerease of S87 mithon from 2021, Capital expenditures during
2022 related primartly to investments in new plant and production equipment for operating and grow th reguirements.
Approximately 32% of the capital expenditures were in the Americas scgiment with 27%6 in the APAC segment and the rest
primarily in the EMEA scgment.

At December 31, 2022 Linde™s sale of gas backlog of large projects under construction wis approsimately
S5.7 billion. This represents the total estimated capital cost of large plants under construction.

Acquisitions. not of cash acquired for 2022 were $110 million. an increase of S22 million from 2021, Acquisitions. net
of cash acquired for the year ended December 31, 2021 were S88 million. Acquisitions in each period related primarily to the
Americas and EMEA. On January 6. 20230 Linde purchased the remaining 77.2% ownership interest in nex:Air. LLC 10 an all
cash transaction with a tota] purchase price of approximately S0.8 billion (sce Note 20 to the consolidated finuncial
stTAtements).

Divestitures and asset sales. net of cash divested in 2022 were SE95 million as compared 1o $567 milbion jn 202].
Divestiture procecds for the year include cash received from the sale of the company™s GIST business of S184 mitlion. net of
cash divested of $73 million, for net procecds of $109 million (Sec Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements).

Financing

Linde™s financing strategy is to secure long-term committed funding by issuing public notes and debentures and
commercial paper backed by a long-term bank credit agreement. Linde’s international operations arc funded through a
combination of local borrowing and intercompany funding to minimize the total cost of funds and to manage and centralize
currency exchange exposures. As deemed necessary. Linde manages its exposure to interest-rate changes through the use of
financial derivatives (see Note 12 10 the consolidated financral statements and [rem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk).

Casb uxed tor Anancing actiyirics was 83,089 million in 2022 comparcd 10 S7.58% nullion 1n 2021, Cash provided by
debt was 54,475 million in 2022 versus cash used for debt of 8514 million in 202§ primarily driven by higher commereial
paper borrowings and debt issuances in 2022, Net purchases of ordinary shares were 85,132 million in 2022 versus
$4.562 million in 2021, Cash dividends increased to $2 344 million in 2022 versus 52,189 miilion in 2021 driven primasily
by a 10% increase in dividends per share 1o $4.68 per share trom 54,24 per share. partially offset by ower shares
outstanding. Cash used for Noncontrolling interest transaciions and other was $88 million for the vear ended December 31,
2022 versus cash used of $323 million tor the respective 2021 period primarly due to the scttlement of the buyout of
minority interests in the Republic of South Africa in 2021,

I'he company believes that it has sufficient operating Hlexability, cash reserves. and funding sources to mamtain
adequate amounts of liquidity to meet its business needs around the world. At December 31, 2022, Linde's credit ratings as
reported by Standard & Poor’s and Moody's were A-1 and P-1 for short-term debt. respectively. and A and A2 for long-term
debt, respectively.

Note 11 to the consotidated financial statements includes information with respeet to the company 's debt activity in
2022, current debt position. debt covenants and the available eredit facilitics: and Note 12 includes information relating to
derivative financial instruments. Linde’s credit tacilities are with mgjor financial institutions and are non-cancelable untl
maturity. Therefore. the company belioves the risk of the financial institutions being unable to muake required loans under the
credit facilities, if requested. to be low. Linde’s major bank credit and long-term debt agreements contain standard conenants.
The company was in compliance with these covenants m December 31, 2022 gnd expects 1o remain in comptiance for the
toresceable future.

The company maintains a $3 billion and a $1.5 billion unsccured and undrawn revolving credit agreements with no
associated financial covenants. No borrowings were outstanding under the credit agreements as of December 31, 2022, The
company does not anticipate any limitations op its abiliry 1o aceess the debt capital markers and or other external funding
sourees and remains committed 10 its strong rutings from Moody 's and Standard & Poor’s.

Linde s total net debt outstanding at Decemnber 31,2022 was S12.478 million. S1.094 million higher than
STE384 million at December 31,2021, The December 31, 2022 net debt balance includes S17.361 million in public
sceurities. and $333 million representing primarily worldwide bank borrowings. net of $3.436 milhion of cash. Linde™s global
cifectiv e borrow ing rate was approximately 1.7%0 for 2022
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In January 2022 Linde repaid €1.0 billion of 0.250% notes that became due. In March 2022, Linde issued €500 million
ot 1000”5 notes due 2027, €750 million of 1.375% notes due 203 1. and €800 million of 1.623% notes due 2035 [n May
2022, Linde repaid $300 million of 2.20% notes due in August 20220 In November 2022, Linde issued S300 mitlon of 4.80%
notes due in 2024 and $600 million of 4.70% notes due in 2025,

On February 28, 2022 the company’s Board ot Directors approved the additional repurchase of $10.0 biilion of'its
ordinary shares. For additional information related to the share repurchase programs. sce Part Il em 5. Market for
Registrant’s Comymon Equity. Related Stockholder Matters and [ssucr Purchases of Equity Sccuritics.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As discussed in Note 17 o the consolidated financial statements, at December 31, 2022, Linde had undrawn
outstanding letters of ¢redit, bank guarantees and surcty bonds entered into i connection with normal business operations
and they are not reasonably likely to have a material impact on Linde’s consolidated financial condition. results of
operations, or liquidity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The policies discussed below are considered by management to be eritical to understanding Linde’s finaneial
statements and accompanying notes prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“U.S. GAAP”). Their application places significant importance on management’s judgment as a result of the need to
make estimates of matters that are inberently uncertain, Linde’s financial position. results of operations and cash flows could
be materially atfecred if actual results difter from estimates made. These policies are determined by management and have
been reviewed by Linde’s Audit Committec.

Revenue Recognition
Long-Term Construction Contracts

The company designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other varied gas production and processing
plants manufactured specifically for end customers. Revenues for sale of equipment contracts are generally recognized over
time as Linde has an enforceable right to payment for performance cormpleted to date and performance does not create an
asset with alternativ e use. For contracts recognized over tume, revenue is recognized primarily using a cost mcurred input
method. Costs incurred to date relative w total estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying
performance obligations. The result is applicd to total expected revenue and results in financial statement recognition of
res enue in addition o costs incurred to date. Any expected loss on a contract is recognized as an expense immediately.
Contract modifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract and are recognized as a cumulative
adjustment for the inception-to-date effect of such change. We assess performance as progress towards completion is
achicved on specific projects, earnings will be impacted by changes to our forecast of revenucs and costs on these projects.

The cost incurred input method places considerable importance on accurate estimates of the extent of progress towards
completion and may invoh e estimates on the scope of deliveries and services required to fulfill the contractually defined
obligations. The key source of estimation uncertainty is the total estimated costs at compiction including material. labor and
overhead costs and the resultunt state of completion of the contracts. There are inherent uncertaintics associated with the
estimation process, including technical complexity, duration of construction eycle, potential cost inflation (whether
cquipment or manpower). and scope considerations all of which may affect the total estimation process. Changes in these
estimates may lead to a significant impact on future financial statements.



Pension Benefits

Pension benelits represent tinancial obligations that will be ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet
eligibility requirements. Because of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments,
significant estimates are required to calculate pension expense and liabilities related to the company’™s plans. The company
utilizes the services of independent actuarics. whose models are used to facilitate these caleulations,

Scveral key assumptions are used in actuarial models to caieulate pension expense and liubility amounts recorded in
the financial statements. Management believes the three most significant variables in the models are the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate, and the expected rate of compensation nerease. The actuarial models also use
assumptions for various other factors, including long-term inflation rates, emplovee turnever, retirement age. and mortality.
Linde management believes the assumptions used in the actuarial calculations are reasonable, reflect the company’s
expericnee and expectations for the future and are within accepted practices in cach ol the respective geographic locations in
which it eperates. Actual results in anv given year will often differ from actuarial assumptions because of economie and
other factors. The sensitivitics to cach of the key assumptions presented below exclude the impact of special items that
occurred during the year,

The weighted-average expected long-term rates of return on pension plan assets were 7.00% for U.S. plans and 5.60%
tor non-U.S. plans for the year ended December 31, 2022 (7.00%0 and 5.28%. respectively at December 31, 2021). The
expected long-term rate of return on the U.S. and Non-U.S. plan assets is estimated based on the plans” investment strategy
and asset allocation. historical capital market performance and. w a lesser extent, historical plan performance. A 0.30%
change in these expected long-term rates of return. with all other variables held constant, would change Linde’s pension
expense by approximately S34 million.

The company has consistently used a market-related value of assets rather than the fair value ar the measurement date
1o determine annual pension expense. The market-related value recognizes invesiment gains or losses over a ti»c-j’cur period.
Ax a result. changes in the fair value of assets from year to year are not immediately reflected in the company’s annual
peasion expense. Instead. annual pension expense in future periods will be impacted as deferred investment gains or losses
arc recognized in the market-related value of assets over the five-year period. The consolidated market-related value of assets
wis S8.898 million. or $1.213 million higher than the fair value of assets of $7.685 million at December 31, 2022 These net
deferred investment gains of S1.213 million will be recognized in the caleulation of the market-related value of assets ratably
over the next four vears and will impact future pension expense. Future actual inyesunent gains or losses will impact the
market-related value of assets and. therefore, will impact future annual pension expense in a similar manner.

Discount rates are used to calculate the present value of plan habilities and pension costs and are determined annually
by management. The company measures the service and interest cost components of pension and OPEB expense for
signiticant U.S. and non-U.S. plans using the spot rate approach. U.S. plans that do not usc the spot rate approach continue 1o
determine discount rates by using a cash flow matching model provided by the compuany’s independent actuaries. The model
includes a portfolio of corporate bonds graded Aa or better by at least half of the ratings agencies and matches the U.S. plans’
projected cash flows to the caleutated spot rates. Discount rates for the remaning Non-US. plans are based on market yiclds
for high-guality fixed income investments representing the approximate duration of the pension liabilities on the
mcasurcment date. Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the discount rates used to
calculate plan liabilities and benetit costs. and to the Retirement Benefits section of the Consolidated Results and Other
Information section of this MD&A for a further discussion of 2022 benefit costs. A (1.30% reduction in discount rates. with
all other variables held constant. would increase Linde's pension expense by approximately $22 million whercas a 0.50%
increasc in discount rates would result in a decrcase of $96 million. A 0.50% reduction in discount rates would increase the
PBO by approximately S462 million whereas a 0.30%, increase in discount rates would have a favorable impact to the PBO
of approximately $417 miilon.

I'he weighted-aserage expected rate of compensation increase was 3.23% for U.S. plans and 2.59¢ for non-U.S. plans
at December 31, 2022 (3 25%, and 2.55%. respectively. at December 31, 2021). The estimated annual compensation 1nerease
15 determined by management every vear and s based on histerical trends and market indices. A 0.50" change in the
expected rate of compensation increase, with all other vartables held constant. would change Linde’s pension expense by
approximately $6 million and would impact the PBO by approximately S28 million,

Asset Impairments
Goodwill and Qrher Indefinire-Lived [ntangibles Assets

At December 31, 2022, the company had goodwill of 323 817 millivn and $1.706 million ef other indetinite-lived
intangible assets. Goodwill represents the aggregate of the exeess constderation paid for acquired businesses over the tair
value of the net assets acquired. Indefinite-1ived other intangibles relate  the Linde name,
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The company performs a goodwill impuiment west annually as of October U or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that an impainoent loss may have been incurred. The impairment test performed during the fourth
guarter of 2022 indicated no impairment. At December 31, 2022, Linde's enterprise value was approximately $172 billion
(outstanding sharcs multiplied by the year-end stock price plus net debt. and without any control premium) while its total
capital was approximately $34 billion.

The impatrment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors 1o determine if it is more likely than not that the
fair value of a reporting unit is less than carrving value. 1601 is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of
a reporting unit is less than carrying value then the company will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units to
their carrying value. including goodw ill. Reporting units are determined based on one level below the operating segment
level,

Management believes that the quantitative and quaditative factors used to perform its annual goodwill impairment
assessment are appropriale and reasonable. Although the 2022 assessment indicated that it is more likely than not that the tair
value of cach reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, changes in circumstances or conditions affecting this analysis could
have a significant tmpact on the Fair vislue determination, which eould then result in a material impairment charge to the
company's results of operations. Reporting units with greater concentration of Linde A( assets fair valued during the 2018
Praxair. Inc. and Linde AG merger are at greater risk of impairment in future periods.

Other indefinite-lived intangible assets are evaluated tor impairment on an annuat basis or more frequently if events
and circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have heen incurred. and no impatrments were indicated.

See Notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
Long-Lived dssets

Long-lived asscts, including property, ptant and equipment and finite-lived other intangible assets, arce tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an individual assct or assct
group may not be recoverable. For purposes of this test, asset groups are determined based upon the lowest level for which
there are independent and identifiable casl lows. Bused upon Linde's business model an asset group may be a single plant
and related assets used to support on-site, merchant and packaged gas customers. Alternatively. the asset group may be a
collection of distribution related assets (eylinders, distribution centers. and stores) or be a pipeline complex which includes
multiple interdependent plants and related assets connected by pipelines within a geographic arca used to support the same
distribution methods, As a result of the Russia-Ukraine contlict. Linde deconsolidated its Russian gas and engincering
business entities as of June 30, 2022 See Note 3 (o the consolidated finaneial statements.

Income Taxes

AT December 31, 2022, Linde had deferred tax assets of $1,247 million tnet of valuation allowances of S276 million).
and deferred tax liabilities of $6.903 million, At December 31, 2022, uncertain tax positions totaled 53235 million (sece Note |
and Note 5 to the conselidated financial statements). Income tax expense was S1.434 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, or about 25.9% of pre-tax income (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information related to taxes).

In the preparation of consolidated financiaf statemients, Linde estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative and
regulatory structures that exist in various jurisdictions where the company conduets business, Deferred income tax assets and
liwbilitics represent tax benefits or obligations that arise from temporary differences due to differing treatiment of certain
items for accounting and income tax purposes. Linde evaluates deferred tax assets each period to ensure that estimated future
taxable income will be sufficient in character (c.g. capital gain versus ordinary income treatiment), amount and timing to
result in their recovery. A valuation aliowance is established when management determines that it is more likely than not that
a deferred tax asset will not be realized 1o reduce the assets to their realizable value. Considerable judgments are required 1n
establishing deferred tax valuation allowances and in assessing exposures related to tax matters. As events and circumsiances
change, related reserves and valuation aliowances are adjusted to income at that time. Linde’s tax returns are subject to audit
and local taxing authorities could challenge the company s tax positions. The company’s practice is to review tax filing
positions by jurisdiction and to record provisions for uncertain income tax positions, including interest and penalties when
applicable. Linde believes it records and or discloses such potential tax liabilities as appropriate and has reasonabtly estrmated
its income tax Habilities and recoverable tax assets. 10 new information becomes available, adjustments are charged or
credited against income at that time. Management does not anticipate that such adjustments would have a marerial adverse
offeet on the company's consolidated financial position or Hiquidity; however, it is possible that the final outcomes could
have a material impact on the company’s reported results of operations.
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Contingencivs

‘The company accrues habilities for non-income tax contingencivs when management believes that a loss is probable
and the amounts can be reasenably estimated. while contingent gains are recognized only when realized or realizable. [fnew
information becomes available or losscs are sustained in excess of recorded amounts. adjustments are charged against income
at that tme. Management does not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a material adverse effect on the
company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity: however. it is possible that the final outcomes could have a material
impact on the company s reported results of operations.

Linde 15 subject to various claims. legal proceedings and government investigations that arise from time to time in the
ordinary course of business. These actions are based upon alleged environmental, tax. antitrust and personal injury claims,
among others (sce Note 17 to the consolidated tinancial statements). Such contingencics are significant and the accounting
requires considerable management judgments in analyzing cach matter to assess the likely outcome and the need for
establishing appropriate labilities and providing adequate disclosures. Linde believes it records and or discloses such
contingencics as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its liahilities.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Sec Nuote | to the consolidated financial statements tor information concerning new accounting standards and the
impact of the implementation of these standards on the company s financial statements.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Linde docs not expect changes in the aggregare fair value of its finaneial assets and liabilities to have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements. See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.



NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The following non-GAAT mcasuies are mtended W supplement investors” anderstanding of the company s Fonancial
mformatton by praviding measures which imvestors, tinancial analysts and management use to help evaluate the company s
financial levetuge and operating performance. Special items which the company does not believe to be indicative of on-going
business pertormance are excluded trom these calculations so that investors can better evaluate and analyze histoncal and
future business trends on a consistent basis. Definitions of these non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similar
definitions used by other companics and are not a substitute for similar GAAP mcasures,

The non-GAAP measures in the tollowing reconciliations are presented in this MD&A.

Adjusted Amonunty

(Dollar amenents in miltions, exeept per share data}

Year Ended December 31, 2022 021
Adjusted Operating Profit and Operating Muargin
Reported operating profit S 5369 S 4934
Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a) 1,029 273
Add: Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG (¢) 1,506 1.919
Total adjustments 2.535 2.192
Adjusted eperating profic 5 7904 5 7176
Reported percentage change 8%
Adjusted percentage change 10 %
Reported sales S 33364 S 30.793
Reported operating margin 16.1 % [6.2 %
Adjusted operating margin 23.7 % 2334%
Adjusted Depreciation and amortization
Reported depreciation and amortization S 4204 5 4633
Less: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (c) (1480 {1,.863)
Adjusted depreciation and amortization S 2723 5 2772
Adjusted Other Income (Expense) — net
Reported Other Income (Expense)  net S 62y S (26)
Add: Purchase accounting impacts — Linde AG (¢) (25) {36}
Adjusted Other Ingome (Expense) - net S 37y S 30
Adjusted Net Pension und OPEB Cost (Benefiy, Excluding Seirvice Cost
Reported nct pension and OPEB cost (benefit). excluding service cost ) 237y S {192}
Add: Pension settlement charges (6) (4}
Adjusted Net Pension and OPEB cost (benefit). excluding seryice costs S 243y S (196)
Adjusted Interest Expense — Net
Reported interest expense — net S 03 ) 77
Add: Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG (¢) 35 53
Adjusted interest expense  net S 98 S 130
Adjusted Income Taxes (a)
Reported meome taxes S 1434 S 1.262
Add: Purchasc accounting impacts - Linde AG (¢) 374 452
Add: Pension settlement charges 1 1
Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a) 136 29
Total adjustments 511 482
Adjusted income taxes S 1.945 S 1.744




(Poliar amows in mitlions, except per shure duta)
Year Ended December 31,

Adjusted Effective Tex Rare (u)

Reported income before income taxes and equity investments
Add: Pension settlement charge

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (©)

Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a)

Fotal adjustments
Adjusted income before income taxes and cquity investments

Reported Income taxes

Reported effective tax rate

Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted effective tax rate

Iicome from Equity Investments

Reported income from equity investments

Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (d)
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (<)

Toatal adjustments

Adjusted income from cquity investments

Adjusted Noncontrolling Interests from Continuing Operations

Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (©)

Adjusted noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

Adjusted Income firom Continuing Operations (b)

Reported income from continuing operations

Add- Pension settiement charge

Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a)

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (¢)
Total adjustments

Adjusted income from continuing operations

Adjusted Diluted EPS from Continuing Operations (h)
Reported diluted EPS from continuing operations

Add: Pension settlement charge

Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges ta)
Add: Purchase accounting impacts — Linde AG (¢)

Total adjustmoents
Adjusted diluted EPS from continuing operations

Reported pereentage change

Adjusted percentage change

~

22 2021
S 5543 S 5099
6 4
1471 [.866
1,029 273
2,506 2143
S 8049 S 7242
S 1 434 S 1.262
2599 24.7 %
) 1,945 S 1,744
24.2% 241 %
S 172 S 119
35
75 77
75 112
b 247 S 231
S (13 S (135
(22) (13)
S {136y S (150)
S 4.147 S 3821
5 3
893 279
1150 1.476
2.048 1.758
S 0,195 S 5,579
5 8.23 S 732
0.01 0.01
1.77 0.53
2.28 283
4.06 3.37
S 12.29 5 10.69
12 %
15%



(Pollar amownes i millions, exeepe per shave data)
Y car Ended December 31, 2022 2021

Adjusted EBITDA and % of Sales

Income from continuing operations S 4147 S 3821
Add: Noncontrolling intercsts related 10 continuing operations 134 135
Add: Net pension and OPEB cost (benetit). excluding service cost (237 {(192)
Add: Interest expense 63 77
Add: Tncome taxes 1.434 1.262
Add: Depreciation and amortization 4,204 4.635
EBITDA from continuing aperations 9.745 9.738
Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a) 1.029 308
Add: Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG (¢} vy 133
Total adiustments 1,128 441

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations S 10873 S 10079

Reported sales S 33364 S 30,793

%% of sales

EBITDA from continuing aperations 29.2 % 3l.6%

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations 3260 B

(a) The income tax expense (benetit) on the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustments was determined using the applicable tax
rates for the jurisdictions that were utilized in caleulating the GAAP income tax expense (benetit) and included both
current and deferred income tax amounts.

(b) Net of income taxes which are shown separately in ~Adjusted Income Taxes and Effective Tax Rate™,

() The company believes that its non-GAAP measures excluding Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG are usctul
to investors because: (1) the business combination was a merger of equals i an all-stock merger transaction, with no
cash consideration, (ii) the company s managed on a geographic basis and the results of certain geographics are
maore heavily impacted by purchase accounting than others. causing results thal are not comparable at the reportable
segment level, therefore, the impacts of purchasing accounting adjustments to cach segment vary and are not
comparable within the company and when compared to other companies in similar regions, (i11) business
ntanagement ts ¢valuated and variable compensation is determined based on results excluding purchase accounting
impacts. and; (1v} it iy important to investors and analysts to understand the purchase accounting impacts to the
financial statements.

A summary of each of the adjustments made for Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG are as follows:

Adjiested Operating Profit and Margin: The purchase accounting adjustments for the perieds presented relate
primarily to depreciation and amertization related to the tair value step up of fixed assets and intangible assets
(primarily customer related) acquired in the merger and the allocation of tair value step-up for ongoing Linde AG
asset disposals (reflected in Other Income-{ Expense)).

Adjusted Interest Expense  Net: Relates to the amortization of the fair value of debt acquired in the merger.
ddjusted Income Taxes and Effecrive Tax Rate: Relates to the current and deferred income tax impact on the
adjustments discussed above. The income 1ax expense (benefit) on the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustinents was
determined using the applicable tax rates for the jurisdictions that were utilized in calculating the GAAP income tax
expense (benefit) and meluded both current and deferred income tax amounts,

Adjusted Income feom Equity Investmrents, Represents the amortization ot increased fair value on equity investments
related to depreciable and amortizable asscts.

Adjusted Noncontrolling [ntereves from Continuing Operations: Represents the noncontrolling interests” ownership
portion of the adjustments described abov e determined on an eniity by entity basis.

(d) Impairment charge related to a joint venture in the APAC segment.




Net Debt und Adjusted Net Debt

Neat debt s a financial fiquidits measure used by inyvestors, financial analysts and management to evaluate the ability of a
company to repay its debt. Purchase accounting impacts have been excluded as they are non-cash and do not have an impact
on liquidity.

December 31. December 31,

(Millions of dollury) 2022 2021
Debt S 179148 14207
Less: cash and cash equivalents (5.436) (2.823)
Net debt 12478 11,384
Less: purchase accounting impacts Linde AG 122) {(61)
i Adjusted net debt ) 12,436 S 11,323
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SUPPLEMENTAL GUARANTEE INFORMATION

On June 6. 2020, the company (iled a Form 5-3 Registration Statement with the SEC (the “Kegrstration Statement™).

Linde ple may offer debt securities. preterred shares, depositary shares and ordinary shares under the Registration
Statement. and debt securitics exchimgeable for or convertible inte preferred shares, ordinary shares or other debt seeuritics.
Dbt seeurities of Linde ple may be guaranteed by Linde Ine. (previously Praxair, Ine.) andsor Linde GmbH (previously
Linde AG). Linde ple may provide guarantees of debt securities offered by its wholly owned subsidiarics Linde Inc. or Linde
Finance under the Registration Statement.

Linde Inc. is a wholly ewned subsidiary of Linde ple. Linde Inc. may offer debt sceuritics under the Registration
Statement. Debt seeurities of Linde Inc. will be guaranteed by Linde ple, and such guarantees by Linde ple may be
guaranteed by Linde GmbH, Linde Ine. may also provide {i) guarantees of debt securities offered by Linde ple under the
Registration Statement and (ii) guarantees of the guarantees provided by Linde ple of debt securities of Linde Finance

offered under the Registration Statement.

Linde Finance BV, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Linde ple. Linde Finance may ofter debt securities under the
Registration Statement, Linde ple will guarantee debt securitics of Linde Finance offered under the Registration Statement.

Linde GmbI and Linde Inc. may guarantee Linde ple’s obligations under its downstream guarantec.

Linde GmbH is & wholly owned subsidiary of Linde ple. Linde Gmbli may provide (i) guarantees of debt securitics
offered by Linde plc under the Registration Statement and (i) upstream guarantees of downstream guarantees provided by

Linde ple of debt securitics of Linde Inc. or Linde Finance offered under the Registration Statement.

In September 2019, {inde ple provided downstream guarantees of all of the pre-business combination Linde Inc. and

Linde Finance notes, and Linde GmbH and Linde Inc., respectively. provided upstream guarantees of Linde ple's

OWNSTred SuaAranices,
do n‘trﬂmgmr'mt“

For further information about the guarantees ol the debt securities registered under the Registration Statement

(including the ranking of such guarantees, limitations on enforceability of such guarantees and the ¢ircumstances under

which such guarantees may be released). sce “Description of Debt Securities  Guarantees™ and “Brescription of Debt
Securiies  Ranking™ in the Registration Statement, which subsections are incorporated herein by reference,

The following tables present summarized financial information for Linde ple, Linde Ine.. Linde GmbH and Linde

Finance on a combined basis, after eliminating intercompany transactions and balances between them and excluding

investments in and equity in camicgs from non-guarantor subsidiaries,

(Mitlions of dolfars) Twehe Months Ended Tweh e Months Ended
Statement of Income Data December 31,2022 December 31, 2021
Sales S 8.830 § 7.767
Operating profit 1,337 973
Net income 675 721
Transactions with non-guarantor subsidiarics 2.241 2,067
Balance Sheet Data (at period end)

Current assets (a) S 11478 8 5.826
Long-term assets (b) 13.949 15,928
Current Habilities (¢) 11.767 8,853
Long-term liabilitics (d) 48.210 42.860
(a) From current asscts above, amount due from non-guarantor subsidiaries 5 7.260 S 4.209
(bj Frem long-term assets above, amount due from nen-guarantor subsidiarics 1,682 3,257
(c) From current liabilitics above, amount due to non-guaramor subsidiaries 1.334 1.304
(d) From long-term liabilitics above. amount due 1o non-guarantor subsidiarics 33,268 28,142
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FFEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Linde 15 exposed to market nisks relating to tluctuations i interest rates and currency exchange rates. he objective of
tfinancial risk management at Linde 1s to minimize the negative impact of mterest rate and foreign exchange rate tluctuations
on the company’s carnings, cash flows and equity.

To manage these risks, Linde uses various derivative financial instruments. including interest-rate swaps. treasury rate
locks, currency swaps. forward contracts, and commuodity contracts. Linde only uses commonly traded and non-lev eraged
instrumoents, These contracts are entered into primarily with major banking institutions thereby minimizing the risk of credit
loss. Also. see Note 1 and Note |2 to the consolidated financial statements for a more complete description of Linde’s
accounting policies and use of such instraments,

The following discussion presents the sensitiviny of the market vatue, curmnings and cash flows of Linde™s financial
instruments to hypothetical changes in interest and exchange rates assuming these changes occurred at December 31, 2022,
The runge of changes chosen tor these discussions reflects Linde™s view of changes which are reasonably possible overa
one-yvear period. Market values represent the present values of projected future cash Nows based on interest rate and
exchange rate assuniptions.

Intterest Rate Risk

At December 31,2022, Linde had debt totaling $17.9 14 million (514,207 million at December 31, 2021). For fixed-
rate instrwments, intercst rate changes affect the fair market value but do not impact camings or cash flows. Conversely ., tor
Hoating-rate instruments, mterest rate changes generaily do not affect the fair market value of the instrument but impact
future carnings and cash tlows, assuming that other factors are held constant. At December 31, 2022, in¢luding the impact of
derivatives, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $13.000 miltion and floating-rate debt of $4.914 million. representing 73%, and
27%. respectively, of total debt. At December 31, 2021, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $12.492 million and Hoating-rate debt
of 51.715 million, representing 88% and 12%, respecetively. ot total debt.

Fixed Rute Debi

In order to mitigate interest rate risk, when considered appropriate. interest-rate swaps are entered into as hedges of
underlying financial instruments to effectively change the characteristics of the interest rate without actually changing the
underlying financial instrument. At December 31, 20220 Linde had fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps outstanding thai were
destgnated as hedging instruments of the underlying debt issuances  refer o Note 2 1o the consolidated financial statements
for additional information. This sensitivity analysis assumes that. holding all other variables constant (such as foreign
exchange rates. swaps and debt levels). a one hundred basis point increase in interest rates would decrease the unrealized fair
market value of the fixed-rate debt portfolio by approximately S666 million (8534 million tin 2021). A one hundred basis
point increase ininterest rates would result in an approximate 821 million decrease to dern ative assets recorded.

Variable Ruie Debt

At December 31, 2022, the after-tax camings and cash flows impact of a one hundred basis point increase i interest
rates, including offsctting impact of derivatives, on the variable-rate debt porttolio would be approximately S25 million
(S33 mudlion in 2021).

Foreign Currency Risk

Linde’s exchange-rate exposures result pamarily from its investments and vngoing operations m Latin America
(primarily Brazil and Mcxico). Europe (primanly Germany. Scandinavia, and the UK.}, Canada. Asia Pacific (primarily
Australia and China) and other business transactions such as the procurement of ecquipment from forcign sources. Linde
trequently utilizes curreney contracts to hedge these exposures. At December 31, 2022, Linde had a notional amount
outstanding of $3.870 million ($5.870 mwillion at December 31, 202 1) related to toreign exchange contracts. The majorits of
these were to hedge recorded balance sheet exposures. primarily intercompany loans denominated in non-functional
currencies. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Holding all other vanables constant. if there were o 10%a increase in forcign-curreney exchange rates for the portfolio.
the fair market value ot foreign-curreney contracts outstanding at December 31, 2022 would increase by approximately
S83 mulbion and at December 310 2021 would decrease by approximately S2¥ mitlion. which would be largely otfset by an
offsetting loss or gain on the foreign-currency fluctuation of the underlving exposure being hedged.
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MANAGEMENT'S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Linde™s consolidated financial statements are prepared by management. which is responsible for their faimess, integrity
and objectivity. The accompanying financial statemients have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
¢enerally accepted in the United States ol America applicd on a consistent basis. except for accounting changes as disclosed.
and include wmounts that are estimates and judgments. All historical financial information in this annual report is consistent
with the accompanying financial statements.

Linde maintains accounting systems, including internal accounting controls, monitored by a staff of internal auditors.
that are designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial records and the protection of assets. The
congeept of reasonable assurance is based on recognition that the cost of w system should not execed the related benefits. The
effectivencess of those systemis depends primarily upon the careful seiection of financial and other managers. clear delegation
of authority and assignment of accountability, inculcation of high business ethies and conflict-of-interest standards. policies
and procedures for coordinating the management of corporate resources. and the leadership and commitiment of wop
management. In compliance with Section 404 ot the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Linde asscssed its internal control over
financial reporting and issued a repert (see below).

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists solely of non-employee directors, is responsible for
averseeing the functioning of the accounting system and related controls and the preparation of annual financial statements.
The Audit Committee periodically meets with management, internal auditors and the independent registered public
accounting firm w review and evaluate their accounting, auditing and financial reporting activities and responsibilitics.
including management’s assessment of intemnal control over financial reporting. The independent registered public
accounting firm and internal auditors have full and free aceess 1 the Audit Committee and mect with the committee., with
and without management present.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL QVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Linde™s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is detined in kExchange Act Rule 13a-15(H). Under the supervision and with the participation of management.
including the company s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the company conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on the frumework in ferernal Control  Integrared
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cammission (often referred to as
COS0). Based on this evaluation. management concluded that the company’s internal control oy er financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2022,

PricewaterhouseCoopers LELP an independent registered public accounting tirm, has audited and issued their opinion
on the effectiveness of the company’s mtemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 as stted in their
report.

sY 0 SangIv LAz 5. KELCEY B Hovl
Sunjiv Lamba Kelces E. Hoyt
Chief Executiy e Officer Chief Accounting Officer
s NMarniow o Winge
Matthiew J. White February 28, 2023

Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Sharcholders of Linde ple
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Infernal Coatrol over Financial Reporting

We have andited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Linde ple and its subsidiagies (the “Company™)
as of Decemnber 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of equity
and of cash flows for cach of the three vears in the period ended December 31, 2022 including the related notes (colicctively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). We also have audited the Company s internat control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2022 based on criteria established in Diternal Control — Integrared Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOY.

In our opinion. the consolidated financial statements reterred to ubove present fairlv. in all material respects, the
tinancial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows tor
cach of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepred
in the United States of America. Also in our opinion. the Company maintained. in all material respects. effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31,2022, based on criteria established in finterna! Control — lntegraied
Frameworh (2001 3) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. for maintaining cffective
internal control over [inanctal reporting, and for its assessment ol the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under [tem 9A. Qur
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We arc a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consoelidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects.

Cur audits of the consolidated Mnancial statements inctuded performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ot the consolidated financial statements. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting., assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and westing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also mcluded perforiming such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal contro! over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staternents for external purposes in acecordance
with generally aceepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company: (i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary 1o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
reccipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (1) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition. use. or disposition of the company’s asscts that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or deteet misstateiments.
Also. projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate becausc of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

s
AN



Critical Audir Mafter

The eritical audit matter communicated below 15 a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidared
financial statements that was communicated or required o be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates
gecounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (i) invohved our especially challenging,
subjective. or complex judgments. The communication of eritical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. taken as & whole. and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matrer below,
providing a separate opinion on the crittcal audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recovnition - Exrimated Costs ar Complerion

As deseribed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. $2.762 million of the Company’s total revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2022 was generated from the sale of equipment contracts. Sale of eyuipmient contracts are
generally comprised of a single performance obligation. Revenue from the sale of cquipment 1s generally recoganized over
time as the Company has an enforceable nght w payment for pertormance completed to date and performance does not
create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized over time, revenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred
input method. Costs incurred to date relative 1o 1otal estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward
satisfying perfonmance obligations. Costs incurred include material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work
contributing and proportionate to the transfer of control to the customer.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition
cstimated costs at completion is a critical audit matter are () the significant judgment by management when developing the
estimated costs at completion for the sale of equipment contracts: (i) a high degree of auditor judament. subjectivity, and
¢ffort in performing procedures and evaltuating audit evidence related 1o the estimated costs at completion and management’s
significant assumptions related to the total estimated material and fabor costs: and (i11) the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing precedures and evaluaing audit evidence in connection with forming
our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls
relating to the revenue recognition process, ineluding controls over developing the estimuted costs at completion for the sale
of cquipment contracts. These procedures also included. among others, evaluating and testing management™s process far
developing the estimated costs at completion for the sale of cquipment contracts, which included evaluating the
reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions related to the total estimated material and labor costs. Fyvaluating
the reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions involved cvaluating management’s ability to reasonably
estimate costs at completion for the sale of equipment contracts on a sample basis by (1) performing a comparison of the
originally estimated and actoal costs incurred on similar completed equipment contracts. and (i1) evaluating the timely
wdentification of circumstances that may warrant a modification to estimated costs at completion, including actual costs in
excess of esumates. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the reasonableness
of management’s estimates and significant assumptions related w the total estimated material and labor costs,

/s/ PricenaterhouseCoopers LLP
Stamford, Connecticut
February 28, 2023

W have served as the Company’s or its predecessor’s auditor sinee 1992,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

LINDE PL.C AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

Sales

Cost of sales. exelusive of depreciation and amortization

Selling, general and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Rescarch and development

Russia-tkraine conflict and other charges

Other income {cxpenses) - net

Operating Profit

Interest expense net

Net pension and OPEB cost (benetit), excluding service cost

Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Equity
Envestments

Income taxes on continuing operations

Income From Continuing Operations Before Equity Investments
{ncomce from equity investments

Income From Continuing Operations (Including Noncontrolling Interests)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

Net Income (Including Noncontrelling Interests)

Less: noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

Net Income — Linde ple

Net Income — Linde ple
Income from continuing operations

fncome from discontinued operations

Per Share Data — Linde plc Shareholders

Basic eamings per share from continuing operations
Basic camings per share from discontinued operations
Basic carnings per share

Diluted carnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted camings per share from discontinued operations

Diluted carnings per share

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000°s):
Basic shares outstanding
Diluted shares outstanding

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2022 20021 2020

S 33364 S 30,793 S 27.243
19,4350 17.543 15.383
3,107 3,189 3,193
4,204 4,635 4.626

143 143 152

1,029 273 306

{62) (26) (61)

5,309 4954 33202

63 77 115

{237 (192) (177)
5,543 5.099 3,384

1,434 1.262 847
4.109 3.837 2.537

172 119 &5

4,281 3.956 2.622

5 4
4,281 3.961 2,626

(134) (135} (123)

S 4,147 S 3,826 S 2.501
4,147 S 3,821 S 2497

S 55 4

S 8.30 S 739 S 4.74
0.01 0.01
S 230 § 740 S 4.75
S 823 S 732 S 4.70
- ol .01

S 823 S 733 S 471
499 730 516,896 326.736
504,038 S21.875 331.157



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONMPREHENSIVE INCOME
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARLIES
(Doflur amounts in mitlions)

Y ear Ended December 31,

NET INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Translation adjustments:
Forcign curreney translation adjusunents
Reclassifications to net income
Income taxes
Translation adjustments
Funded status - retirement obligations (Note 16);
Retiremant program remeasurements
Reclassifications to net income
Income taxes
Funded status - retirement obligations
Derivative nstruments (Note 12):
Current year uneealized gain (loss)
Reclassifications o net income
Income 1axes
Deriy gtive instruments

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING
INTERESTS)
[ ess: noncontrolling interests

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements,
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2022 2021 2020
4281 8 3,961 S 2026
(1.723) (1.116) 563
(1L (32) -
— (7) 30
(1.833) (1.173) 393
1.349 826 (673)
80 175 92
{359) {23%) 114
1.070 746 {169}
107 140 (3)
(129) {49) 42
9 (20 (%)
(13) 71 3l
{778) (35K) 157
3.503 3.603 2,783
190) (133) 13%)
3413 8 3468 S 2625




December 31,

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Aceounts receivable  net
Contract asscts
fnventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Totw! Current Assets
Property. plant and cquipment  net
Equity imycstments
Goodwill
Other intangible assets — net
Other long-term assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable
Short-term debt
Current portion of long-term debt
Contragt habilities
Accrued taxes
Other current Habilitics
Total Current Liahilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term habilities
Deferred eredits

Towal Liubilitiey

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
LINDE PL.C AND SUBSIDIARIES

fDodlar amounts in millions)

Commitments and contingencics (Note 1 7)

Redeemable noncontrolling interests
Linde ple Sharcholders™ Equity:

Ordinary shares (€0.001 par value. authorized 1.750.000.000 shares, 2022 and 2021
issued: 552,012,862 ordinary shures)

Additional paid-in capital

Retained carnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Less: Treasury sharcs, at cost (2022

2021 - 43.331.9%3 shares)

39,555,235 shares and

Total Linde ple Sharcholders’ Equity

Noncontrolling interests
Towd Equity

Toted Liahilities and Equin

The accompanying Notes are an
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2022 2021
5436 S 2823
4,559 4.499

124 134
1.978 1.733
950 970

13.047 10.159
23.548 26.003
2.350 2619
25817 27,038
12.420 13.802
2,476 1,984

79,638 S 81,605
2995 S 3.503
4,117 1.163
1,599 1.709
3.073 2,940
613 429
4.082 3.899

16,479 13.643
12198 11.335
2.795 4,188
6,799 6.998
38.271 36.164

(3 13
1 1

40,003 40,180
20.541 18,710
(5.782) (5,048)

(14,737) (9,80%)
40,028 41.035
1.336 1,393
41,374 45428
79658 S 81.603

integral part of these financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Millions of doflars)

Y ear Ended December 3. 2022 2021 2020
\\ Increase (Becrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Operations
Netineome Linde pie S ENEEE N2 S 2501
Eoss incame from discontinued aperatons, et of s ad nonconteolling interests {3 (4
Add Novcontrolling mterests from continuing opertions 134 135 125
1 Income from contimung operations (nicluding noncontrolling interests) S 4281 08 3Usn S 2022

Adpustments o recongrle net incone to pet cash provided by operating acuy ities;

Russia-L ke conthict and other charges. net of payments W2 9y 25¥
Depreciation and amortsition 4,204 4.635 4.626
Dicterred imcome taves {383) (234) (364%)
Shate-based compensanon 7 128 133
Non-vash charges and other (49 (1 132

Wuorking capital

\Ceounts recen gble (423) (333) L9
Contract assets and habihities, net 314 1.307 90
Inventory (347 {120 13
Prepaid and other current assets 137y 76 128
Payuables and aceruals 37 +47 [0
Pension contrtbutions (50 142y 1)
Long-term: assers. habilities and other 163 TS (2hh)
Net sl provided by operating actiy ities R.od 9,728 S

nvesting
Capital expenditures 13,175 3 0863 {340t
, Neuisitions, net ol cash acquired (Eloy 188 {{ih]
' Divestitures and asset sabes, net of cash divested 195 167 3R2
Neteash used tor v esting activings (3.088) 13007y {2086}

Financing
Shart-term debt borrowings crepayments) net 1.5 (1.329) 1195
' Long-term debt horrowings 3210 2.3 2796
Long-term debt repay ments 11783 (1 46%) (2681
Issuances of ordinary shares RIY 20 47
Purchuases of ordinary shares 15.16Rr) 4.612 (2.437)
Cash diodends  ande ple sharchelders 1233 {2,189} {2128y
Noncontralling serest ransacnons and other (38} [REET] (22
Netewsh used tor financing activities 13084 (7388 (3.343)
E{fect ot oxchange rate ehanges on eash and cash equis alents [ES) wly Ah
Change in cash and cash equivalenes 2613 (231 LS4
Cash and cosh equivalents. begimning-ot-penod 2823 2.5 2,700
Cashoand cash equin alents, end-at-pertad S 543§ S 3754

Supplemental Daia

[ncome taxes pad S 1,735 § L7 1.0006
Interest paid. net of capitilised interest ¢ Note 7} S I=n S EEREEE 322

The accompany ing Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Linde ple ("Linde™ or “the company™) is an incorporated public limited company tormed under the laws of lreland.
Linde's registered office is located at Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, DU2 T380 {reland. Linde’s principal exccutive offices
are locared at Forge. 43 Church Street West, Woking, Surrey GU21 6HT. United Kingdom and 10 Riverview Drive.
Danbury. Connccticut. United States 06810, Linde trades on the New York Stock Exchange and on the Frankfurt Stock
FExchange under the symbol LIN.

On January 18. 2023, sharcholders approved the company 's proposal for an intercompany reorganization that will
result in the delisting of its ordinary shares from the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Following the completion of legal and
regulatory approvals, Linde anticipates that the intercompany reorganization and delisting process will be completed. and its
ordinary shares will be delisted from the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. on or about March 1. 2023,

[n conncction with the closing ot the intercompany reorgamization, Linde sharcholders will automaticaliv receive one
sharc of the new holding company. to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange in exchange for cach share of Linde ple
they own. The new holding company will also be named “Linde ple™ and will trade under the existing ticker LIN.

Principles of Consolidation  The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (* U8, GAAP”) and include the accounts of all significant
subsidiaries where control exists and, in limited situations, vartable-interest entities where the company is the primary
beneftciary. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation and any signiftcant related-party
transictions has e been diselosed.

Equity investments generally consist of 20% to 50% owned operations where the company exercises signiticant
influcnce, but does not have control. ITncome from equity investments in corporations is reported on an after-tax basis. Pre-tax
income {rom equity investments that are partnerships or imited-hability corporations is included in other income (expenses)
- net with related taxes included in Income taxes. Equity investments are resiewed for impairment whenever ¢vents or
circumnstances reflect that an impairment loss may have been incurrcd.

Changes in ownership interest that result either in consolidation or deconsolidation of an investment are recorded at
tair value through carnings, including the retained ownership interest. while changes that do not result in cither consolidation
or deconsolidation of a subsidiary are treated as equily transactions.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of tinancial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and Habilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilitics at the date of the tinancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. While actaal results could differ. management belics es such estimates to be reasonable,

Operations - Linde is the largest industrial gases company globally. The company produces. sells and distributes
atmospheric, process and specialty gases to a diverse group of industries including acrospacce. chemicals, food and beycrage,
clectronics. energy. healtheare, manufacturing, and metals. Linde’s Engineering business offers its customers an extensive
range of gas production and processing services including supplying plant components and services directly 1o customers.

Revenue Recognition - Revenue s recognized as control of goods or services are transferred to customers in an
amount that retlects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or
services. See Note 19 for additional details regarding Linde™s revenue recognition policies.

Cash Equivalents - Cash equivalents are considered 1o be highly liguid securities with original maturities of three
months or less.

Inventories  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost s determined using the average-
cost method.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Net - Property . plant and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated
depreciation. The company capitalizes labor, applicable overhead and interest as part of the cost of constructing major
facilitics. Expenditures for additions and improvements that extend the lives or increase the capacity of plant assets are also
capitalized. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful hives of the assets, which
range from 3 years to 40 vears (sce Note 8). Linde uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes where appropriate.
Maintenance of property, plant and equipment is generally expensed as incurred,

The company performs a test for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances mdicate that the carrving
amount of an individual asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Should projected undiscounted future cash ows be Tess
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than the carrying amount of the asset or assct group, an impairment charge reducing the carrying amount tw fair value may be
required. Fair value is determined based on the most appropriate valuation technigue, including discounted cash flows,

Asser-Retirement Obligations  An assct-retircment obligation is recogaized in the period in which sutticient
information ¢Xists to determine the fair value of the Hability with a corresponding increase to the carryving amount of the
related property, plant and equipment which is then depreciated over its usetul Tife, The liability is initially measured at fair
vaJue and then aceretion expense s recorded in each subsequent peried. The company's asset-retirement obligations are
primarily associated with ils on-site long-term supply arrangements where the company has built a facility on land leased
from the customer and is obligated to remove the facility at the end of the contract term. The company's asset-retirement
obligations arc not material to its consolidated financial statements,

Foreign Currency Transfation - For most foreign operations. the local currency is the funetional currency and
transtution gains and losses are reported as part of the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of equity
as a cumulative translation adjustment (see Note 7).

Financiul brsgrumenes Linde culers 1nlo various derivative (inancial instruments 1o manage its exposure 1o
fluctuating interest rates. currency exchange rates, commodity pricing and energy costs. Such instruments primarily include
interest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements: curreney-swap agreements: forward contracts; currency options: and
commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered inte for trading purposes. Linde only uses commonly traded
and non-leveraged instruments.

There are three types of derivatives the company enters into: (1) those relating Lo fair-value exposures, (1) those
relating to cash-flow exposures, and (1i1) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures
relate to recognized assets or tabilities. and firm commitments: cash-flow exposutes refate o the variability of future cash
flows associated with recognized assets or liabilitics, or forecasted transactions: and net investnent exposures relate to the
impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrying vatue of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is appropriate, it is designated as either o fair-value hedge, cash-
tflow hedge, or a net investment hedge. Currently. Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury rate docks as hedges for
accounting purposes; however, currency contracts are generally not designated as hedges for accounting purposes uniess they
are related 1o forecasted transactions. Whether designated as hedges for accounting purposes or not, all derivatives are linked
to an appropriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge effectivencess of all derivatives
designated as hedges for accounting purposes to determnine it they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the underlying hedged items. 117t is determined that the hedge is not highly eftectiv e, then hedge
accounting will be discontinued prospectively.

Changes in the fair value of dertvatives designated as fair-value hedges are recognized in carnings as an offset to the
change in the fair values of the underlying exposures being hedged. The changes in fair value of derivatives that are
designated as cash-flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are reclassified to
earnings as the underlying hedged transaction atfects carnings. Provided the hedge remains highly eftective, any
ineftectiveness s deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are reclassified to earnings as the
underlying hedged transaction affects carnings. Hedges of net investments in foreign subsidiaries arce recognized in the
curnulative translation adjustment component of accumulated other caomprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated balance
sheets to offsct translation gains and losses associated with the hedged net investment. Derivatives that are entercd into for
risk-management purposes and are not designated as hedges (primarily related to currency derivatives other than for firm
commitments) arc recorded at their fair market values and recognized in current carmings.

See Note 12 for additional information relating to tinancial instruments.

Goodwill  Acyuisitions are accounted {for using the acquisition method which requires allocation of the purchase price
to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimated fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the far value
of the asscts and linbilities acquired is recorded as woodwill. Allocations of the purchasc price are based on preliminary
estimates and assumptions at the date of acquisition and arc subject to revision basced on final information received, including
appraisals and other analyses which support underlying estimates.

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually as of October | or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been incurred. The impainment test allows an cntity Lo first assess
quaiitative factors 1o determine it it is more likely than not that the fair valuc of a reperting unit is less than carrving value. If
it is determined that it s more likely than not that the fair value ol a reporting unit is less than carrving value then the
company will estimare and compare the fair value of its reporting units to their carrying saluc. including goodw ill. Reporting
units are determined based on ong level below the operating segment level. The qualitative analysis of goodwill for the year

53



ended December 3102022 showed the fair value of the reporting units substantially exceeded the carrying value, as such
further analy sis was not pertonmed,

See Note 9 for additional intormation relating to goodwill.

Other Intangible Assets  Other intangible asscts, primarily customer relationships, are amartized over the estimated
period of benefit. The determination of the estimated period of benefit will be dependent upon the use and underlying
characteristics of the intangible asser. Linde evaluates the recoverability of its intangible assets subject to amoriization when
ficts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying value is not
recoverable, impairnient is measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its estimated faic value. Fair value is
generally estimated based on either appraised value or other vatuation technigues. Indefinite Iived intangible asscts related to
the Linde brand are evaluated tor impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate an
impairment loss may hasve ocecurred,

See Note 10 for additional information relating to other intungible assets.

Income Taxes - Deterred income taxes are recorded for the temporary difterences between the tinancial statement and
tax bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax
asscts whenewver circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized in future periods.

Under the guidance for accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. the company can recognize the benefit ofan
income tax position only 1f it is more Hkely than nor (greater than 30%) that the tax position will be sustained npon tax
examination. based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise. no benefit can be recognized. The tax
benetits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate settiement. Additonally, the company accrues interest and related penaltics, 1t applicable, on all tax exposurcs for
which reserves have been established consistent with jurisdictional tax laws. Interest and penaltics are classified as income
tax expense in the financial statcments,

See Notwe 5 for additional information relating to income Taxes.

Retirement Benefits  Most Linde employces participate (n a form of defined benetit or contnibution retirement plan,
and additionatly cenain employees are eligible to participate in various post-employment health care and life insurance
benefit plans. The cost of contribution plans is recognized in the yvear earned while the cost of other plans is recognized over
the emplovees’ expected service period to the company, all in accordance with the applicable accounting standards. The
funded status of the plans is recorded as an asset or lHability in the consolidated balance sheets. Funding of retirement
benefits varies and 1s in accordance with local laws and practices.

See Note 16 for additional information relating 1o retirement programs,

Share-hased Compensation - The company has historically granted share-based awards which consist of stock options.
restricted stock and performance-based stock. Share-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line
basis over the stated vesting period. For stock awards granted to full-retirement-cligible employees. compensation expensc is
recognized over the period from the grant date to the date vetirement cligibility is achieved. For performance-based awards.
compensation expense is recognized only it it is probable that the performance condition will be achieved.

See Note 13 for additional disclosures relating to share-based compensation.

Reclussifications — Certain prior years” amounts hay ¢ been reclassified o conform 1o the current year’s presentation
Recently Issued Accounting Standardy
Accounting Standards Implemented in 2022
There were no new acceounting pronouncements that would materially impact the 2022 financial statements.

NOTE 2. Acquisitions and Divestitures
Acquisitions

Acguisitions were S1TH) million, S8 million and $6% million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, Acquisitions in 2022 and 2021 primarily related w the Americas and EMEAL Acquisitions in 2020 primarils
related to the Americas,




Divestituires
Sale vl GIST business

in the third quurter of 2022, the company completed the sale of its GIST business. Proceeds from the sale were
S183 millien, net of cash divested of $75 million, for net proceeds of S104 million. The sale resulted 1 a loss of 21 million
ibenetit of $3 million, after tax), recorded within the Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges in the consolidated statement
ot income (see Note 3).

Deconsolidation of Joint Venture in APAC

Lffective January 1. 2021, Linde deconsolidated a joint venture with operations in APAC, due 1o the expiration of
certain contractual rights that the parties mutually agreed not 1o renew . From the effective date, the joint venture is reflected
as an equity investment on Lindce’s consolidated balance sheet with the corresponding results reflected in income from equity
investiments on the consolidated statement of income.

The fair value ot the jomt veniure at January b, 2021 was determined using a discounted cash flow model and
approximated the carrying amount of tts net assets. The net carrying value of $832 million was mainly comprised of assets of
approximately S1.9 billion {primarily Other intangibles and Property plant and equipment  net), net of liabilities of
approximately S1.0 billion. Upon deconsolidation an equity investment was recorded representing Linde's share of the joint
venture™s net asscts. The deconsolidation resulted in a gain of S52 million recorded within 2021 charges (see Note 3) related
to the refease of the CTA balance recorded within AOCL The company did not receive any consideration, cash or otherwise.
as part of the deconsolidation.

The joint venture contributed sales of approximately S600 million in 2020.
NOTE 3. Russia-Ukraine Conflict and Other Charges
2022 Charges

Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges were ST billion (8896 million, after tax and noncontrolling interests) for the
year ended December 31, 2022, largely atributable to the Russia-Ukraine conflict.

Russia-Ukraine Counflict

In response 1o the Russian invasion of Ukraine. multiple jurisdictions, including Europe and the ULS.C have inposed
several tranches of economic sanctions on Russia. As a result, Linde reassessed 1ts ability to control its Russian subsidiaries
and determined that as of June 30, 2022 it can no lenger exercise controt over these entities. As such, Linde deconsolidated
its Russian gas and engineering business entitics as of June 30, 2022, The deconsolidation of the company s Russian gas and
enginecring business entities resulted in a loss of $787 million (8730 million afier tax) during the sceond quarter.

The fair value of Linde s Russian subsidiarics was determined using a probability weighted discounted cash flow
model. which resulted in the recognition of a $407 million loss on deconsolidation when compared to the carrving value of
the entities. This loss is recorded within Russia-Ukraine contlict and other charges in the consolidated statements ot income.

Upon deconsolidation an mnvestment was recorded, which represents the fair value of net assets. The company did not
receive any consideration, cash or otherwise, as part of the deconsolidation. Linde will maintain its interest in its Russian
subsidiarics and will continue tw comply with sanctions and government restrictions as it continues to develop divesuture
options. The investment will be monitored for impairment in future periods.

Receivables. primarily loans recetvable, with newly deconsolidated entitics were reassessed for collectability resulting
in a write-off of approximatcly $380 mitlion.
Other Russiu related charges

Other charges related specifically to the Russin-Ukraine conflict were S103 million (573 million after tax) for the year
ended December 31, 2022, and arc primarily comprised of impairments of assets which are maintained by international
entitics in support of the Russian business.
Merger-Related Costs and Other Chargey

Merger-related costs and other charges were $139 million (893 million. after tax) for the vear ended December 31,
2022, primarily related to severance actions within the Engincering scgment recorded during the fourth quarter, the
impairment of an equity method investment in the EMEA scgment, and the sale of the GIST business completed on
September 30, 2022 {see Note 2).
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The following table provides a summary of the pre-tux charges by reportable segment for the year ended December 31
2022

Y ear Ended December 31, 2022

Russia Maerger- related

deconsobidation (tiwer Russia Total Russia costs and other
taridleons of dotiursg charges related charges charges churues 1otal
Americas S S S : S 4 5 4 ‘
EMLA 733 (7} 726 25 751
APAC 28 28
Engineering x4 110 164 44 205
Other 41 41
Total 5 787 5 103 S 890 8§ 139 S 1,029

2021 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $273 million (8279 million after tax) for the year ended December 31, 2021,

Total cost reduction program related charges were $338 million (5253 nullion after tax). for the vear ended
December 31, 2021, These expenses consisted primarily of severance charges of 5239 million and other charges of
579 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, Other charges related primartly to the exccution of the company s
synergistic actions including locarion consohidations and business rationalization projects, process harmonization, and
associated non-recurring costs.,

Mcrger-related and other charges were benefits of $63 million (benefit of $26 million, after tax) for the vear ended
December 31, 2021, The 2621 pre-tax benefit was primarily due to a 8532 million gain triggered by a joint venture

deconsolidation in the APAC segment.

Year Fnded December 3, 2021

Total cost

Other ensg reduction Merger

reduction program related and
il ears of dedfars SEVCTANUe Costs charues related charges  orher chirges Total
Adnericas S 4 8 205 H S 6y S
EMTA 204 33 237 ! 238
APAC 16 12 28 (5(h (22)
Engincering 20 6 20 26
Other L5 26 31 (10} 31
Total S 259 5 79 S 338 S (063} S 273

2020 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $506 million for the vear ended December 3102020, (8372 nullion
after tax ).

Total cost reduction program related charges were S391 millton (5277 million after tax) for the year ended
December 31, 2020, These expenses consisted primarily of scverance costs of S298 mithon and other charges ot $93 mifhon
for the vear ended December 310 2020, Giher charges related to the exceuton of the company s synergistic acoons including
location consolidations and business rationalization projects, process harmonization, and associated non-recurring costs.



Merger-related and other charges were S11S million (8935 million, after tax). for the year ended December 34, 2020,

crfliens of dotiars
Americas
ENEA

APAC
Engincering
Other

Total

Cush Requirements

Y ear Ended Becember 31, 2020

T'utal cost

Other cost reductivn Merger
reduction program related and
Severance costs cluirges related charges  other charges Total
S 58 24 S 59 5 i3 5 72
l 21 152 3 155
7 2 9 3 12
33 28 o6 4 70
87 18 105 92 197
S 298 S 93 5 391 S 115 S 506

The total cash requirements of the Russia-Ukraine contlict and other charges incurred for the vear ended December 31,
2022 arc expected to be immaterial. Remaining cash requirements are expected to be paid through 2023, Russia-Ukraine
canflict and other charges, net uf payments in the conselidated statements of cash flow s for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 also reflect the impact of cash payments of labilities, including merger-related tax liabilitics,
accrued as of December 31. 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The following table summurizes the activities related to the Russia-Ukraine contlict and the company’s cost reduction
programs and other charges during 2021 and 2022:

fnilfiens of dotiors

Balance, December 31, 2020

2021 Cost Reduction Prograims and Other

Less: Cash payments

Less: Non-cash charges

Foreign currency translation and other
Balance. December 31, 2021

2022 Russiw-Ukraine conflict and other
Less: Cash payments

Less: Non-cash charges

Forcign currency translation and other

Balance, December 31, 2022

Total cost

Other cost reduction Merger
Total Russia reduction program related and
charges Severance costs charges related charges  other charges Total

S - - & 283 S 22 5 305 5 04 5 369
— 254 7 338 {63} 273
(138) (13) (133) (22} (175}
- — (41) (41) 54 13
{20} (N (27 (27
5 S 384 S 38 8 4228 315 453
90 41 24 65 74 1.029
— (122) (24) (146) 19 (27
(890) (N (7) (109} (1.006)
— (22) 4 (26) 3) (29)
S - S 281 8 27 S 308 S 125 320

Classification in the consolidated financial stutements

The pre-tax charges for each year are shown within operating profit in a separate hne item on the consolidated

statements of income. In the consolidated balance sheets. reductions in assets are recorded against the carrving value of the
related assets and unpaid amounts are recorded as other current or long-term labilities {see Note 7). On the consolidated

statements of cash flows, the pre-tax impact of these charges. net ef cash payviments, is shown as an adjustment o reconcilte
net income to net cash provided by operating activitics. In Note 18 Segment Information. Linde excluded these charges from

its management definition of segment operating profit; a reconciliation of segment operating profit te consolidated operating
profit is shown within the segment operating profit table.



NOTE 4. LEASES

In the normmal course of 1ts business, Linde enters into varous eases as the Tessee, primarily involving manufacturing
and distribution equipment and office space. Linde determnines whether a contract is or contains a lease at contract inception.
Total lease and rental expenses refated o operating lease right of use assets tor the twebhv e months ended December 31, 2022
and 2021 was S284 million and $S317 million. respectively . Operating leases costs are included 0 selling. genera! and
administrative expenses and cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization. The related asscts and obligations are
included in other long term assets and other current Habilities and other long term liabilities. respectively, Total lease and
rental expenses related to finance lease right of use assets for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was
$37 million and 531 million. respectively, and the costs are included in depreciation and amortization and interest. Related
asscts and ebligations are included jn other long term assets and other current liabilities and other long term liabilities,
respectively. Linde includes renewal options that are reasonably certain 1o be exercised as part of the lease term. Operating
and financing lease expenses aboy ¢ include short term and variable lease costs which are immaterial.

As most leases do not pros ide an implicit rate, Linde uses the applicable Incremental borrowing rate at lease
commencement to measure lease liabilities and right-ofuse assets. Linde determines incremental borrowing rates through

market sources.

The company has clected to apply the short-tenm lease exception for all underlying asset classes. Short-term leases are
leases that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of twelve months or less and do not include a purchase option that
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise. Leases that meet the short-termt lease definition are not recognized on the balance
sheet, but rather expensed on a stratght-line basis over the lease term.

Some icasing arrangements require variable payments that are dependent on usage, output, or may vary for oiher
reasons, such as insurance. The company does not hase material variable lease payments

Gains and losses on sate and leascback transactions were immaterial. Operating cash flows used for operating leases
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $254 million and S290 million. respectively. Cash flows

used for finance leases for the same period were immaterial.

Supplementat balance sheet information related to [cases 15 as follows:

(fithons of dolfaeg

Operating Leases

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Orther current habifities

Other long-term Nabilities

Total operating lease liabilities
Finance L eases

Finance lease right-of-use assets
Other curvent liabilities

Other long-term liabilitics

Total finance lease liabilities

Supplemental operating lease information:

Weighted av erage lease term (years)
Werghted average discount rate

Decembuer 31, 2022 Decemibrer 31, 2021

S 726 S 833
181 215
340 618
721 833
146 163
42 47
114 129
S 156 8 176
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
8 9
3.26% 2.91%

n
x



Future operating and finance lease payments as of December 31, 2022 are as follows (millions of dolars):

Period
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
Thereafter

Total future undiscounted lease payments
Less imputed interest

Total reported lease liahility
NOTE 5. INCOME TAXES
Pre-tax income applicable to U.S. and non-U.S. operations is as follows:

tMitlions of dollurs)
Year Ended December 31,

Umted States
Non-U.S.

Tatal income before income taxes

Provision for Income Tuxes

The following is an analysis of the provision for income taxes:

(Mittions of doilurs)
Year Ended December 31,

Current tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal

State and local

Non-U.§.

Deferred tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal

State and local

Non-U.S.

Total income taxes

U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Act) 2018

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the tax payable related to the deemed repatriation tax is $17% m:llion and
S178 million. respectively. of which $139 million and $178 million is classified as other long-term liabilitics on the

Operating Leases

Financing b ciases

S 196 S 48

140 37

106 29

79 19

58 12

258 37

837 202

(116) (46)

5 721 S 156
H22 24021 26420

S 2502 % 2,020 1,253

3041 3.079 2,131

S 5543 8 5099 S 3,384
2022 2u2e 20240

S 48 S 287 S 185

92 87 17

1.239 1.142 1.013

1.817 1516 1215

(12) 63 20

7 : 7

(378) (325) (395)

(383) (254 (36%)

S 1.434 S 1262 847

consolidated balance sheet (See Note 7). respectively. The company s required to fund the balance in annaal installments

through 2025,



Effective Tax Rare Reconciliation

For purposes of the effective tax rate reconeiliation. the company utilizes the ULS. statwtory income tax rate of 21 %
An analvsis of the ditference between the provision tor income taxes and the amount computed by applying the LS.
SEALULOrY income ax rie to pre-tax income follows:

{Dollar anrounts in millions)

Y ear Ended Decemnber 31, 022 2021 2020

U8, statutory income tax S 1064 2L0% 5 1.071 20.0 % S 711 21.0 2%
State and local taxes  net of federal benefit 84 1.5 % 83 1.6 % 21 0.6 %
U.S. tax ¢redits and deductions (i) {16 (0.3) % (23 (1L.5) % (R) (0.2) %%
Non-U.S. tax diffcrentials (b) 176 32 9% 219 130, 167 499,
Share-Based compensation 4 0.7y 2% (36) (1.1) % (33 (1.6) %
Russia Ukraine Charges 108 1.9 % Yy .- Yo
Other — net (g} 4 (0.7)%% (32) (0.6) % G 03"
Proviston for income taxes S 1.434 2599 8§ 1.262 247 % S 847 25.0 %
() .S tax credits and deductions relate to ron-U S, derived intangible income and the rescarch and experimeniation

tax credit in 2022, 2021 and 2020,

(b) Primarily related to differences between the LS. tax rate and the statutory tax rate in the countries where the
company operates, Exciuding 2021, which included an S83 million deferred income tax charge related 1o a tax rate
increase in the UK, other permanent ftems and tax rate changes were not significant.

(c) Other  net includes net tax benefits related o the sertlement of tax audits of $71 million in 2022 | and S47 million
n 2021,
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Net Deferred Tax Liubilities
el deferred wax liabilities tneluded in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised ot the following:

(Vittions of doflarsy
December 31, k2 2021

Deferred tax liabilities

Fixed assets (a) s 2,773 0% 3177
Goodwiil 173 166
Other intangible assets 2,939 3.263
Subsidiary equity inyvestments 545 586
Other (b) 471 634

S 6.903 S 7.826

Deferred tax assets

Carrviorwards S 289 S 358
Benefit plans and related (cidy 163 607
Inventory 68 57
Accruals and other (¢) 1,001 1.042

S 1.523  § 2.064
Less: Valuation allowances (1) {276) (235

S 1.247 S 1.829
Net deferred tax liabilities 5

S 5.656 5.997

Recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as (Note 7):

Other long-term assets 230 242
Deferred credits 5,886 6.239
5
S 5.656 5.997
(a) Excludes $39 million and S19 million of fixed asscts in 2022 related to the deconsolidation of Russia and the sale of
GIST. respectively (sec Notes 3 and 2).
(b) [ncludes S206 million in 2022 and $236 million in 2021 related to nght-of-use lease assets.
{c} [ncludes deferred tax tiabilities ot 834 million and deferred tax assets of $305 million in 2022 and 2021,
respectively, related to pension / OPEB funded status (see Notes 7 and 16).
{d) The amounts are net of non-US deferred ax habilities of S315 million in 2022 and $71 million in 2021.
{c) includes $2 12 rullion in 2022 and $246 miliion in 2021 related 1o lease liabilities and $25 mullion and $42 million
in 2022 and 2021, respectively. related to rescarch and development costs.
)] Summary of changes in valuation allowances relating to deferred tax assets follows (millions of doHars):
2022 2021 2020
Balance, January 1, S (235) S (243) % (222)
[ncome tax (charge) benefit (44} 8 (21
Other, including write-offs - — 2
Translation adjustments 3 (2)
Balance, December 31 S (276) S (235) 8 (243)

The company evaluates deferred tax assets quarterly to ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in
character (c.g.. capital gain versus ordinary income treatment). amount and timing o result in thoir recovery. After
considering the positive and negative evidence, a valuation allowance is established to reduce the assets to their realizable
value when management determines that it (s more likely than not (e, greater than 30% Likelthood) that a deferred tax assct
will nat be realized. Considerable judgment 1s required in establishing deterred tax valuation allowances.

61



As of December 31,2022, the company had S289 million of deferred tax assets relating 1o net operating lasses
("NOLs7y and tax credits and $276 million of valuation allowances. These deferred tax assers include $245 million relating
1w NOLs of which $90 million expire within 5 years, $42 muillion expire after 3 years and 583 mitlion have no expiration. The
deferred tax assets also include 874 million related o credits of which 3 million expire within 3 years, 866 mllion expire
after 5 years, and S3 miliion have no expiration. The valuation allowances of S276 million primarily relate to NOLs and
foreign currency loss refated to the revaluation of deferred tax labilities associated with future repatniations. Management
has determined, based on financial projections and available tax strategies. that it is unlikely that the benefit of these losses
will be realized. If evenis or circumstances change. valuation allowances are adjusted at that time resulting in an income tax
benefit or charge.

The company has $5345 milhon of non-U.S. income taxes accrucd related to its imvestments in subsidiaries and equity
investments as of December 31, 20220 A provision hias not been made tor any additional non-U.S. income tax at
December 31,2022 on approximately $33 billion related to its investments in subsidianes because the company intends to
remain indefinitely reinvested. While the $33 billion could become subject to additional non-U.S. income tax if there is a sale
of a subsidiary. or carnings are remitted as dividends, 1t is nol practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax lability.
Uncertain Tux Positions

Unrecogmzed income tax benefits represent income tax positions taken on mceme tax returns but not yet recognized n
the consolidated financial statements. The company has unrecognized income tax benefits totaling S325 million,
S387 million and 8452 mitlion as of December 31,2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. If recognized. essentially all of the
unrecognized tax benetits and related interest and penalties would be recorded as a benefit to income tax expense on the

consohidated statements of income.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as tollows:

VWillions of dotlars) 2022 2021 20240
Unrecognized income tax benefits, January 1 S 387 S 452 S 472
Additions for tax positions of prior years 260 11 35
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (a) {45) (1 (34
Additions for current year tax positions - 19 11
Reductions for scttlements with taxing authoritics (a)b) {(23) {60) (39)
Forcign currency translation and other {20 (24 7
Lnrecognized income tax benefits, Decernber 31 5 32505 387 S 452
() 2022 amounts are primarily related to the scitlemient of tax audits,

(h) Settlements are uncertain tax positions that were effectively settled with the tuxing authorities, including positions

where the company has agreed to amend its tax returns to climinate the uncertainty.

The company classifies interest income and expense related to income taxes as tax expense in the consolidated
statements of income. The company recognized net interest benefiv of $3 million and 515 million and cxpense of $29 million
for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. respectively. The company had S35 million and S40 million of
accrued interest and penalties as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. which were recorded in other long-term
liabilitics i the consolidated balance sheets (Sce Note 7).




As of December 31,2022 the company remained subject to examination in the following major tax jurisdictions for
the tax vears us mdicated below:

Major tax jurisdictions Open Years

North and South America

United States 2017 through 2022
Canada 2014 through 2022
Mexico 2014 through 2022
Brazil 2003 through 2022

Europe and Africa

France 2019 through 2022
CGiermany 2018 through 2022
Spain 2010 through 2022
United Kingdom 2020 through 2022

Asia and Australia

Australia 2018% through 2022
China 2017 through 2022
India 20006 through 2022
South Korea 2020 through 2022

The company is currently under audit in a number of jurisdictions. As a resull, it is reasonably possible that some of
these matters will conclude or reach the stage where a change in unrecognized income tax benefits may oceur within the next
twelve months. At the time new information becomes available, the company will record any adjustment to Income tax
expense as required. Final determinations. if any. are not expected to be material to the consolidated financial statenients.
The company 15 also subject to income taxes in many hundreds ot state and local taxing jurisdictions that are apen to tax
examinations.



NOTE 6. EARNINGS PER SHARE ~ LINDE PL.C SHAREHOLDERS

Basic and Diluted earnings per share - Linde ple sharcholders is computed by dividing Income from continuing

operations. [ncome from discontinued operations. net of tax. and Net income

average number of cither basic or diluted shares outstanding. as follows:

Numerator (Millions of dollars)
Income from continuing opcrations

Income from discontinued operations, net ol tax
Net Income - Linde ple

Denominator (‘Thousands of shares)
Weighted average shares outstanding

Shares camed and issuable under compensation plans

Weighted average shares uscd in basic carnings per share
Effect of dilutive sceurities

Stock options and awards
Weighted average shares used in diluted carnings per share

Basic carnings per share trom continuing operations
Basic carnings per share from discontinued operations
Basic Farnings Per Share

Miluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted carnings per share from discontinued operations

Diluted Earnings Per Share

There were no antidilutive shares for the vears ended December 31,
NOTE 7. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Income Srarement

CMitlions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31,

Selling, General and Administrative
Selling
General and administrative

Yeuar Ended December 31,

Depreciation and Amortization (a)
Depreciation
Amortization of intangibles (Note 10)

Depreciation and Amortization
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Linde ple tor the pertod by the weighted

2822 2021 2020
S 4147 $ 3821 S 2497
5 4
S 4147 S 3,820 S 2301
499,254 516,507 526.404
482 389 332
499.736 516,896 326.736
4,302 4,979 4,421
304,038 321,875 531,137
S 830 S 73 S 474
0.01 0.01
S 830 S 740 S 4.75
S R23 S 732 S 470
0.01 0.01
S %23 S 733 S 471
2022, 2021 and 2020,

2022 2021 24320

S 1295 8 1.342 % 1.303

1§12 847 1.890

S 3.107 S 3,189 S 3.193
2022 2621 2020

S 3.633 S 3912 8 3861

571 723 763

S 1204 S 4,635 S 1626




Year Ended December 31,

Other Ineome (Exprnses) — Net
Currency related net gains (losses)
Partnership imconme

Severanee expense

Asser divestiture gains (losses)  net
ther  net

Y ear Ended Brecember 3,

Interest Expense — Net

Intcrest incurred vn delbt and other
Inierest income

Amortization on acquired debt
Interest capitalized

Bond redemption (b)

Y ear Ended December 3,

Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontralling interests” operations (c)

Bualunce Sheer

(Milliony of dollarsy
December 31,

Accounts Receivable
Trade and Other receivables

Less: allowanee for expected credit losses

Receivables

2022 2021 2020

S (18) S (29 S (2¥)

14 13 10

(13) (3 (5)

(9) (3 (78)

(400 26 40

s 62y S {26y S (61
2022 2021 2020

5 277 S 227 8 277

(117) (44 {(33)

(33) {53) (853)

(62) (57) {38)

— 16

S 63 S 77 S 115
2022 2021 2020

S 134 S 135 S 125
2022 2021

) 4964 S 4.904

(405) (403)

S 4,559 S 4,499

Linde applies loss ratcs that are lifetime expected credit losses at initial recognition of the receivables. These expected
loss rates are based on an analysis of the actual histerical default rates for each business, taking regional circumstances into
account. [ necessary. these historical default rates are adjusted to retlect the impact of current changes in the macreeconomic

cnvironment using forward-looking information, The toss rates are also evaluated based on the expectations of the

responsible management team regarding the collectability of the receivables. Gross trade receivables aged less than one year
were 54.49% million and $4,423 million at December 31, 2022 and December 31. 2021, respectively. and gross receivables
aged greater than one year were 8321 million and $329 million at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 20210 respectively.
Gross other receivables were S143 million and $130 million at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
Receivables aged greater than one yeur are generally fully reseryed unless specific cireumstances warrant exceptions, such as

thosc hacked by federal governments,



Provisions for expected credit losaes were SEO3 million. S129 million and S182 milhon for the twelve months ended
December 31,2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The allowance activity in the twelve months ended December 31, 2022
related o write-offs of uncollectibie amounts. net of recor erics and curreney movements 15 not material.

December 31,

Inventories

Raw materials and supplics
Work in process

Fintshed goods

December 31,

Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Prepaid and other deferred charges (d)
VAT recoverable

Unrcalized gains on derivatives (Note 12)
Other

December 31,

Other Long-term Assets
Penston assets (Note 16)
[nsurance conrracts (&)
Long-term receivables, net ()
Lease assets (Note 4)

Deposits

Inv estments carricd at cost (h)
Peterred charges

Deterred income taxes (Note 3)
Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 12)
Other

December 3,

Other Current Liabilities

Accrucd expenscs

Payroll

VAT pavable

Pension and postretirement (Note 16)
Interest pavable

Lease liability (Note 4)

[nsurance reser es

Unrealized losses on dervatives {(Note 12)
Cost reduction programs (Note 3)
Other

2022 021

S 367 S 399

368 334

1.0-43 1,000

S 1.978 S 1,733
w22 2021

S 587 S 527

225 196

24 101

104 146

S 950§ 970
2022 2021

S 661 S 139

39 46

164 105

872 1.016

52 43

184 18

66 62

230 242

4 35

204 278

S 2476 S 1,984
2022 2021

S 1,533 S 1248

614 7160

239 295

51 38

118 102

223 262

19 19

23 27

187 200

1.0535 99y

S 3082 S 3.899
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Becember 31, 2022 2021

Other Long-term Liabilities

Pension and postretirement (Note 16} S 640 S 1802
Tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions (Note 5) 248 302
Tax Act habilities for deemed repatriation {(Note 5) 139 178
Leasc liability (Note 4) 654 747
Interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions {Note 5) 35 40
Insurance reserves 52 56
Asset retirement obligation 305 305
Unrealized losses on denvatives (Note 12) 73 8
Cost reduction programs (Noie 3) 133 253
Other 516 197
S 2,795 S 4,188
December 31, 2022 2021
Deferred Credits
Deferred income taxes (Note 3) S 5886 S 6.239
Other Y13 759
S 6,799 S 6,998
December 31, 2022 2021

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income {Loss)

Cumulative transfation adjustment - net of taxes:

Aunericas {(g) S (3.942) § (3.985)
EMEA (g) (1,249) 94
APAC (g) (835) 154
Engineering (241) 24
Other 483 (280}
(3.784) (3.993)
Derivatives - net of taxes 62 75
Pension'OPER tunded status obligation (net of 534 million tax obligation in 2022 and
$305 million tax benefitin 2021) (Note 16) (60) (L, 130)
S (5,782) S (5.048)

(a)

Depreciation and amortization expense in 2022 include $1.006 million and $474 million, respectively. of Linde AG
purchase accounting impacts. In 2021, depreciation and amortization expense include $1.243 miilion and
S618 million, respectively, of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts.

In December 2020, the company repald S300 millien of 4.05% notes and $300 million of 3.00% notes that were due
in 2021 resulting in a S16 million interest charge.

In 2022, 2021 and 2020 noncontrolling interests from continuing operations includes $22 million, $135 million and
§37 million, respectively. of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts. The decrease in 2021 is primarily related to
the deconsolidation of a joint venture with operations in APAC (see Note 2) and the buyout of minority interests in
the Republic of South Africa (see Note 14).

Includes estimated income tax payments of $164 million in 2022 and $122 million in 2021.

Consists primarily of insurance contracts and other investments to be utilized for non-qualified pension and OPEDB
obligations.
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() The balances at December 3102022 und 2021 are net of reserves of $36 million and $33 million, respectively, The

amounts in both years relate primarily to long-term notes receivable from customers in APAC and government
recetvables tn Brazil. The amount in 2022 also includes receivables from the sale of GIST.

{e) Americas consists of currencey translation adjustments primarily in Canada, Mexico, and Brazil. EMEA relates
primarily to Germany, the UK. and Sweden. APAC relates primarily 1o China, South Korea, India and Australia.

{h) In 2022 includes investments from the deconsolidation of Russian subsidiaries.

NOTE 8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET
Significant classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

(Millions of dellars)

December 31,

Production plants (primarily 15-year life) (a)

Storage tanks

Transportation cguipment and other

Cylinders

Buildings

Land and improvements (b)

Construction in progress

Less: accumulated depreciation

Depreciable

Lives (Yrs) 2022 2021
10-20 S 30,554 8 29.120
15-20 4,807 4441
3-13 3434 2973
10-30 4,604 4474
25-40 3,002 3.265
(-20 1,047 1.i21
3.239 3.062
U687 18450
(27.139) (22453
S 23.548 S 26.003

{1} - Depreciable lives of production plants related to long-term customer supply contracts arc generally consistent with the

contract tves.
(b) - Land is not depreciated.

NOTE 9. GOODWILL

Changes in the carrying amount ol goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as tollows:

(Millions of dellars) Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total
Balance. December 3. 2020 S Q083 S 10844 8§ 5,262 S 2.682 S 330 S 2R.201
Acquisitions 43 1 46
Foreign currency translation and other (41 (359) (173 {(186) (7) (966)
Disposals (Note 2) — () {235} - (243)
Balunce. December 31, 20021 9.087 10.278 4,854 2,496 323 27038
Acquisitions 44 28 — — 72
Foreign currency translation and other 5 (773) (304) (146) (13 (1,231)
Disposals (Note 2 & Note 3) (41) — 4} (2 162)
Bulunce, December 31, 2022 S

S 9136 S 9492 § 4550 2349 S 290 S 25817

[inde performs its goodwill impairment tests annually as of QOctober 1 or more frequently if events or circumstances
indicate that an impainnent loss may have been incurred. For the fourth quarter 2022 test, the company applied the FASB s
accounting guidance which allows the company to first assess gqualitative factors to determine the exrent of additional
quantitatis ¢ analysis. if any, that may be required w test goodwill for impairment. Based on the qualitatis ¢ assessments
performed. the company concluded that it was more Likely than not that the fair value of cach reporting unit substanually
exceeded its carrving value and theretore, further quantitative analysis was not required. As a result. no impainmnent was

recorded. There were no indicators of impairment sinee the annual goodwill impairment test was performed through

Doecember 31, 2022,
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NOTE 10. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

the totlowing 15 a summary of Linde’'s other intangible asscts at December 31, 2022 and 2021

(Mitlions of dollars)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Cost;
Balance, December 31, 2021
Additions
Forcign curreney translation
Disposals (Note 2)
Other*
Balance, December 31, 2022
Less: accumulated amortization:
Batance. December 31, 2021
Amortization expense (Note 7)
Foreign currency translation
Disposals (Note 2)
Other*

Balance, December 31, 2022

Net intangible asset balance at December 31,2022 S

(Mitlins of dollars)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

Cost:
Balance, December 31, 2020
Additions
Foreign curreney translation
Disposuls
Other*
Halance, December 31. 2021
Less: accumulated amortization:
Balance, December 31,2020
Amortization expense (Note 7)
Foreign currencey wanslation
Dispuosals (Note 2)
Other*
Batance. December 31, 2021

Net balance at December 31,2021

*

Other
Customer Brands/ Intangible
Relationships Tradenames Assets Lotal

11,859 5 2685 S 1.629 5 16.173

19 53 72
(660) (1209 (36) (B30)
(140) 45 (183
(10) 116 100

11.062 2.565 1,697 15324
(1.341) (159) (671 (2,371
(419} (42) (110) (371)

80 5 13 98

34 16 50

3 {113) (110

(1.841) (196) (367) (2,904)

9221 5 2369 S 830 12,420

(Hher
Customer [ntangible
Relationships Brands/Tradenames Assets Total

13776 & 2895 S 1.697 18.368

12 61 73

{490, (113} (69) (672)
(1.085) {94) (46) (1.225)
(354} (3) (14) (371

11,859 2.685 1,629 16,173
(1.470) (118) (596) (2.18)
(553) (45} (123) (723)

64 3 22 89

66 1 13 80

352 - - 15 367

(1.541) (159) (671) (2.370)
10318 S 2526 S 958 13,802

Other primartly relates to the write-oft of fully amortized asscts and reclassifications. 2021 Other is primarily due to
merger related customer Lists in the Americas.

There arc no expected residual values related to these intangible assets. Amortization expense tor the vears ended
December 31, 2622, 2021 and 2020 was $371 million. 723 million and $763 million, respectively. The remaining weighted-

average amortization period for intangible assets 1s approximately 24 years.
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Total estimated annual amortization expense related o tinite-Tived intangibles s as follows:

¢ Millions of dollars)

2023 5 565
2024 537
2025 519
2026 168
2027 460
Thereafter 8.165
Total amortization related w Ginite-lived intangible asscts 1714
Indefinite-lived intangible assets at December 37, 2022 1.706
Net intangible assets at December 31, 2022 S 12,420
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NOTE 11. DEBT
The following ix o sumimary of Linde’s oustanding debt at December 31 2622 und 2021

December 31, December 31,

(Mitlions of deilury} 2022 2021
SHORT-TERM

Commercial paper S 3926 S 278
Other borrowings (primarily non U.5.) 191 ¥83
Total short-term det 4,117 1.163

LONG-TERM (a}
rCLS dollar denominated wniess otherwise noted)

0.230% Euro denominated notes due 2022 (b) (¢) 1,137
2.20% Notes due 2022 {0) 300
2.70% Notes due 2023 01 300
2.00% Lureo denominated notes due 2023 (b) 699 759
5.875% GRP denominated notes due 2023 (b) 367 432
£.20% Euro denominated notes due 2024 588 625
1.875% Euro denominated notes due 2024 (b) 324 336
4.800% Notes due 2024 (H 204 .
4.700% Nates due 2025 (H 598
2.63% Notes due 2023 400 399
1.625% Euro denominated notes due 2025 533 365
0.00% Eurg denominated notes due 2026 751 799
3.20% Notes due 2026 724 723
3.434% Notes due 2026 198 197
1.652% Euro denominated notes due 2027 83 94
0.250% Fure denominated notes due 2027 82 %50
1.00% Euro denominated notes due 2027 (d) 3536 .
1.4 e Eure denominated notes due 2028 (b) 749 279
1.10% Notes duc 2030 6Y6 696
1.90% Euro denominated notes due 2030 L1 118
1.375% Euro denominated notes duc 2031 (d) 303
0.550% Euro denominated notes due 2032 798 847
0.375% Euro denominated notes duc 2033 529 565
1.625% Euro denominated notes due 2033 (d) 849
3.55%0 Notes due 2042 665 664
2.00% Notes due 20350 296 296
1.00% FEuro denominated notes duc 2051 731 788
Non LS. borrowings 152 243
Oiher 10 10
13,797 13.044
Less: current portion of Tong-term debt (1.599) (1.709)
Total long-term debt 12,198 11.335
Total debt 17914 14207
{a) Amounts are net of unamortized discounts. preminms and'or debt tssuance costs as applicable.
() December 31,2022 and 2021 included a cumulative S36 million and $42 million adjustment to carrving value,
respectively. related to hedge accounting of interest rate swaps.
() [n January 2022, Linde repaid €10 billion of 0.230% note that became due.
() [n March, 2022. Linde issued €300 million ot 1.OGO%, notes due 2027, €750 million of 1.373% notes due 2031, and
€800 million of 1.625% notes due 2033,
(c) [n May 2022, Linde repaid $500 million of 2.20%: notes that were due in August 2022, There was ne impact to

interest within the consolidated statements of income.
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H In November 2022, Linde 1ssued 8300 miltion of 4. 80070 notes due in 2024 and S600 millon of 4.700% notes due
mn 2025,

Credit Facilities

On December 7, 2022, the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an amended and restated unsecurced
revolving eredit agreement (the “Five Year Credit Agreement™) with a syndicate of banking institutions. The Five Year
Credit Agreement provides for total commitments of $5.0 billion. which may be increased up to $6.3 billion, subject to
receipt of addinonal commitments and satisfuction of customary conditions. There are ne financial maintenance covenants
contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving eredit facility expires on December 7, 2027 with the option to request
two one-year extensions of the expiration date

In addition. on December 7. 2022, the company and certain of its subsidiarics entered inte an unscecured 364-day revolving
credit agreement {(the 364-Day Credit Agreement™ and. together with the Five Year Credit Agreement, the “Credit
Agreements”) with a svndicate of banking institutions. The 364-Day Credit Agreement provides for total commitments of
51.5 billion. There are no financial maintenance covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving eredit
facility expires on December 7. 2023 with the option to elect to have the entire principal balance outstanding under the Credit
Agreement converted into non-revolving term loans, which will be due and pavable one year after the commitment
termination date.

No borrowimngs were outstanding under the Credit Agreements as of December 31, 2022,
Other Debt Information

The weighted-ay erage interest rates ot short-term borrow ings outstanding were 3.2% and 0.0% as of December 31.
2022 and 2021, respectively,

Expected maturities of Jong-term debt are as follows:

{Millions of dollary)

2023 S 1,599
2024 1.219
2025 1.548
2026 1.686
2027 1.442
Therealter 6.303

5 13.797

As of December 31,2022, the amount of Linde’s assers pledged as collateral was immaterial.
Sece Note 13 for the fair value informaton related to debt.
NOTE 12, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

[n 1ts normal operations, Linde 15 exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange
rates, energy and commodity costs. he objective of financial risk management at Linde is to minimize the negatise impact
of such fluctuations on the company s carnings and cash flows. To manage these risks. among other strategics. Linde
routinely enters into various derivative financial instruments {“derivatives™) including interest-rate swap and treasury rate
lock agreements. currency-swap agreements, forw ard contracts, currency options, and commodity-swap agreements, These
instruments are not catered into for trading purposes and Linde only uscs commonty traded and non-leveraged instruments.

There are three types of derivatives that the company enters into: (i) those relating to tfair-value eaposures. (1) those relating
to cash-tlow exposures, and (ii1) those relating to foreign curreney net invesunent exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to
recognized assels or habilities, and finn comnmitments: cash-flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows
associated with recognized assets or labilities. or forecasted transactions: and net inyestment exposures refate w the impact
of fareign curreney exchange rate changes on the carrving value of net assets denominated in foreign cumrencics.,

When a demvative 1s executed and hedge accounting 1s appropriate. 1t 1s designated as either a fair-value hedge. cash-tlow
hedge. or a net investment hedge. Currently. Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury-raze locks as hedges for
accounting purposes: how ey er, cross-currency contracts are generally not designated as hedges for accounting purposes.
Certain currency contracts related to forecasted transactions are designated as hedges for accounting purposcs. Whether
designated as hedges for accounting purposes or not. all derivatives are inked 1o an appropriate underlying cxposure. On an
ongoing basts. the company assesses the hedge eftectiveness of all derivatives designated as hedges for accounting purposes

i)
(s




to determnine if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the underlying hedged
items. If it is determined that the hedge 15 not hiehly etfective, through the use of'a qualitative assessment. then bedge
accounting will be discontinued prospectively.

Counterparties o Linde’s derivatives are major banking institutions with credit ratings of investment grade or better. The
company has Credit Support Anneses (*CSAs™) in place for certain entities with their principal counterparties to minimize
potential default risk and to mutigate counterparty risk. Under the CSAs, the fair values of derivatives for the purpose of
interest rate and cuwrrency management are collateralized with cash on a regular basis. As of December 31, 2022, the impact
of such collateral posting arrangements on the fair value of derivatises was insigniticant. Management believes the risk of
incurring fosses on derivative contracts related to credit risk is remote and any losses would be immaterial.

The following table is a summary of the notiona! amount and fair value of derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2022 and
2021 for consolidated subsidiaries:

Fair Value
tMitfions of dotiars) “otional Amounts Assets (a) Liahilities (a}
w 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments:

Currenev contiacts:

Balance sheet itcms 5 3036 S 4427 S 13 S 225 78 17

Forecasted transactions 449 537 Y 6 9 1

Cross-currency swaps 42 148 — 21 | 4
Commaodity contracts N'A N°A — — —

Total ) 3547 8§ 5112 § 225 49 S 17 5 32
Derivatives Designated as Hedging

Instruments:

CUPreney contaects,

Balance sheet items ) -— 8 — 8 S — S — 5

Forecasted transactions 323 758 b 14 5 3
Commadity contracty NA N A 49 4

Interest rate swaps 856 1.251 24 70

Total Hedges S 1179 S 2009 S 6 S 87§ 79 3

Total Derivatives S 4726 S 7021 S 28 S 136 S 9 S 35

{a} Amounts at December 31, 2022 and 2021 included current assets of $24 million and $101 million, which are

recorded in prepaid and other current assets; long-term assers of $4 million and $35 million. which are recorded in
other long-ternt assets: current liabilities of $23 million and $27 million, which are recorded in other current
liabitities; and long-term liabilities of $73 million and S8 mitlion, which are recorded in other long-term liabilities.

Balance Sheer Items

Fareign currency contracts related 1o balance sheet items consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the
exposure to fluctuations in forcign-currency exchange rates on recorded batance sheet assets and liabilitics denominated in
currencics other than the functional curreney of the related operating unit. Certain forward currency contracts are entered into
to protect underlying monctary assets and liabifities denominated in foreign currencies from foreign exchange risk and are
not designated as hedging instruments. For balance sheet items that are not designated as hedging instruments, the fair value

adjustments on these contracts are offset by the fair value adjustments recorded on the underlying monetary asscts and
liabilities.

Forecasted Transactions

Forcign currency contracts related to forecasted transactions consist of forward contracts entered into o manage the
exposure to fluctuations in foreign-curreney exchange rates on (1) forceasted purchases of capital-related equipment and
services, (2) forecasted sales, or (3) other forecasted cash flows denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the related operating units. For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash flow hadges. fair value adjustments are
recorded to accumulated other comprehensise income {loss) with deferred amounts reclassified to carnings over the same



time period as the income statement impact of the associated purchase. For forecasted transactions that do not qualify tor
cash flow hedging relationships. fuir value adjustments are recorded directly to carnings.

Cross-Currency Swaps

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are entered mto to limit the foreign curreney risk of future principal and interest
cash flows associated with intercompany foans, and o a more limited extent bonds. denominated in non-functonal
currencies. The fair value adjustments on the cross-currency swaps are recorded to carnings, where they are offset by fair
value adjustments on the underlying intercompany loan or bond.

Commaodity Contracts

Commodity contracts are entered into to manage the exposure to Huctuations in commadity prices. which artse in the
normal course of business from its procurement transactions. To reduce the extent of this risk. Linde enters into a limited
number of electricity. natural gas. and propanc gas derivatives. For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash Tow
hedges. fair value adjustments are recorded to accumutated other comprehensive income (loss) with deferred amounts
reclassified to carnings over the same time period as the income statement impact of the associated purchase.

Net Investment Hedgey

As of December 31. 2022, Linde has €8.0 billion (S8.5 billion} Euro-denominated notes and intercompany loans and
¥3.2 bithion (50.5 billion) CNY-denominated intercompany loans that arc designated as hedges of the net inyestiment
positions 1n cerlain foreign operations. Since hedge ineeption. the deferred gain recorded within cumulative translation
adjustiment component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance sheet and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 1s $473 nullion (deferred gain of $333 million for the vear cnded
December 31,2022,

As of December 31, 2022, exchange rate movements relating to previously designated hedges that remain in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) s a loss of $42 millien. These movements will remuin in accumulated other
comprchensive income (loss). until appropriate, such as upon sale or liquidation of the related foreign operations at which
time amounts will be reclassified 1o the conselidated statements of income.,

Interest Rate Swaps

Lindc uses interest rate swips to hed
liabilitics as a result of interest rate change

variable rates: fair value adjustments are recognized in carnings alonyg with an equally offsctting charge benefit to carnings
for the changes in the fair value of the underlying financial asset or financial lability (See Note 11).

ge the exposure to changes in the fair value of financial asscts and financial
5. These interest rate swaps effectively cansert fixed-rate interest exposures to

Derivatives Impact on Consolidated Statenrents of Income

The following table summarizes the impact of the company’'s derivatives on the consolidated statements of income:

Amount of Pre-Tax Gain (Loss)

rMitlions of didlars) Recopnized in Earnings *
December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Currency contracts:

Balance sheet items:

Debt-related 5 12 s 4z S (125)
Other balance sheet items h (3} <+
Total S 20 08 3% S (163)

* The gains tlosses) en balance sheet items are offset by gains (lossesy recorded on the underlying hedged assers and
liabilitics. Accordingly. the gains (lossest tor the dervivarives and the underlying hedged assets and labilites related to debn
items are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as interest expense-net, Other balance shect items and
anticipated net income gans {losses) are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as other income (expenses)-net.

The amounts of gain or loss recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (lossy and reclassified to the
consolidated statement of income was not material for the vears ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and
December 3102020 Net impacts expected to be reclassitied to carnings during the next mw elv ¢ months are also not material.
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NOTE 13 FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

The [air value hmerarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation technigques used to measure thir value into three broad levels
as follows:
Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or habilities
Level 2 quoted prices for similar assets and fiabilitics in active markets or inputs that are observable
Level 3 inputs that are unobservable (for example cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)
Assets and Liahilities Measuved at Fair Value on a Recurring Basiy

The tollowing rable summarizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2022
and 2021;

¥ air Value Measurcments Using

( Millions of doifary) Level 1 Level 2 Ievel3
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Assets

Derivative assets S -5 — 8§ 28 S 136 S -5

Investments and securities * 20 42 — — 13 20

Total ) 208 425 288 136 S 138 20

Liabilities

Derivative liabilities S S — 5 96 S 358 — 8 —
*

Investments and securities are recorded in prepaid and other current assets and other long-term assets in the
company s consolidated balance sheets.

Level 1investments and sccuritics are marketable securities traded on an exchange. Level 2 investments are based on
market prices obtained from independent brokers or determined using quantitative models that use as their busts readily
obscrvable market parameters that are actively quoted and can be validated through external sources, including third-party
pricing services. brokers and market transactions. Level 3 investments and securities consist of a venture fund. For the
valuasion, Linde uses the net asset value received as part of the fund’s quarterly reporting, which for the most part is not
bascd en quoted prices in active markets. 1n order to reflect current market conditions. Linde proportionally adjusts these by
observable market data {stock exchange prices) or current transaction prices.

Changes i fevel 3 inmvestments and securitics were immuterial.

The fair value of cash and cash cquivalents, short-term debt, accounts receivable-net, and accounts payvable
approximate carrying value because of the short-term maturities of these instraments.

The fair value of long-term debt iy estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or stmilar issues. Long-
term debt is categorized within either Level | or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy depending on the trading volume of the
issues and whether or not they are actively quoted in the market as opposed to traded through over-the-counter transactions.
At December 31, 2022, the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was S11.994 million versus a carrying
value of $13,797 million, At December 31, 2021 the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was
S13.219 million versus a carrying value of $13.044 million. Differences between the carrying value and the fair value are
attributable to fluctuations in interest rafes subsequent to when the debt was issuced and relativ e to stated coupon rates.

NOTE 14. EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Linde ple Shareholders’ Equity

At December 31, 2022 and 202 1. Linde has total authorized share capital of €1.825.000 divided mto 1,730,000 000
ordinary shares of €0.001 cach. 25.000 A ordinary sharces of €1.00 cach. 23,000 deferred shares of €1.00 cach and 25.060.000
preferred shares of €0.001 each.

At December 31, 2022 there were 332.012.862 and 492.437.627 of Linde ple ordinary shares issued and vutstanding,
respectively, At December 31, 2022 there were no shares of A ordinary shares. deferred shares or preterred shares issued or
vutstanding.
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At December 31,2021 there were 552,012,862 and 308.680.879 of Linde ple ordinary shares issued and outstanding.
respectinvely. At December 3102021, there were no shares of A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferred shaves fssued or
outstanding.

Linde's Board of Directors may from time o time authorize the issuance of one or more serics of preferred stock and.,
in conncetion with the creation ot such series, determine the characteristics of cach such series including, without limitation.
the preference and refative, participating, optienal or other special rights. and the qualifications. limitations or restrictions off
the scries.

Orther Linde pic Ordinarvy Share and Treasury Share Transactions

Linde may issue new ordinary shares for dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plans and employee savings and
incentive plans. No new ordinary shares were issued in 2022, 2021 and 2020.

On January 22, 2019 the company's board of directors approved the additional repurchase of S6.0 billion of its
ordinary sharcs under which Linde had repurchased 24.847.354 shares through December 31, 2021, Linde completed the
repurchases under this program in the first quarter ot 2021,

On January 235, 20271 the company s board of directors approved the additional repurchase of' $3.0 billion of 1ts
ordinary shares (72021 program™) under which Linde had repurchased 16.662.67% shares through December 34, 2022, This
program is set w expire on July 31, 2023, Linde completed the repurchases under this program in the first quarter of 2022,

On February 28,2022 the company's board of directors authorized @ new share repurchase program for up to
S10.0 billion of its ordinary shares (2022 program™) under which Linde had repurchased 15.474 739 shares through
December 31, 2022, This program expires on July 31 2024

Noncontrolling Intereses

Noncontrolling interest ownership changes are presented within the consolidated statements of equity. 2022 includes
the impact of deconsolidating the company”s Russian gas and engincering business entities (sec to Note 3)

Ihe decerease during 2021 is primarily related to the deconsolidation of a joint venture with operations in APAC (see to
Note 2).

The decrease during 2020 primarily relates to the initiated buvout ot minority interests in the Republic of South Afvica.
Az ot December 31,2020, the conditions of the buyout were met obligating the company to execute in January 2021,
Theretore. the company reclassified $196 million from non-controlling interest (o other current habilities reflecting the
transaction price. An additional $35 million of dividends declared o the minority owners. reflected on the Dividends and
other capital reducuons line. was also reclassified w other current liabilities at December 31, 2020 and was paid in 2021,

Redeemable Yoncontrolling Interests

Noneontrelling interests with redemption features, such as putzselt options, that are not solely within the company s
control (redeemable noncontrolling interests™) are reported separately in the consolidated balance sheets at the greater of
carrying value or redemption value. For redecmable noncontrolling interests that are not yer exercisable. Linde caleulates the
redemption value by accreting the carrying value w the redemption value over the period until excreisable. [ the redemption
valuc is greater than the carrying value. any increase is adjusted divectly to retained earnings and does not impact net income.
At December 31,2022 and 202 1. the redeemable noncontrolling interest balance includes an industrial gas business in
EMEA where the noncontrelling sharcholders have put options.

NOTE 15, SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-based compensation expense was $107 million 1n 2022 (S 128 million and $133 million n 2021 and 2020,
respectively). The related income tax benefit recognized was $64 million in 2022 (564 million and $79 million in 2021 and
2020, respectively ). The expense was primarily recorded m selling. general and administrative expenses and no share-based
campensation exXpense Was cuapitalized.

Sunmary of Plans

The 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentve Plan (the 72021 Plan™) was adopted by the Board of Directors and
sharcholders of Linde ple on July 26. 2021. Upon adoption of the 2021 Plan. any authorized shares that remained available
for grant for new awards under the Amended and Restated 2009 Linde Long Term [ncentive Plan tthe “2009 Plan™) were

cancelled. The 2021 Plan permits awards of stock options. stock appreciation rights. restricted steck and restricted stock
units, performance-based stock units and other cquity awards to eligible officer and non-officer emplovees and
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non-employee directors of the company and its affiliates. As of December 31, 2022, 8,271,252 shares remained available for
equity grants under the 2021 Plan, of which 2.726.282 shares may be granted as awards other than options or stock
appreciation rights.

Exercise prices for options granted under the 2021 Plan may not be less than the elosing market price of the company s
ordinary sharcs on the date of grant and granted options may not be re-priced or exchanged without sharcholder approval.
Options granted under the 2021 Plan subject only 10 time vesting requirements may become partially exercisable after a
mintmum of one year afier the date of grant but may not become fully exereisable until at least three vears have elapsed from
the date of grant, and all options have a maximum duration of ten years.

In order to satisty oprion exercises and uther equity grants. the company may issue authorized but previously unissued
shares or it may Issue reasury shares.

Stock Option Fair Value

The company utilizes the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model 1o determine the fair value of stock options consistent
with that used 1 prior years. Management 1s required to make certain assumptions with respect to sclected model inputs,
including anticipated changes in the underlying stock price (1.e., expected volatility} and option exercise activity (i.c.,
expected life). Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the company’s stock over the most recent period
commensurate with the estimated expected life of the company”s stock options and other factors. The expected life of options
granted, which represents the period of time that the options are expected to be ourstanding, is based primarily on historical
exercise experience. The expected dividend yield is based on the company s most recent history and expectation of dividend
payouts. The risk-free rate is based on the ULS. Treasury vicld curve in effect af the time of grant for & period commensurate
with the estimated expected life. If factors change and result in different assumptions in future periods, the stock option
expense that the company records for future grants may differ significantdy from what the company has recorded in the
current period.

The weighted-average fair valuc of options granted during 2022 was S45.07 (837.80 in 2021 and S17.37 in 2020) based
on the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing model. The increase in the grant date fair value year-over-year 1s primarily attributable
to the increase in the stock price.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to value the grants in 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Y ear Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Dividend vield 1.7% . 7% 2.29%
Volatlity 20.6% 18.4% 15.8%
Risk-frec interest rate 1. 700 1 10%% 0.60%
Expected werm years 3 6 6

The following table summuarizes option activity under the plans as of December 31, 2022 and changes during the period
then ended (averages are caleulated on a weighted basis; life in years: intrinsic value expressed in millions):

Number of Average Average Aggregate
Options Exercise Remaining Intrinsic

Activity (000)7s) Price Life Value
Outstanding at January i, 2022 7,166 S 152.56
Grranted 476 270.99
Excreised {880) 125.03
Cancelled or expired (42) 23921
Ouistanding at December 31, 2022 0,720 S 164.03 50 S 1,090
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 3383 S 145,71 50 5 971

The aggregate intrinsie value represents the difference between the company s closing stock price of $326.18 as of
December 31, 2022 and the exercise price multiplied by the number of in the money options outstanding as of that date. The
total intrinsic value ot stock options exercised during 2022 was S176 million (8294 million and 5264 milfion in 2021 and
2020, respectively ).

Cash received from option exercises under al) share-based payment arrangements for 2022 was S36 million
(S50 miltion and $36 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively). The cash tax benetit realized from share-based compensation
totaled $61 million for 2022 (S64 million and S70 million cash tax benefit in 2021 and 2020, respectively).
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As of December 31. 2022, 513 million of unrecognized compensation cost refated to non-vested stock options is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximarely | year.

Performance-Based and Restriceed Stock Unie Awards

In 2022, the company granted 368.600 performance-based stock unit awards under the 2021 Plan to senior
management that vest. subject to the attainment of pre-established minimum performance criteria. principally on the third
anniy ersary of their date of grant. These awards are tied to cither afier tax return on capital ("ROCT) performance or relative
totul sharcholder return ("TSR™) performance versus that of the S&P 500 (weighted 67%) and Eurofirst 300 (weighted 33200
The actual number of shares 1ssucd in settlement of a vested award can range from zero w0 200 percent of the target number
of shares granted based upon the company s aainment of specified performance targets at the end of a three-y ear period.
Compensation expense related 1o these awards is recognized oy er the three-vear performance period based on the tair value
ol the closing market price of the company’s ordinary shares on the date of the grant and the estimated performance that will
be achieyved. Compensation expense for ROC awards will be adjusted during the three-year performance period based upon
the estimated performance levels that will be achieved. TSR awards arc measured at their grant date fair value and not
subscquently re-measured. The number of performance-based stock unit awards granted in 2022 includes an increase of
226.690 stock units to the target number of performance-based awards originally granted in 2019, as these awards achieved a
higher payout tactor upon completion of the three-year performance period.

The weighred-ay erage tairyalue of ROC awards granted in 2022 was $237.63 (524110 1n 2021 and $161.56 in 2020).
These fair values are based on the closing market price of Linde’s ordinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dividends
that will not be paid during the vesting period.

The weighted-average fair value of TSR awards granted in 2022 was $301.42 (8301.04 in 2021 and S198.61 in 2020}
and was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation performed as of the grant date.

There were 139.512 restricted stock units granted to employees by Linde during 2022, The weighted-average fair value
of restricted stock units granted during 2022 was S260.27 (5242.60 in 2021 and $174.95 in 2020). These fair values are based
on the closing market price of Linde's ordinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dividends that will not be paid during,
the vesting period. Compensation expense related to the restricted stock units is recognized over the vesting period.

The following table summarizes non-vested performance-based and restricted stock unit award activity as of

December 31,2022 and changes during the period then ended ¢shares based on target amounts, averages are caleulated on a
weighted basis):

Pertormance-Based Restricted Stock
Number of Average Number of Aserage

Shares Grant Date Shares Grant Dare

(0005} Fair v alue (000" 5) Fair Value
Non-vested at January 1. 2022 610 S 20439 636 S 172.90
Granted 369 27331 140 260.27
Vested (383) t84.32 (113 168.33
Cancelled and Forfeited (13) 250,01 (17 23251
Non-vested at December 31,2022 583 S 226.04 646 S 190 .33

There are approximately 12 thousand performance-based stock units and 18 thousand restricted stock units that are
non-vested at December 31, 2022 which will be settled in cash due to foreign regulatory limitations, The lrability related to
these grants reflects the current estimate of performance that will be achicved and the current share price.

As of December 31,2022 S42 million of unrecognized compensation cost related o performance-based awards and
S$32 million of unrecognized compensation cust related to the restricted stock unit awards is expected to be recagnized
primarily through the first quarter of 2025,

NOTE 16, RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
Defined Benefit Pension Plans — (.S.

I'he Tinde retnirement plans are non-contributory defined benetit plans covering eligible employvees and its pacticipating
atfiliates. Effective July 1, 2002, the Linde U.S. Pension Plan was amended to giv e participating emplovees a one-time
irrevocable choice berween a traditional benefit tthe “Traditivnal Design™ and an account-based benefit (the " Account-
Based Design™ ). The T'raditional Design pays a monthly benefit based on vears of service and average pay during the Jast




years ol the participant’s career with Linde. The Account-Based Design gives participants annual pay credits equal to 4% of
cligible compensation, plus interest credits based on long-term treasury rates on the accumulated account balance. This new
fonnula applics to all new employees hired atter April 30, 2002 into businesses adopting this plan. The U.S. pension plan
assets are comprised of a diversified mix of investments. including corporate cyuitics. gos ernment securitics and corporate
debt securitics. Einde has several plans that provide supplententary retirement benefits primarily o higher level employvees
that are unfunded and are nongualified for federal tax purposes. Pension coverage for employees ot certain of Linde’s
non-U.S. subsidiaries generally is provided by those companies through separate plans. Obligations under such plans are
primarily provided for through diversified investment portfolios. with some sinaller plans provided for under insurance
policies or by book reserves.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans — Non-ULS.

Linde has Non-11.S., defined benetit commitments primarily in Germany and the UK that inciude pension plan asscts
comprised of a diversified mix of investments. The defined benefit commitments in Germany relate to old age pensions,
imvalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. These commitments also take into account vested rights tor periods
of service prior to January 1, 2002 based on earlier final-salary pension plan rules. In addition, there are direct commitments
in respect of the salary cormversion scheme for the form of cash balance plans. The resulting pension payments are calculated
on the basis of an Interest guarantee and the performance of the corresponding investment. There are no minimum funding
requirements. The pension obligations in Germany are partly funded by a Contractual Trust Agreement {CTA Y. Defined
benefit commitments in the UK. prior to July 1. 2003 are carnings-related and dependent on the peried of service. Such
commitments relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. Beginning in Apnil 1L 2011,
the amount of future increases in inflation-linked pensions and of increases in pensionable emoluments was restricted.

Multi-employer Pension Plany

In the United States Linde participates in eight multi-ecmployer defined benefit pension plans ("MEPS™), pursuant to the
terms of collective bargaining agreements, that cover approximately 200 union-represented eimployees. The colleetive
hargaining agreements expire on different dates through 2026, Tn connection with such agrecments, the company is required
to make periodic contributions o the MEPs in accordance with the weems of the respective collective bargaining agreements.
Linde's participation in these plans is net material either at the plan level or in the aggregate. For all MEPs, Linde’™s
contributions were significantly less than 1% of the total contributions to cach plan for 2021 and 2020, Tolal 2022
contributions were not yet available from the MEPs,

Lindc has obtained the most recently available Pension Protection Act ("PPA™) annual funding notices from the Trustees
of the MEPx. As of December 31, 2022, there were three Red Zone plans, deemed to be in “eritical™ or eritical and declining™
status that have implemented financiad impros ement or rehabilitation plans. Linde does not currently anticipate significant future
obligations due to the funding status of these plans and such obligation would be immaterial. I Linde determined 1t was
probable that it would withdraw from an MEP, the company would record a liability for its portion of the MEP"s unfunded
pension obligations, as calculated at that time. Historically. such withdrawal payments have not been significant.

Defined Contribution Plans

Linde’s L.S. employees are cligible to participate in defined contribution savings plans offered by their applicable
business. Employee contribution percentages vary by plan and are subject to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations. The
cost for these defined contribution plans was S36 million in 2022, S51 million in 2021 and S46 million in 2020 (these costs
arc not included in the tables that follow).

The defined contribution plans include a non-leveraged employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP™) which covers all
employees participating in this plan. The colicetive number of shares of Linde ordinary shares in the ESOP totaled 1.733.281
at December 31, 2022,

Certain non-U.S subsidiaries of the company also sponsor defined contribution plans where contributions are
determined under various formulas. The expense for these plans was S80 million in 2022, S101 millton in 2021 and
S106 million in 2020 (these expenses are not inctuded in the tables that follow ).

Postretivement Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)

Linde provides health care and hife insurance benefits ta certain eligible retired employees. These benefits are provided
through various insurance companies and healtheare providers. The company does not currently fund its postretirement
benetits obligations. Linde’s retiree plans may be changed or terminated by Linde at any time for any reason with no tiability
to current or future retirees.

Linde uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans.



Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

I'he components of net pension and postretireiment benefits other than pension (TOPERB™) costs tor 2022, 2021 and

2020 are shown in the table below:

Year Ended December 31,

M illions of doflars) 012 2021 1020
Amount recognized in Operating Profit
Service cost b 127 S 137§ 152
Amount recognized in Net pension and OPEB cost (henefit), exciuding service
cost
[nterest cost 201 154 213
Expected return on plan assets {51¥) (320 (482)
Net amortization and deferral 74 171 8O
Settlement charges (a) 4] 4 [}
S (237) % (192y 5 (177
Net periodic benefit cost (benefit) S (1o S {35y § (23}
a) Settlement charges were triggered by lump sum benefit pavments made from a U.S. non-qualified plan.

80




Funded Status

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets for Linde’s pension and OPEB programs., including reconciliation off
the funded status ot the plans to amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheet, as of December 310 2022 and 2021 are

shown below.

THillions of dotlars)

Change in Benefit Obligation (“PBO™)
Benefit obligation, January 1
Service cost
Interest cost
Divestitures
Participant contributions
Plan amendment
Actuarial loss (gain)
Benefits paid
Plan settlement

Foreign currency translation and other changes

Benefit obligation. December 3
Acecumulated benefit obligation ("ABO™)

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets, January |
Actual return on pian asscts
Company contributions
Participant contributions
Benacfits paid from plan asscts

Divestitures

Foreign curreney translation and other changes

Fair value of plan asscts. December 31
Funded Status, End of Year
Recorded in the Balance Sheet (Note 7)
Other long-term assets
Other cutrent labilities
Other long-term liabilitics

Netamount recognized. December 31

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss) consist of:
Net actuarial less (gam)
Prior scrvice cost (credit)
Deferred ax obligation (henetit) (Now 7)

Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive incomnie

(loss) (Note 7)
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Y ear Ended December 31,

2022 2021
L.S. Nan-L .S, LS. Non-L .S,
S 2719 8 G398 § 2895 S 10,010
34 93 39 118
60 141 48 106
(13
11 17 1 19
(328) (2977 (101) (210)
(158) (296) (166) (333)
(M 18) (7 (13}
(787) (286)
S 21295 5586 S 2719 S 9398
S 1982 % 5508 S 2503 S 9,278
S 244% S 7968 S 2310 & 7.653
(421) (1,302) 281 728
31 42
— i - 19
{136) (248) (143) (272)
(14
— {692) (18%)
§ 18915 5794 85 2.44% S 7.968
S (238) S 2088 (2710 S {1.430)
S 13§ 648 S 158 124
(38) (13) (25) (13
(213) (427 (261) (1.341)
§ 0 (238%) S 08 S (270 S (1430
5 357 S {383) S 364 S 1078
(12) 4 {13 6
(83) (39 (88) (217)
5 260 S (200) S 263 S 867




Comparative funded status information as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 tor select non-U S, pension plans is
presented in the table below as the benefit obligations of these plans are considered to be significant retative 1o the total

benefit obligation:

(Millivns of dolurs)
Benefit obligation. December 31
Fair value of plan assets, December 31

Funded Status. End of Year

rMillionys of dallars}

t3enefir obligation. December 31
[air value of plan assets, December 31

Funded Status, End of Year

United Kingdom

Germany

Other Non-US.

Total Non-L .5,

2022 2022 2022 2022
5 300§ 1485 0§ 1,001 S 5586
3.625 1.285 %4 5,794
5 525 5 4200) S (117 s 208
1 nited Kingdom Germany Other Nan-L.8, Total Non-1.8.
2021 2021 2021 2021
5 5879 0§ 2240 S 1.279 S 9,394
5,377 1,359 1.032 7.968
S (302} S (881) S (247) S {1,430

The changes in plan assets and benetit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income in 2022 and 2021 are as

follows:

(Mitlions of dollars)

Current vear net actuarial losses (gains)y*
Amortization ot net actuarial gains (Josses)
Amortization of prior service credits {costs)
Pension settlements

Foreign currency translation and other changes

Total recognized in other comprehensive income

Pensions
2022 2021
S (1,239 S (787)
(75) (170
1 (1}
(6} (4}
(90) (39}
S 1429y S (1.001)

Pension net actearial gains in 2022 are largely driven by the continued increase in the discount rate environment

resulting in actuarial gains from a lower PBO. swhich is partially offset by unfavorable plan asset experience tor both
non-L.5. and LS. plans. [ 2021, the actuarial gains were attributable to an increase in actual return on assets and

favorability gencrated from a low er PBO duc the initial increasc in discount rates.

The following table provides information for pension plans where the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair

value of plan assets:

fMitlions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31,

Accumulated benefit obtigation (ABG™)
Fair value of plan asscts

The following table provides intformation tor pension plans where the project

value of plan assets:

fMitlions of dollury)
Yeur Ended December 31,

Projected benefit eblhigation ("PPBO™)
I-air value of pian assets

Pensions
022 2
LS Non-L.S. [.S. Non-L.S.
S 1895 1.848 S 2387 S 8.404
S 1472 8§ 23178 6.947

S
1791 §
cd

benefit obligation

exceeds the fuir

Pensions
2022 2021
LS. Nan-L.S. L.5. Nun-1 .5,
5 1948 § 1ol S 2467 S 8,499
S 1.791 S L4768 S 2317 S 6,964




Assumptions

The assumptions used to determine benetit obhigations are as of the respective balance sheet dates and the assumptions

used to determing net benefit cost are s of the previous year-end. as shown below:

Pensions
LS, Non-L.5.
2022 202t 2022 2021

Weighted average ussumptions used (o determine benetit obligations at

December 31,

1scount rate 5.35% 2.78% 4. 38% B2,

D t rat 3.35° 2.78° 4587 1.82¢
Interest crediting rate 4.02% 2.06% 2.13% 1.033%5
Rate of increase in compensation Ievels 3.25% 3.25% 2.539% 2.55%
Weighted wyerage assumptions used (o determine aet poriodic beneflt cost
Jor vears ended December 31,

Discount rate 2.78% 2.40% 1.82% 1.36%
nterest crediting rate 2.06% 537% 3% O1%
Interest crediting rat 2.06° 1.57% 1.03° 101"
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.35% 2.55%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets (1) 7.00% 7.00% 5.600% 5.28%

h

The expected long term rate of return on the U.S. and non-U.S. plan assets 1s estimated based on the plans’
investment strategy and asset allocation. historical capital market performance and. to a lesser extent. historical plan
performance. For the U.S. plans, the expected rate of return of 7.00% was derived based on the target assct
allocation of 50%-70% cquity sccurities (approximately 7.70% expected return), 20%6-30% fixed income sccuritics
(approximalely 5.40% expected returny and 2%0-8% alternative investments (approximaicly 6.30% cxpected relurn).
For the non-U.S, plans, the expected rate of return was derived based on the weighted average target asset allocation
of 15%-25% cquity securittes (approximately 6.40% expected return)., 30%-30% fixed income securitics
{approximately 3.30% expected return). and 30%-30% alternative imvestments (approximately 3.00% expected
return}. For the .S, plan asscts, the actual annualized total return for the most recent 10-year period ended
December 31, 2022 was approximately 7.00%. For the non-U.S. plan assets, the actual annualized total return for
the same perind was approximately 5.10%. Changes to plan asset atlocations and investment strategy oser this time
period limit the value of historieal plan performance as a tactor in estimating the expected long term rate of return.
For 2023, the expected Yong-term rate of return on plan asscts will be 7.00% for the U.S. plans. For 2023 the
expecied weighted average long-term rate of return for nen-U.S. plans will be 5.60%.

Pension Plan Asselys

The investments of the ULS. pension plan are managed to mect the future expected benefit habilitics of the plan over

the long term by investing in diversified portfolios consistent with prudent diversification and historical and expected capital
markct returns. [nvestment strategics are rovicwed by management and investment performance is tracked against
appropriate benchmarks. There are no concentrations of risk as it relates to the assets within the plans. The non-U.S. pension
plans are managed individually based on diversificd investment portfolios. with different target asset allocations that vary for
cach plan. Weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2022 and 2021 for Linde’s U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans,
as well as respective asset allocation ranges by major assct category. are generally as follows:

LS, Non-L.5,
Asset Category Target 2022 larget 2021 2022 2021 Target 2022 Target 2021 2022 2021
Equity sccuritics 30%a-70% 40%6-60"0 60% 66%  15%6-25%  15%:-25% 20% 27%
Fixed income securities 20%-50%  30%6-30% 29% 23% 30%-50%  30%-50"n 30% 35%%
Other 2%0-8%  375-15% 1E% 9% 30%6-5000  309%-50% 50% 382
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The following table sunumurizes pension assets measured at fair value by asset category at December 31, 2022 and 2021
Transfers of assets were not material for the year ended December 31, 2022 und 2021 See Note 13 for the definition of
levels within the fair value hicrarchy:

Fair b alue Measurements Lsing

Level 1 Lesvel 2 Level 3 %% Total
(M itlions of daflars) 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Cash and cash cquivalents S 31305 239 S S 5 - S S 313 S 239
Equity sceurities:
Global equitics 778 1.633 778 1.633
Mutual funds 248 314 4K 314
Fixed income sccurities:
Government bonds 1.317 1.624 1,317 1,624
Emerging market debt - 245 309 — 245 500
Mutual funds {31 121 33 12 5 133
Corporate bonds - 372 647 - - 372 047
Bank loans 18 2353 | 233
Alternative investments:
Real estate funds - 353 360 353 360
Private debt - - — 1,360 13068 1.360 1.368
[nsurance contracts . 16 12 16 12
Ligquid alternative ay2 J.193 942 1.193
Other investments | | 39 38 40 59
Total plan asscts at fair value,
December 31, St4dl S2328 53028 S4296 S1.739 S1,740 5 6228 58304
Pooled funds * 1.457 2,052
Total fair value plan assets
December 31, S 7.685 0416

* Pooled funds arc measured using the nert asset value ("NAVT) as a practical expedient for fair value as permissible under
the accounting standard for fair value measurements and have not been categorized in the fair value hicrarchy

** The following table summarizes changes in fair value of the pension plan asscts classified as fevel 3 for the periods ended
December 31,2022 and 2021

Lnsuranece Real Estate

(Villions of doliurs) Contracts Funds Private Debt T'atal
Balance. December 31, 2020 S |- 335 S 120 S 1466
Gain'{Loss) for the perod 1 27 28 56
Purchascs 13 289 302
Sales 1) (42 (46)
Transfer into (out of) Level 3 1 ()

Foreign curreney translation (1) (14) (27) (3%)
Balance. December 31, 2021 12 360 1.368 1.740)
Gain {Loss) tor the period . 3 93 g%
Purchases 2 I8 63 83
Sales {22) (34 {30}
Transter into tout ot Level 3 33 —- 33
IForeign ¢urrency translation (1) (%) (13 (139)
Batance. December 31, 2022 S 46 5 333 0% 1360 S 1.739




The deseriptions and fair value meihodologies for the company™s pension plan assets are as follows:

Cash and Cash bguivalensy s category imcludes cash and short-term iaterest bearing investments with maturitics
of three months or less. Investments are valued at cost plus acerued interest. Cash and cash equivalents are ¢lassified within
levet | of the valuation hierarchy,

Fquire Seeuritfex This category is comprised of shares of common stock in U8, and non-U.S. companies from a
diverse set of industries and size. Common stock is valued at the closing market price reported on a ULS. or non-U S,
exchange where the seeurity 15 actively traded. Bquity seeurities are classitied within level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

Mutual Funds - These categories consist of publicly and privately managed lunds that invest primarily in marketable
cquity and fixed income sceurities, The fair value of these investments is determined by reference to the net asset value of the
underlying securitics of the fund. Shares of publicly traded mutua! funds are valued at the net asset value quoted on the
exchange where the fund 15 traded and are primarily classified as level 1 within the valuation hicrarchy.

Enterging Muarket Debr - This category includes fixed income debt issued by countries with deseloping economies as
well as by corporations within those nations. Lhey typically have higher yields but lower credit ratings relatis ¢ to developed
country corporate and government bonds. The fair values for these investments are classitied as level 2 within the valuation
hicrarchy.

U8, and Nown-US. Goversunent Bonds - This category includes U.S. treasuries. US. federal ageney obligations and
non-U.5. government debt. The majority of these investments do not have quoted market prices available for a specific
government security and so the fair value 1s determined using quoted prices of simitar securitics in active markets and is
classified as Tevel 2 within the valuation hicrarchy.

Corporate Bones - This category (s comprised of corporate bonds of U.S. and non-U.5. companies from a diverse set
of industries and size. The fair values tor U.5. and nen-U.S. corporate bonds are determined using quoted prices of similar
securities in active markets and observable data or broker ar dealer quotations. The fatr valucs for these investments are
classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy.

Pooled Funds — Pooled tund NAVs are provided by the trustee and are determined by reference to the fair value of the
underlying securitics of the trust, less its lLabilities, which are valued primarily through the use of directly or indirectly
observable inputs. Depending on the pooled fund. underlying seeurities may include marketable equity securities or fixed
income securities.

Bank Loans  This category i comprised of traded syndicated loans ol larger corporate borrowers. Such loans are
issued by sub-investment grade rated companies both in the U S, and intemartionally and arc syndicated by investment banks
t institational investors. They are regularly traded in an active dealer market comprised of large investment banks. which
supply bid and ofter guotes and are therefore classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Liguid Ahernative Investmenss This category is comprised of investments in alternativ e mutuat funds whose heldings
include liguid securities. cash. and derivatives. Such funds focus on diversification and employ a variety of investing
strategies including long short cquity, multi-strategy. and global macro. The fair value of these investments s determined by
reference to the net assct value of the underlying holdings of the fund. which can be determined using observable dita (e.g..
indices. yield curves. quoted prices of similar seeurities), and is classified within level 2 of the valuation hicrarchy.,

fnsurance Contracts This category is comprised of purchased annuity insurance contracts {annuity contract buy-ins)
and is intended to mitigate the Company’s exposure to certain risks, such as longevity risk. The fair value is calculated based
on the cash surrender value of the purchased annuity insurance contract. which is determined based on such factors as the fair
value of the underly ing assets and discounted cash flows. These contracts are with highly rated insurance companics,
Insurance contracts are classified within level 3 of the valuation hicrarchy.

Real Extate Funds - This category includes real estate properties. partnership equities and investments in operating
companies. The fair value of the asseis is determined using discounted cash flows by estimating an income suream for the
property plus a reversion into a present value at a risk adjusted rate. Yield rates and growth assumptions utilized are derived
from market transactions as well as other financial and industry data. The fair value for these inyvestments are classified
within level 3 of the valuation hicrarchy.

Private Debr - This category includes non-traded, privateiv-arranged loans betw een one ora smail group of private
debt investment managers and corporate borrowers, which are typically too small o access the syndicated market and have
no credit rating. This category alse includes similar loans o real estate companics or individual properties. Loans included in
this category are valued at par value, are held o maturity or to ¢all, and are classificd within fevel 3 of the valuation
hierarchy.



Contributions

At a minimum, Linde contributes to its pension plans 1o comply with local regulatory requirements (c.g.. ERISA in the
Uintted States). Discretionany contributions in exeess of the local minimum requirements are made based on many factors,
inciuding long-term projections of the plans’ funded status, the ceoromic emvironment, potential risk of overfunding, penston
insurance costs and alternative uses of the cash. Changes 1o these Faictors can mpact the timing of diseretionary contributions
from year to year. Pension contributions were $31 mulhion in 2022, $42 mithon in 2021 and S91 million in 2020, Estimated
required contributions for 2023 arc currently expected to be in the range of $40 million to S50 million.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The tfollowing able presents estimated future benefit payments. net of participant contributions:

{Villions of

dollars) Pensions

Year Ended

December 31, L.S. Non-ULS,
2023 5216 S 320
2024 138 319
2025 161 327
2026 160 346
2027 163 345
2028-
2032 813 1,788

NOTE 17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company accerues non income-tax liabilitics for contingencics when management behieves that a loss is probable
and the amounts can be reasonably estimated, while contingent gains are recognized only when realized. In the cvent any
losses are sustained in excess of aceruals. they will be charged against income at that time. Attorney fees are recorded as
incurred. Commuitments represent obligations. such as those for future purchases of goods or services, that are not vet
recorded on the company s balance sheet as liabilities. The company records liabilities for commitments when incurred e
when the goods or services are recerved).

Contingent Liabilities

Linde 15 subject to various lawsuits and government investigitions that arise from tme to time in the ordinary course of
business. These actions are based upon alleged environmental. tax. antitrust and personal injury ¢laims. among others. Linde
has strong detenses in these cases and intends to defend itself vigorousty. 1t is possible that the compuany may incur fosses in
connection with some of these actions in excess ot accerued habilities. Management does not anticipate individually or in the
gegregate such losses would have a matenal adverse effect on the company *s consolidated financial position or liquidity;
however, it 1s possible that the final outcomes could have a significant impact on the company s reported results of
operations in any given period.

Signiticant matiers arg:

. During 2004, the Brasilian government published Law 11941 2009 instituting a new voluntary amnesty
program (“Refis Program™) which allowed Brazilian companies to scule certain federal tax disputes at reduced
amounts. During 2009, the company decided that it was cconomically beneficial to settle many of its
outstanding federal tax disputes and such disputes were enrolled i the Refis Program, subject to final
caleulation and review by the Brazilian federal government. The company recorded estimated liabilities based
on the rerms of the Retls Program Since 2009, Linde has been unable to reach final agreement on the
calculations and initiated hugation against the government in an attempt to resolse certain items. Open issus
relate to the following matters: (i) application of cash deposits and net operating loss carryforw ards 1o satisty
obligations and (i1y the amount of tax reductions available under the Refis Program. It is difficult to estimate the
uming of resolution of legal matters in Brasil,

. At December 31, 2022 the most significant non-itncome and income tax claims in Brazil. atter enrollment in the
Refis Program. relate 1o state VAT tax matters and a federal income tax matter where the taxing authorities are
chalicnging the tax rate that should be applied to income generated by @ subsidiary company that previousiy
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received fuvorable rulings. The total estimated exposure relating to such claims, including interest and penaltics.
as appropriate. is approximately $240 million. Linde has not recorded any liabilities related to such claims based
on management judgments, after considering judgments and opinions ot eutside counsel. Because litigation in
Brasil historically takes many years to resolve, it is very difticult to estimate the timing of resolurion of these
mtters: howeser, it is possible that certain of these matters may be resolved within the near term. The company
15 vigorously defending against the proceedings. On February 8. 2023, the Brazilian Supreme Court issued a
decision confirming the constitutionality of a specific federal income tax. with retroactive effect. This decision
has not vet been finalized and is subject to ongoing motions for clarificadion. The timing of when this decision
will be final and the potential impact on the company’s tax liability remain uncertain at this tine.

On September 1, 2010, CADE (Brazilian Administratise Councit for Economic Defense) announced alleged
anticompetitisc activity on the part of five industrial gas companics in Brazil and imposed fines, Originally,
CADE imposed a civil fine of RS2.2 billion Brarilian reais (S417 million} on White Martins, the Brazil-based
subsidiary of Linde Inc. The fine was reduced to RSI1.7 billion Brazilian reais (S322 million) due to a calculation
crrer made by CADE. The fine against White Marting was overturned by the Ninth Federal Court ol Brasilia,
CADE appealed this decision. and the Federal Court of Appeals rejected CADE™s appeal and confirmed the
decision of the Ninth Federal Court of Brasilia. CADE has filed an appeal with the Superior Court of Justice and
a decision is pending.

Stmilarly, on September b 2010, CADE imposcd a civil fine of RS237 million Brarsilian reais (545 million) on
Linde Gases Ltda., the former Brazil-based subsidiary of Linde AG. which was divested to MG Industries
Gmblt on March 1, 2019 and with respeet to which Linde provided a centractual indemnity. The finc was
reduced to RS188 million Brazilian reats (536 million) due to a calculation error made by CADE. The fine
against Linde Gases Ltda. was overturned by the Seventh Federal Court in Brasilia. CADE appealed this
deceision, and the Federal Court of Appeals rejected CADE's appeal and confirmed the decision of the Seventh
Federal Court of Brasilia. CADE filed an appeal with the Superior Court of Justice. and a final decision is
pending.

Linde has strong defenses and 1s confident that it will presail on appeal and have the fines overturned. Linde
strongly believes that the allegations of anticompetitive activity against our current and former Brazilian
subsidiarics are not supported by valid and sufficient evidence. Linde believes that this decision will not stand
up to judicial review and deems the possibility of cash outtlows to be extremely unlikely. As a result. no
reserves have been recorded as management docs not believe that a loss from this case 1s probable,

On and atter April 23, 2019 former sharcholders of Linde AG filed appraisal proceedings at the District Court
{Landgerichty Munich | (Germany). secking an increase of the cash consideration paid in connection with the
preyiously completed cash merger squecze-out of all of Linde AG’s minority sharcholders for €189.46 per
share. Any such increase would apply to all 14,763,113 Linde AG shares that were outstanding on April 8,
2019, when the cash merger squecsze-out was completed. The period for plaintitts to file claims expired on
July 9, 2019, The company believes the consideration paid was fair and that the claims lack merit, and no
reserve has been established. We cannot estimate the timing of resolution.

On December 30, 2022, the Russian Arbitration Court of the St. Petersburg and Leningrad Region issued an
injunction preyenting (i) the sale of any shares in Linde's subsidiaries and joint ventures in Russia, and (ii) the
disposal of any of assets in those entitics exceeding 5% of the relevant company’s overall asset value. The
injunction is not expected to have any impact on the operations of Linde’s Russian businesscs. The mjunction
was reguested by RusChemAlliance (RCA) as a preliminary measure o secure payment of an eventual award
under an arbitration proceeding RCA intends to file against Linde Engineering for alleged breach of contract
under the agreement to build a gas processing plant in Ust Luga, Russia entered into between a consortium of
Linde Engincering and Renaissance Heavy Industries LLC, and RCA on July 7. 2021, Performance of the
agreement was lawfully suspended by Linde Engineering on May 27, 2022 in compliance with applicable
sanctions and in accordance with a decision by the sanctions authority in Germany.

As of December 31, 2022, Linde had approximately S1.2 billion of advance payments recorded in contract
labilities related to engineering projects with RCA which are subject to sanctions and have been suspended
accordimgly as of May 27, 2022, Contract labilitics are typically recognized as revenuc as performance
obligations are satistied under contract terms. Linde deconsolidated its Russian gas and enginecring business
entities as of June 30. 2022 (s¢e Note 3). and the remaining investment value of its Russia subsidiarics 1s
immaterial . As such, the obligation to sausfy any residual contract liabilities is not expected to have an adverse
impact on carnings. but may result in net cash outflows,
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It is difticult to cstimate the tinting o resolution of this matrer. The company intends w vigorously detend its
interests in both the injunction and arbitration proceedings.

Commitments

At December 312022, Linde had undrawn owstanding letters of credit. bank guarantees and surcty bonds valued at
approximately $3.5378 mullion from financial institutions, These relate primarily to customer contract performance guarantees
tincluding plant construction in connection with cortain on-site contracts). sclf-insurance claims and other commercial and
governmental requirements, including non-U.S. hugation matters,

Other commitments related to leases, tax Habilities for uncertain tax posttions, long-term debt. other post retirement
and pension obligations are summarized elsewhere in the financial statements (sec Notes &, S0 1 and 16).

NOTE 18 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Linde's operations consist of two major product lines: industrial gascs and engineering. As further deseribed in the
following paragraph, Lindc’s industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represeot three ol the
company’s repottable segments - Amenicas, EMEA (Europe ‘Middle East Africa). and APAC {Asia South Pacific); a fourth
reportable segment. which represents the company s Engincering business. designs and manufactures equipment for air
separation and other industriat gas applications specifically for end customers and 15 managed on a worldwide basis operating
in all three geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually do not
meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

The industrial gases product line centers on the manutacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen,
argon, rare gases) and process gases {carbon dioxide, helinm. hydrogen, clectronic gases. specialty gases, acetylene). Many
of these products are co-products of the same manufacturing process. Linde manufactures and distributes nearly all of ity
products and manages its customer relationships on a regional basis, Linde's industrial gases are distributed to various
end-markets within a regional segment throwgh one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage; merchant or bulk:
and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs
and very few of its products can be cconomically transported ouiside of a region. Theretore. the distribution cconomics are
spevific wo the various geographics in which the company operates and are consistent with how management assesses
pertormance.

The company’s measure of profitloss for scament reporting is segment operating profit. Segment operating profit is
dehfined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of'the Linde AG merger., intercompany royaleies, and :
items not indicative of ongoimng business trends. This s the manner in which the company™s COLM assesses perfonmance )
and ullocates resources. Similarly, total assets have not been included as thisis not provided to the CODM for their
assessment.

The table below presents information about reportable segments for the vears ended December 31,2022, 2021 and

2020,

(Mitlions of dollurs) 2022 2021 2024

Sales (a)

Americas S 13.874 8 12103 S 103,439

EMEA 8.443 7.643 6449

APAC 6,480 6,133 5,087

Engincering 2,762 2867 2.83)

Other 1.803 2047 |.797
Total Sales S 335364 S 30793 S 27,243




Segment Operating Profit
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engincering
Other
Reported Segment operating profit
Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (Note 3)
Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG

Total operating profit

Depreciation and Amortization
Americas

EMEA
APAC
Enginecring
Other

Segment depreciation and amortization
Linde AG

Totat depreciation and amortization

Purchase accounting impucts

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Americas

EMEA
APAC
Engincering
Other

Total Capital [xpenditures and Acquisitions

Sales by Major Counntry
United States

Germany (¢)

China

United Kingdom
Australia

Brazsil

Other non-U.S

Total sales

2022 2021 2020

5 3.732 8 313068 S 2.773

2013 1.8849 1465

1.670 1,502 1.277

355 473 435

(60O) (30) (133

7.904 7.176 5,797

(1.029) {273) (5069

(1.506) (£.919) {1,969)

S 5.369 S 4984 S 3.322
2022 2021 2020

S 1.320 S 1.243 S 1.196

661 752 723

593 61l 610

33 39 36

16 127 132

2.723 2,772 2,706

1,481 1.863 1,920

S 4204 S 4.635 S 4.626
2022 2021 2020

S 1,698 S 1,354 S 1.425

550 669 670

KRG 995 1.214

2y 25 13

[18 131 {46

S 3,283 S L1745 3,408
2022 021 2020

S (13533 S 9,123 S 8.475

3.662 3,601 3.740

2.643 2.562 2,061

1.934 2.060 1.595

1.372 1.307 1.071

1,158 1.065 822

12,022 11,073 9.479

S 33364 S 30,793 S 27,243

89



2022 2021 2020
Long-lived Assets by Major Country (b)
United States 5 7.663 S 7659 S 7777
Grermany 1.678 2.003 2.394
China 2,176 2385 2413
United Kingdom W 1,078 1.313
Australia 88 8§72 1103
Braril 720 TS 734
Other  non-U.S. 9,919 11.301 12,976
Total tong-ived assers 5 23.548 S 26003 8 28711
{a) Sales reflect external sules only. [ntersegment sales. primarily from Engincering to the industrial gases segmenis,
were S1.035 million, $896 million and S786 miltion fur the year ended December 31,2022, 2021 and 2024,
respectively.
(b) Long-hved assets include property. plant and equipment  net.
(<) Sales in Germany include Engineering sales to third parties. locally and internationally, and represents 44%6 . 33%

and 62% of Germany sales in 2022 3021 and 20200 respecetively.
19. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is accounted for in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue is recognized as controf of gouds or services are
transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to receirve in
cxchange for the gouds or services.

Contracts with Customers

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healtheare. chemicals and energy. manufacturing, metals and
mining. food and bevcrage. and clectronics.

Incdusirial Gases

Within each of the company s geographic scgments for industrial gases. there are three basic distribution methods:
(1) an-site or tonnage; (1) merchant or bulk hiquid: and tiii) packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution method used by
Linde to supply a customer is determined by many factors, including the customer’s volume requirements and location. The
distribution method generally determines the contract terms with the customer and. accordingly, the revenue recognition
accounting practices. Linde’s primary products inits industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (axygen, nitrogen.
argon, rare gasces) and process gases (carbon dioxide. helium. hydrogen, electrenic gases, specialty gases, acerylene). These
products are generally sold through one of the three distribution methods.

Following is a deseription of cach of the three industrial gases distribution methods and the respective revenue
recognition policies:

On-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product and that have a relatively constunt demand pattem are
supplied by cryogenic and process gas on-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers” sites and
supplies the product directly to customers by pipeline. Where there are large concentrations of customers. a single pipehine
mayv be connected o several plants and customers. On-site product supply contracts generally are total requirement contracts
with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years and contain minimum purchase requirements and price cscalation provisions.
Many of the cryogenic on-site plants also produce hquid products for the merchant market. Therefore, plants are tvpically not
dedicated to a single customer, Additionally. Linde is responsible for the design. construction. operations and maintenance of
the plants and our customers typically have naimvolvement in these activities. Advanced air separation processes also allow
on-site delivery to customers with smaller s olume requirements.

The company s perfornmance obligations related to on-stie customers are satishicd over time as customers receive and
obtain control of the product. Linde has elected to apply the practical expedient for measuring progress towards the
completion of a pertormance obligation and recognizes revenue as the company has the right to invoice cach customer.
which generally corresponds with product delivery. Accordingly. revenue is recognized when product is delivered to the
customer and the company has the right to invoice the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Consideration in these
contracts is generally based on pricing which fluctuates with various price indices. Variable components of consideration
exist within on-site contracts but are considered constrained.
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Merchane Merchant deliveries gencrally are made from Linde's plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the
customer’s site. Due to the refatively high distribution cost. merchant oxvgen and nitrogen generally have a relatively small
distribution radius tfrom the plants at which they are produced. Merchant argon, hydrogen and helium can be shipped much
longer distances, The customer agreements used in the merchant business are usually three o seven year supply agreements
hascd on the requirenients of the customer. These contracts generally do not contain minimum purchase regquirements or
volume commitments.

The company s performance obligations related 1o merchant customers are generally satistied at a point in time as the
customers receive and obtain control of the product. Resenuge is recognized when product is delivered to the customer and
the company has the right t invoice the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Any variable components of
consideration within merchant contracts are constrained howeyer this consideration is not signiticant.

Puckaged Gases. Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in containers called cylinders, under
medium 1o high pressure. Linde disteibutes merchant gases from its production plants to company-owned cylinder filling
plants where cylinders are then filled for distribution to customers. Cylinders may be delivered to the customer’s site or
picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail store. Linde invoices the customer for the industrial gases and the
use of the cylinder container(s). The company also sclls hardgoods and welding equipment purchased from independent
manufacturers. Packaged gases are generally sold under one to three-year supply contracts and purchase orders and do not
contain minimum purchase requirements or volume comnutments,

The compuny s perforinance obligations related to packaged gases are satisfied at a pointin time. Accordingly, revenug
is recognized when product is delivered to the customer or when the customer picks up product from a packaged gas facility
or retail store, and the company has the right to payment from the custonier in accordance with the coniract termis, Any
variable consideration is constrained and will be recognized when the uncertaingy related w the consideration is resolved.

Engineering

The company designs and manufactures equipment tor air separation and other industrial gas applications
manufactured specitically for end customers, Sale of equipment contracts are generally comprised of a single performance
obligation. Revenue rom sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as Linde has an enforccable right to payment
for performance cempleted to date and performance does not create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized
over time, reyvenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred input method. Costs incurred to date relative 1o total
estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations. Costs incurred include
material. fabor, and overhead costs and represent work contributing and proportionate to the transfer of control to the
customer. Changes to cost estimates and contract modifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract
and are recognized as o cumulative adjustments for the inception-to-date effect of such change.

Contract Avsets and Liabilities

Contract assets and labilitics result from differences i timing of revenue recognition and customer invoicing. Contract
asscts primarily relate to sale of cquipment contracts for which revenue 15 recognized over time. The balance represents
unbilled revenue which occurs when revenue recognized under the measure of progress exceeds amounts invoiced to
customers. Customer invoices may be based on the passage of time, the achicvement of certain contractual mikestones or a
combination of both criteria. Contract liabilities inclede advance payments or right to consideration prior to performance
under the contract. Contract labilities are recognized as revenue as performance obligations are satisfred under contract
terms. Linde has contract assets of $124 million at December 31, 2022 and $134 miltion at December 31, 2021, Total
contract liabilitics are $3.986 millon at December 31, 2022 (current of $3,073 mitlion and $913 million within deterred
credits in the consoelidated balance sheets). As of December 31, 2022 Linde has approximately $1.7 billion recorded in
contract linbilitics related to engincering projects in Russia subject to sanctions. Totul contract liabilitics were $3.699 million
at December 31, 2024 (current contract liabilities of $2.940 million and $739 million within deferred credits in the
consolidated balance sheets). Revenue recognized for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 that was included in the
contract liability at December 31, 2021 was S1.305 million. Contract assets and Liahilities primarily relate to the Linde
Engincering business.

Pavnient Ternrs and Other

Linde generally recenves payment atier performance obligations are sutisfied. and customer prepayments are not typical
for the industrial gases business. Payment terms vary based on the country where sates originate and local customary
pavment practices. Linde does not offer extended financing outside of customary payment terms. Amounts billed for sales
and use taxes. valuc-added taxes, and certain excise and other specific transactional taxes impesced on revenue producing
transactions arc presented on a net basis and are not included in sales within the consolidated statement of income.
Additionally. sales returns and allowances are not a normal practice in the industry and are not signiticant.
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Disaguereguted Revenue Information

As deseribed above and in Note 18, the company muanages its industrial gases business on a geographic basis. while the
Engineering and Other businesses are generally managed on a globat basis. Furthermore, the compans believes that reporting
sales by distribution method by reportable geographic segment best illustrates the nuture. timing. tvpe of customer. and
contract terms tor its revenues, including terms and pricing.

The following tables show sales by distribution method at the consolidated Tevel and for cach reportable segment and
Other for the vears ended December 31, 2022,2021 and 2620,

e\ Leddrenns of dotlirg Yeur Loded December 3], 2022
Sales Americas EMEA APAC Engincering Other Total %o
Merchant S O3TR6 S 2509 8 222008 — S 176 S K691 26%0
On-5ite 1,048 2415 2471 ¥.934 279%
Packaged Gas 5831 3,466 1,523 — St 10.871 33%%
Other 209 53 2606 2.762 1578 1.868 14%0
S 13874 S 8443 S 6480 S 2762 5 1803 S 33364 100%,
fMittiens of diollamg Yeur boded December 31,2021
Sales Americas EMEA APAC Eagincering Other Total Yo
Merchant S 3279 S 2227 S 2081 S - S 173§ 7.860 26",
On-Site 3223 1.824 2.296 - 7.345 24%,
Packaged Gas 5,456 3,539 1.332 24 10,551 34%
Other 143 33 124 2.867 1.830 5037 16%5
S 12,03 S 7643 S 6433 S 2867 S 2047 5 30,793 100%%
(N fittons of doffag Y car Boded December 31,2020
Sales Americas FAMEA APAC Engineering Other Total Y
Merchant S 2X3v S IR0 S 2005 S S 145 S 6839 25%
On-Site 2513 1,354 2,049 — 5916 2295
Packaged Gas 3.034 3173 1,559 - 22 9.790 36%%
Other 73 30 74 2851 1.630 4.678 17%%
S 16439 S 6449 S 5687 S 28518 1.797  § 27.243 100%

Remaining Performance Obligations

As described aboyve. Linde™s contracts with on-site custemers are under long-term supply arrangements which
generally require the customer to purchasc their requirements from Linde and also have minimum purchase requircments.
Additionally, plant sales from the Linde Engineering business are primarily contracted on a fixed price basis. The company
estimates the consideration related to future minimuwn purchase requirements and plant sales was approximately $31 billion
{excludes Russian projects which are impacted by sanctions. reter to Note 31 This amount excludes all on-site sales above
minimum purchase requirements, which can be significant depending on customer needs. In the future. actual amounts wili
be different due to impacts trom several factors. many of which are bevond the company s control including. but not hmited
to. timing of new Iy signed. terminated and renewed contracts, inflationary price escalations. currency exchange rates. and
pass-through costs related to nawral gas and ¢lectricity. The actual duration of long-term supply contracts ranges up to
nwenty years, The company estimates that approximately halt of the revenue related to minimum purchase regquirements will
be carned 1n the next five years and the remaining thereafier.

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 6. 2023, Linde purchased the remaining 77.2%s ownership interest in nexAir. LLC. nexAir, LLC is one of the

largest independent packaged gas distributors in the United Stawes with annual sales of approxamately S400 million in 2022,



ITEMY, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclesure Contrels and Procedures

Based on an evaluatien of the effectiveness of Linde s disclosure controls and procedures, which was made under the
supenyision and with the participation ot management, including Linde’s principal executn e officer and principal financial
officer. the principal ¢xceutive ofticer and principal financial officer have cach concluded that. as of December 31, 2022,
such disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by Linde in reports
that 1 files or submits under the bxchange Act ot 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the ime
periods spectticd in the Scourttics and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. and accumulated and communicated to
management including Linde™s principal executive otficer and principal financial officer, to allow timely deeisions regarding
required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Refer to ltem 8 for Munagement’s Report an [nternal Control Over Financtal Reporting as of December 31, 2022,
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in Linde's internal control over financial reporting that oceurred during the quarter ended
December 31, 2022 that have matenially affected. or are reasonably likely 1o materially affect, Linde’s internal control over
financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

ITEM9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
None.



PART Iit
TPENM 10, DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Certain informarion required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Caorporate
Gosvernance and Board Matters Director Nominees™ and “Corporate Govermnancee And Board Mauers  “Delinquent
Section 16 (a} Reports™ in Linde™s Proxy Statement to be tited by April 30, 2023 for the Annaal General Meeting.

Tdentification of the dic Comemitree

Linde has a separately -designated standing Audit Committec established in accordance with Section 3{a) S8)A) of the
Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act™). The members of that audit committee are Prot.
Dr. Marun H. Richienhagen (chairman}. Dr. Thomas Enders. Dr. Victoria Ossadnik and Alberte Weisser and cach member is
independent within the meaning of the independence standards adopted by the Bourd of Directors and those of the New York
Swock Exchange.

Awdiv Commiitee Financial Expert

The Linde Board of Directors has determined that Alberto Weisser satisty the eriteria adopted by the SEC to serve as an
“audit committee financial expert™ as defined by [tem J07(dX 301 of Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is
independent within the meaning of the independence standards adopted by the Board of Directors and those of the New York
Stock Exchange.

Ceede of Erliies

Linde has adopted a code of ethics that applics to the company s directors and all employees, including its Chiet Executive
Officer. Chief Financial Otficer. and Chiet Accountng Officer. This code of ethics, including specitic standards for
implementing certain provisions of the code. has been approved by the Linde Board of Directors and 1s named the “Code of
Business Integrity ™. This document is posted on the company s public wehsite, www tinde.com but is not incorporated
herein.

[TEM11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorperated herein by reference to the sections captioned “LExecutive Compensation
Matters™ and “Corporate Govermanee and Board Matters — Director Compensation™ in Linde’s Proaxy Statement to be filed by
April 30. 2023 for the Annual General Mecting.
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ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Eyuiny Compensarion Plans {nformarion The table below provides information as of December 31, 2027 about

compuny shares that may be issued upon the exereise of options, warrants and rights granted 1o employees or members of
Linde™s Board of Dircetors under equity compensation plans with awards outstanding ax of December 31, 2022,

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS TABLE

Number of securities ~
remaining available for

Number of securities to Weighted-amerage future issuance under

be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans

of outstanding options, vutstanding eptions. - {excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights (a) warrants and rights (b) reflected in column (a)) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by . ‘
sharcholders 7961753 (1) S 16411 B271.252(2)

Equity compensation plans not approsed
by sharcholders

Total 7.961,753 ) 164.11 8,271,252
(1 This amount includes 649,987 resiricted shares and 383,330 performance shares.
() This ameunt retlects shares available for future issuances pursuant to the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan

that was approved by sharcholders on July 26, 2021,

Certain information required by this item regarding the beneficiat ownership of the company’s ordinary shares is

incorporated herein by reference 1o the section captioned “Information on Share Ownership™ in Linde’s Proxy Statement to

be filed by April 30, 2023 for the Annual General Meeting.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the seetions captioned “Corporate Governance
And Board Matters  Review. Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons.” "Corporate Governance And
Board Matters  Centain Relationships and Transactions,” and ~Corporate Governance And Board Matters - Director
Independence™ in Linde's Proxy Statement to be filed by April 300 2023 for the Annual General Meeting.

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Audic Matters™ in

Linde’s Proxy Starement to be filed by April 30, 2023 for the Annual General Meeting,

£
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PART 1V

ITEN 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Fhe tollowing documents are filed as part of this report:
(1} The company s 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report ot the Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm are included m Part 11, [tem 8. Finaneral Statements and Supplementary Data,

(i1} Financia!l Statement Schedules  Adl financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not
applicable or the required mformation s shown in the financial statenments or notes thereto.

(i} [xhibits  The exhibits tiled as part of this Annual Report on Form 16-K are listed in the accompanying
mdex.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Exhibit No, Desceription

2.1 Business Combination Agreement by and among Linde Akticngesellschafi, Praxair. Inc., Zamalight
PLC, Zamalight Holdeo 1L and Zamalight Subeo, Inc. dated as of June 1. 2017 (Filed as Exhibit
2.1 to Praxair, Ing."s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 1. 2017, Filing No, 1-11037. and is
incorporated herein by reference.)

2.0 Amendment No. 1. dated August 10, 2017, to the Business Combination Agrecment. by and among
Praxair, Inc., Linde Akticngeselschah, Linde ple. Zamalight Holdeo LLC and Zamalight Subeo, Ine,
(Filed as Exhibit 2.1 1o Praxair. Inc.”s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 10, 2017. Filing
No. 1-11037%, and is incorporated hereby by reference.)

*#%2 2 Sale and Purchase Agreement. dated July 3, 2018, by and among Praxair. Inc., Taivo Nippon Sanso
Corporatien ("Taiva™), and Linde ple with respect to the sale of a majority of Praxair’s businesses in
Europe to Taiyo in connection with the Business Combination Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q tor the quarter ended September 30, 2018, File
No. [-38730. and is incorporated hereby by reference).

**23 Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 2018, by and among Linde AG. Praxair, Inc.. MG
Industrics Gmbl, Messer Canada Inc.. MG Industries USA, Inc. {the MG entitics and Messer
Canada. Inc. being collectively referred to as ~Messer™). and Linde ple with respect to the sale of
certain assets of Linde AG in the Americas and certain assets of Praxair. Ine. to Messer in connection
with the Business Combination Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended September 30, 2018, File No. 1-38730. and is incorporated
hereby by reference).

**23a First Amendment dated September 21, 201 ¥ 1o the Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16,
2018, by and among Linde AG, Praxair, Inc.. Messer. and Linde ple with respect to the sale of certain
additional assets of Linde AG in the Americas to Messer in connection with the Business
Combination Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 2.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2018, File No. 1-38730. and 1y incorporated hereby by reference).

**2.3b Second Amendment dated October 19, 2018 to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16,
2018, as amended by the First Amendment thereto, by and among Linde AG. Praxair, Inc.. Messer.
and Linde ple. with respect to the sale of certain additional assets of Linde AG in the Americas to
Messer in connection with the Business Cembination Agreement (Filed as Lixhibit 2.2 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q {or the quarter ended September 30, 2013, File
No. 1-1H037, and is incorporated hereby by reference).

**1 3¢ I'hird Amendment dated February 20, 2019 to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 2018,
as amended by the First and Sceond Amendment thereto, by and among Linde AG. Praxair. Inc.,
Messer, and Linde ple. with respect to the sale of certain additional assets of Linde AG in the
Americas to Muasser in connection with the Business Combination Agreement dated as of June 1,
2017, as amended. to effect a combination of the businesscs of Linde AG and Praxair, Inc. (Filed as
Exhibit 2.4 to the Cempany's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 7, 2019, File No. 1-11037.
and is incorporated hereby by reference).

3.01 Amended and Restated Public Limited Company Constitution of Linde ple (Filed as Exhibic 3.1 to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K. tiled on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-218485, and
incorporated herein by reference).

4.01 Deseription of Linde ple Ordinary Shares (Filed as Lxhibit 4.01 to Linde ple’s 2019 Annual Report
on Form [0-K. Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference).
4.02 Indenture, dated as of Fuly 15, 1992, between Praxair, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as

the ultimate successar trustee to Bank of America, Hlinois, formerly Continental Bank, National
Assoctation {(Filed as Exhibit 4 1o Praxair. In¢.”s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 19, 2007,
Filing No. |-11037, and incorporated herein by reference).

3.03 Form of Subordimated Indenture for Praxair, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Praxair, Inc.’s Form S-3,
filed on May 12, 2015, File No. 333-204093, and 1s incorporated herein by reference.)

104 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 3, 2019, among Linde ple. Praxair. Inc.. Linde AG
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Linde ple Form 8-K dated
September 6. 2009, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

4,03 Guarantee and Negative Pledge of Linde ple dated May 11, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Linde
ple Form 8-K dated May 26. 2020, Filing No.1-38730, and is mcorporated herein by reference).
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Fahibit N,

4.06

4.07

4.08

4.00

4.10

*10

10.01

10.02

=10.03

#10.03a

*10.03b

*10.03¢

*10.03d

#1004

*10.05

*10.03a

Deveription

Upstream Guarantee to Linde ple provided by Linde GmbH dated May 11, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 4.4
to the Linde ple Form 8-K dated May 260 2020, Filing No.1-38730. and incorporated herein by
reference).

Upstream Cuarantee to Linde ple provided by Praxair. [nc. dated May 11, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 4.5
to the Linde ple Form 3-K dated May 26, 2020, Filing No.1-38730. and incorporated herein by
reterence).

Fiscal Agency Agreement, dated May 11, 2020, ameng Linde ple, as Issuer and as Guarantor, Linde
Finance B.V. as [ssuer. and Deutsehe Bank Aktiengesellschatt. as Fiscal Agent and Paying Agent
{Filed as Fxhibit 4.6 to the Linde ple Form 8-K dated May 26. 2020. Filing No [-37830, and
incerporated herein by reference).

Indenrure. dated as of August 10, 2020, amoenyg Praxair, Inc., Linde ple and (5.8, Bank National
Association. as trustee (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 1o the Linde plc Form 8-K dated August 10, 2020, Filing
No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by referencee ).

Amended and Restated Fiscal Agency Agreement. dated August 3. 2021, among Linde ple, as Issucr
and as Guarantor, Linde Finance BV as Issuer, and Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschatt, as Fiscal
Agent and Paying Agent (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Linde plc "s current report on Form $-K, dated
September 30, 2021, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference).

Copies of the agreements related to long-term debt which are not required to be filed as exhibits 1o
this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request.

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term
Incentive Plan (Fited as Exhibit 1000¢ to Linde ple’s 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing

No. 1-38730, and 1s incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Five Year Credit Agreement. dated as of December 7, 2022, among Linde
ple. certain of 1ts subsidiaries parties therete as borrowers, the lenders party thereto and Bank of
America. NoAL as Adnunistrative Agent.(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Linde ple's current report on Form
8-K. dated December & 2022, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference)

364-Day Credit Agreement. dated as of December 7. 2022, among Linde ple, certain of its
subsidiaries parties thereto as barrowers. the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, NoA L as
Administrative Agent{Fited as Exhibit 10.2 to Linde ple™s eurrent report on Form §-K. dated
December 8, 2022, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference)

2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan, Eitective as of July 26, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 10.01 1o
Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 1G-Q tor the quarter ended June 30, 2021, Filing No. 1-38730,
and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Transferable Stock Option Award Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan
(Filed as Exhibit 10.01 to Linde ple’s Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 300 202 (L Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Lnder the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan (Filed as
Exhibit 10.02 to Linde ple™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-3 for the quarter ended Seprember 30,
2021, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan with
Return on Capital performance metrics (Filed as Exhibit 1003 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 300 2021, Filing No. 1-387340. and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan with
Total Sharcholder Return performance metries (Filed as Exhibit 10.04 w0 Linde ple’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 300 2021, Filing No. 1-38730, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Linde ple Annual Variable Compensation Plan effective January 1, 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 10,1 to the
Company s Current Report on Form 8-K. filed on January 23, 2019, File No. 1-38730. und 1»
imcorporated hereby by reference).

Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement [Income Plan A cffective January 1, 2008 (Filed as

Exhibir 10.05a 10 Praxair. [nc.”s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037. and
incorporated herein by reference).

First amendment to the Praxair. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A effective January 1.
2010 tkFiled as Exhibit 10.03b to Praxair. [ne."s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing

No. 1-11037, and incorporated hercin by reference).
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Lxhibit No.

*10.05b

*10.05¢

*10.05d

*10.05¢

*10.051

£10.05g

*10.03h

*10.006

*10.00a

*10.06b

*10.06c

*10.06d

*10.06¢

*10.00¢

*10.07

*10.08

*10.09

*10.10

*10.10a

Description

Second Amendment to Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A etfective February 28,
2017, (Filed as Exhibit 10.03¢ 1o Praxair, [ne.s 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K Filing

No. 1-11037. and 1~ incorporated hercby by reference).

Third Amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement income Plan A effective

December 1, 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 10.03m o Praxair. Inc.”s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
File No. 1-11037, and is incorporated herein by reference).

Praxair. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B amended and restated effective December 31,
2007 (Filed as Exhilit 10.035b to Praxair, Inc.’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing

No. 1-11037. and incorporated herein by reference).

First amendment to the Praxair. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effective Junuary 1,
201 (Filed as Exhibit 10.03d to Praxair, Inc.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K., Filing

Noo 1-11037. and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment to Praxair, [nc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effective Joly 1, 2017
{Filed as Exhibit 10.03¢ to Praxair [nc.”s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and
inc()rp()ratcd herein by reference).

Third Amendment 1o Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B etfective February 28,
2017, (Fited as Fxhibit 10.05¢ to Praxair. Inc.’s 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing

No. -1 4037, and is incorporated herein by reterence).

Fourth Amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B cffective

December 1, 2017 (Filed as Exhibit [0.031 1o Praxair. {nc.’s 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K, File
No. 111037, and i3 incorporated herein by reference).

Praxair, Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan amended and restated effective Decernber 31, 2007 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.05¢ to Praxair. Ine.”s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037. and
incorporated hercin by reference).

First amendment to the Praxair. Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan effective January 1. 2010 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.051 to Praxair Inc.’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan effective February 28, 2017 {Filed
as Exhibit 10.05] to Praxair, Inc.’s 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037. and is
incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendment te the Praxair, Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan eftective December 1, 2017 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.05k to Praxair, Inc.”s 2017 Annual Report on Form [0-K, File No. 1-11037, and is
incorporated herein by reference).

Linde Inc. 2018 Eqgualization Benefit Plan, Amended und Restated effcctive September 1. 2020 (Filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarner ended September 30,
2020, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Linde Inc. 2018 Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A, Amended and Restated effective
September 1. 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2020, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated hercin by reference).

Linde Inc. 2018 Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B, Ainended and Restated eftective
September 1. 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form [0-Q tor the
quarter ended Seprember 30, 2020, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference).
Praxair, Inc. Director’s Fees Deferral Plin amended and restated effective January 26, 2010 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.06 1o Praxair Inc.’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and
incorporated hetein by reference).

Linde Compensation Deterral Program Amended and Restated effectiv e September 1, 2020 (Filed as
Exhibir 10.2 to Linde plc™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30.
2020, Filing Nu. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

First Amendment to the Linde Compensation Deferral Program eftective April B, 2021, (Filed as
Exhibit 1001 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,2021
Filing No. 1-38730 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 4.03 to Praxair,
Inc.*s Form S-8, filed on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-228084, and incorporated herein by
reference).

First Amendment, dated as of April 25,2017, to the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc. [Long
Term Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.01 1o Praxair. In¢."s Quarterly Report on Forme [0-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2017, Filing No. 1-11037, and 1s incorporated herein by reterence).
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Exhibil No.

*10.10b

*10.10¢

*10.10d

*10.10¢

*l0.10r

*10.10g

*10.10h

*10.101

*10.10]

*10.10k

101401

*10.11

10.12

1g.45

=14

21.01
23.01
31.01
3.6z

32.01

Description

Sccond Amendment dated September 8. 2020 o the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. [nc Long
Term Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10,1 w Linde ple™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2020, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reterenee).

Furm of Standard Option Award under the 2009 Prasair, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (Filed as
Exhibit 10.22 to Praxair, Ine.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Transferable Option Award under the 2000 Praxair, Ine. Long Term Incentive Plan (Filed as
Lxhibit 10.23 to Praxair, Inc.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and
incorporated herein by reference),

Form of Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Ine, Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants made in 2015-2017 (Filed as Exhibit 10.26 10 Praxain, Inc.’s 2014 Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-1 1037, and incorporated herein by reterence).

Form ot Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc. Long Term
Incentive Plan tor grants made i 2018 (Filed as Exhibit [0.264 to Praxair, Inc."s 2017 Annual Report
on Form 10-K. File No. [-11037. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants made in 2018 (Filed as Exhibit 10274 to Praxair. Ine.’s 2017 Annual Report
on Form 10-K. File No. 1-11037. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Non-Emplovee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009
Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentiy e Plan for grants made in 2019 and thercafier (Filed as Exhibit
10101 to Linde ple’s 2019 Annual Repont on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated
heren by reference).

Form of Transferable Opuion Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxaar, Ine. Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants beginning in 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 10.11L 1o Linde ple’s 2018 Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stack Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc. Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants beginning in 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 10.11M to Linde ple’s 2018 Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730. and ncorporated herein by reference),

Form of Performance Share Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long
Term [neentive Plan for grants beginning m 2019 with Return on Capital pertormance metrics (Filed
as Exhubit 10.11N 1o Linde ple’s 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-38730. and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Performance Share Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Ine. Long
Term Incentive Plan tor grants heginning in 2019 with Total Sharcholder Return performance metrics
(Filed as Exhibit 10110 1o Linde ple’s 2018 Annuat Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730. and
meorporated herein by reference).

Pension Agreement among Linde AG. Linde Holding Gmbl and Mr. Sanjiv Lamba, dated
December 20, 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 1O013a to Linde ple’s 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing
No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Offer Letter between Linde ple and Sanjiv Lamba dated November [2, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Linde ple’s current report on Form 8-K dated November 18, 2021, File No, 1-3873(0), and
incorporated herein by reference).

Nondisclosure, Nonsolicitation and Noncompetition Agreement between Linde Ine. and Sanjis
Lamba dated as of November 7, 2021 1Fited as Exhibit 10.2 to Linde plc™s current report on Form
8-K dated November 18, 2021, File No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Linde ple Director Indemnification Agreenment (Filed as Exhibir 101 o the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K. filed on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-2{8485_ and incorporated
herein by referencel.

Subsidiaries of Linde ple

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Rule 13a-134ta) Certification

Rule 1 3a-14ay Cernfication

Scction 1330 Certification (such certifications are furnished for the information of the Comimission
and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Sceurities Act or the
Exchange Act).
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Exhibit No. Description

32.02 Section 1350 Centification {such certifications are furnished tor the mformation of the Conunission
and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Seeurities Act or the
Iixchange Act).

LOLINS XBRL Instance Document: The XBRL Instance Document does not appear in the Interactive Data
File because its XBRL gy are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCHL XDBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

[01.CAL XBRIL. Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

[01.LAB XBRL laxonomy FExtension Label Linkbase

101 PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

101.DEF XBRI. Taxonomy Extension Detinition Linkbase

Copies of exhibits incorporated by reference can be abtained from the SEC and are located in SEC File No. 1-11037.

* Indicates a munagement contract or conpensatory plan or arrangement,

** Certain schedules or similar attachments has ¢ been omitted pursuant to lem 601(b) 2) of Regulation S-K. The
Registrant agrees to furnish supplemental copies of any of the omitted schedules or attachments upon request by the
SEC.
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SIGNATURES
Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Pursuant 1o the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report tw be
sighed on its behal by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Linde ple

(Registrant)

Krrery BoHoy

Dute: February 28, 2023 By: N
Keleey E. Haost
Chief Aecounting Offiver

Pursuant to the requirements of the Sceurities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
tollowing persons on behall of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 28, 2023

SooSterHEN FOANGEHL S0 Sasiv LavBa s MATraew JoWany
Stephen F. Angel Sanjiv L.amba Matthew J. White
Chairman Chief Executive Qfficer und Director Chief Financial Officer
s PROF.DDR, ANN-KRISTIN ACHLEETNER s Ropert L. Woob 5 DR.THOMAS ExDeRrs
Ann-Kristin Achleitner Robert 1. Woad Thomas Enders
Director Director Director
25 JOsLE KAESER 5 Dr.VICTORIA OSSADNIK 3 EowaARD G Galante
Josef Kaeser Vieworia Ossadnk Edward (. Galante
Director Directar Director
N ALBLRTO WLISSLR s Prot, DrROMARTIN H RICHENHAGEN 5 HUGH GRrRANI
Alberto W eisser Martin Richenhagen Hugh Grant
Director Director Director
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Juan Pelaez
Vice President investos Relatiens

Juan Pelaer hinde.com
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At Linde, we are relentiess in our
mission of moking our world more
productive, sustainably.
we build on our pioneering past to
shape the future, propelled by the
being power of today’s transformative
what’s next technologies and our people’s
ingenuity. We befieve in the benefits
of collaboration and promote a culture
‘ of respect, integrity, recogmition and
- - ' inclusion, and take pride in delivering
a ‘{ innovative and sustainable solutions

L

for our customers.

Be Linde. Be Limitless.

winning together
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making a
difference

redefining
what's possible
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Be Linde.
Be Limitless.

Linde plc

Forge, 43 Church Street West, Woking, Surrey, GU21 6HT, Umited Kingdom
10 Riverview Drive, Danbury, Connecticut 06810, USA
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